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Prepared by  

 
as MTF advisor 
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This Offering Memorandum has been prepared on the occasion of the incorporation in the Equity segment of the Portfolio Stock 
Exchange, multilateral trading facility, of all the shares issued by the Issuer. 

 
The information contained in the Offering Memorandum or the Updated Offering Memorandum is complete, in accordance with 
reality, and does not omit relevant data necessary for investors to make an informed investment decision.  

 
Investors must read the Offering Memorandum or the Updated Offering Memorandum (as applicable) in its entirety prior to making 
any investment decision, and it is recommended that they have the advice of an independent professional expert in the matter 
when investing in companies traded in multilateral trading facilities.  

 
In accordance with the provisions of article 71 of Law 6/2023, of 17 March, on Securities Markets and Investment Services (Ley 

6/2023, de 17 de marzo, de los Mercados de Valores y de los Servicios de Inversión), the responsibility for the preparation of 
public information related to the issuers of the instruments traded in a multilateral trading facility must fall, at least, o n the issuer 
and the members of its administrative body, who will be responsible for al l damages that have caused the holders of financial 
instruments, in accordance with the commercial legislation applicable to said issuer, as a result of the information not providing 

a true image of the issuer.  

 
Neither Portfolio Stock Exchange nor the National Securities Market Commission (Comisión Nacional del Mercado de Valores) 
have approved or carried out any type of verification in relation to the content of the Offering Memorandum or the Updated 
Offering Memorandum (as applicable). Portfolio Stock Exchange is limited to checking that the information required to register 

financial instruments has been completed.  
 
Abbacogrowth, S.L. (Abbaco Markets) has acted as MTF Advisor. 

 
Abbaco Markets states that the issuer meets the incorporation requirements required by the Portfolio Stock Exchange’s Rulebook 
and that the issuer's information does not omit relevant data so that the investor can form a value judgment on financial 
instruments offered.  

http://www.almondcorecentre.es/
http://www.abbacomarkets.com/
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1. Summary 

1.1. Corporate details of the issuer 

a) Corporate name 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI, S.A. 

b) Trading name 

ACCS 

c) Registration details 

The Issuer is registered with the Companies Registry of Madrid, Volume 42625, sheet 84, page M-

753919. 

d) Corporate address 

Paseo de Recoletos, n. 37-41 3rd floor, 28004, Madrid, Spain 

e) Legal form 

The Issuer is a Spanish public limited company (Sociedad Anónima), under the special tax regime 

applicable to Spanish listed real estate property investment companies (sociedades cotizadas de 

inversión en el mercado inmobiliario ‒ “SOCIMI”), the Spanish equivalent to other real estate 

investment trusts (“REIT”) existing in other jurisdictions.   

f) ISIN code 

ES0105850004 

g) LEI code 

959800VQQT5CQ4XADM87 

h) Spanish Tax Identification Number “TIN” 

A67684340 

i) Web page 

www.almondcorecentre.com 

1.2. Identification of the persons responsible for the drafting of the Offering Memorandum 

This Offering Memorandum has been drafted and prepared by Abbaco Markets 

(www.abbacomarkets.com) after consultation to and with the input of the management board of the 

Issuer and was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 16 January 2025. 

http://www./
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In accordance with the provisions of Article 71 of Law 6/2023 of 17 March on Securities Markets and 

Investment Services, the responsibility for the preparation of public information related to the issuers 

of the instruments traded in a multilateral trading facility must fall, at least, on the issuer and the 

members of its administrative body, who will be responsible for all damages that have caused the 

holders of financial instruments, in accordance with the commercial legislation applicable to said 

issuer, as a result of the information not providing a true image of the issuer. 

In connection with the foregoing, the members of the Board of Directors, indicated in section 2.3 of 

this Offering Memorandum, assume the responsibility for the content of this Offering Memorandum 

and declares that the information contained herein is, to the best of their knowledge, in accordance 

with reality and does not include any material omission. 

1.3. Issuer’s business description 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE is dedicated to building a high-quality residential real estate portfolio in Spain. 

The Company invests, through its subsidiary, in granular real estate assets and secure long-term leases 

to generate stable income. Its goal is to create sustainable value for its investors by carefully selecting, 

refurbishing and managing the properties. 

As of 30 September 2024, the portfolio of assets is comprised by 141 dwellings located in the city of 

Madrid, valued at 57,047,000 euros.  

1.4. Indication of the reference price per share and the methodology used for its calculation 

In order to set the reference price of the Issuer's shares, the Net Asset Value of the Company has been 

calculated. 

For this purpose, a valuation of the 141 real estate assets forming the portfolio as of 30 September 

2024 has been carried out by Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U., a Spanish Company, with 

registered address at Paseo de la Castellana 81, 2nd floor, 28046 Madrid, with Tax ID number 

A86317567, which is specialized in the valuation and appraisal of real estate assets ("SAVILLS"). 

SAVILLS’ Valuation Report as of 30 September 2024 is attached hereto as Appendix 3.  

The valuation has been carried out in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2022 

(incorporating the IVSC International Valuation Standards) (the “Red Book”)  - and its basis is Market 

Value. 

Drive by in valuations (exterior and interior inspection) have been carried out for completed assets 

(109), whereas Desktop valuations (without physical inspection) have been carried out for assets with 

works in progress (32). 

The real estate asset portfolio has been valued at 57,047,000 euros, which results in an asset 

revaluation of 9,460,940.25 euros in comparison to the book value. Adding the Shareholders’ Equity 

of the Company shown in its unaudited consolidated interim balance sheet as of September 30, 2024 

of 19,128,025.16 euros, gives a Net Asset Value of 28,588,965.41 euros, which divided by 5,000,000 

total number of its common shares gives a price per share of 5.7177 euros. 
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In order to comply with the tick size requirements of ESMA (European Securities and Markets 

Authority) the initial price on the issuance date will be 5.72 euros and, therefore, its market 

capitalization will be 28,600,000.00 euros.  

Therefore, the reference price per share has been set, by the Board of Directors, in the amount of 5.72 

euros. 

1.5. Identification of risk factors of the Issuer for investors 

In addition to the information provided in this Offering Memorandum and other publicly available 

information, investors should carefully consider the risks outlined in Section 4 before deciding to 

acquire shares in the Issuer. These risks may negatively impact the business, results, prospects, or the 

financial, economic, or equity position of the Issuer and its Group. Additionally, these risks could 

adversely affect the Issuer's share price, potentially leading to a partial or total loss of the investment. 

The risks identified in Section 4 of this Offering Memorandum are considered specific to the Issuer and 

pertinent for making an informed investment decision. However, the Issuer does not guarantee that 

the risk factors described in this Offering Memorandum are exhaustive. Shareholders and potential 

investors should assess whether investing in the Issuer's shares aligns with their personal 

circumstances, based on the information in this Offering Memorandum. Accordingly, they are 

encouraged to carefully review Section 4 alongside the rest of the Offering Memorandum. 

The primary risks factors pertaining to the Issuer detailed in section 4 that have been identified are 

the following: 

1. Risks associated with the real estate business 

a) Cyclical Sector 

b) Risks derived from the possible fluctuation in the demand for properties and their 

consequent decrease in rental prices 

c) Degree of liquidity of investments 

d) Risk of properties becoming vacant 

e) Risks related to the collection of rents from the assets and property recovery  

f) Competition 

2. Operating risks 

a) Management risk 

b) Risks associated with the valuation of assets 

c) Risk of property damage 

d) Transition risks 
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e) Degree of concentration – industry, geographic 

3. Financial Risks 

a) Leverage level risk 

b) Debt management and the associated interest rate 

c) Lack of capacity to obtain financing intended for new investments 

d) Forward-looking statements 

4. Legal and regulatory risks 

a) Regulatory risks 

b) Risks related to the application of the SOCIMI regime, changes in tax legislation 

(including changes in the tax regime of SOCIMI) and loss of the SOCIMI regime  

c) Litigation risk 

d) Lack of liquidity for the payment of dividends 

5. Risks associated with the stock market 

a) Share price volatility and liquidity and probability of making losses on investment 

1.6. Most relevant parameters of the Issuer’s financial information  

In accordance with the audit report issued by the Issuer's auditor,  MAZARS AUDITORES, S.L.P. 

(“MAZARS”), the consolidated annual accounts corresponding to the fiscal year ended on 31 

December 2023 provide a true and fair view of the net equity value and financial position of the Issuer. 

Key figures as of 31 December 2023 and unaudited consolidated interim key figures as of 30 

September 2024 (9 months) are presented below: 

SELECTED DATA 31/12/2023 30/09/2024 

INCOME STATEMENT (€)   

Net turnover - 449,982.41 

Other operating expenses (1,450,995.40) (2,267,685.44) 

Operating income (1,450,995.40) (1,878,057.01) 

Financial expenses (99,047.24) (1,014,286.06) 

Net profit (1,550,042.64) (2,747,566.56) 

BALANCE SHEET (€)   

Investment property 12,765,944.70 47,586,059.75 

Total non-current assets 12,765,944.70 47,588,840.33 

Short-term financial investments 7,506,851.43 86,917.85 
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Cash and cash equivalents 1.254.887.10 3,450,865.84 

Total current assets 8,831,222.06 4,653,486.00 

Capital 5,000,000 5,000,000 

Other shareholder contributions 10,830,170,12 18,434,421.36 

Total net equity 14,274,244.48 19,128,025.16 

Long term bank loans 369,920.89 25,189,857.25 

Long term debts with group and associated companies 6,758,644.33 6,004,660.39 

Total non-current liabilities  7,128,565.22 31,446,351.75 

Trade and other payables 77,180.71 1,500,646.71 

Total current liabilities 194,357.06 1,667,949.42 

 

Section 2.10 includes a more detailed financial information of the Issuer. 

1.7. Issuer’s shareholding structure 

As of the date of issuance of this Offering Memorandum, the share capital of ALMOND CORE CENTRE 

consists of 5,000,000 shares of 1 euro par value each. 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE has 3 shareholders, representing 100% of the capital. On 22 June 2023 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l., URSAE POLARIS, S.L. and ELIX SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.L. 

became the shareholders of ALMOND CORE CENTRE.  

Shareholder % Share Capital Number of Shares 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l. 99.5% 4,975,000 

URSAE POLARIS, S.L. 0.35% 17,500 

ELIX SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.L. 0.15% 7,500 

The majority shareholder is Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l., with registered address at 15 

boulevard F.W. Raffeisen, L2411 Luxembourg, registered in the Commercial Register (Registre de 

Commerce et des Sociétés) of Luxembourg with number B275999 and with Spanish Tax Identification 

Number N0266398G. 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à r.l.  is a subsidiary (indirect shareholding of 99.5%) of TIKEHAU REAL 

ESTATE OPPORTUNITY II S.C.A SICAV-RAIF, an alternative investment fund with registered address at 

15 boulevard F.W. Raffeisen, L2411 Luxembourg, registered in the Commercial Register (Registre de 

Commerce et des Sociétés) of Luxembourg with number B266869.  Tikehau Real Estate Opportunity II 

GP S.à r.l. acts as its General Partner and Tikehau Investment Management SAS as its Alternative 

Investment Fund Manager.  

The actual control is exercised by the Board of Directors of ALMOND CORE CENTRE.The Asset Manager 

of ALMOND CORE CENTRE is AX Gestco, S.L. (the “Asset Manager”), a Spanish entity with registered 

address at calle Gustavo Fernandez Balbuena 11, Madrid (Spain) and is sponsored by the two minority 

shareholders of the Issuer: URSAE POLARIS, S.L. and ELIX SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.L. It has an 

Asset and Property Management Agreement with the Issuer. 
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1.8. Information on the number, nominal value, class and other circumstances of the shares being 

issued 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE's share capital amounts to 5,000,000 euros, fully subscribed and paid up, 

divided into 5,000,000 registered shares of 1 euro nominal value, numbered from 1 to 5,000,000 both 

included (the "Shares"). The Shares are of a single class and series and confer to the shareholder of 

the Issuer the same political and economic rights. The ISIN code is ES0105850004. 

The Issuer's Shares are represented by book entries, and Euroclear France, S.A., a company duly 

incorporated under French law, with registered address at Rue de la Victoire 66, 75009, Paris 

("Euroclear France"), is the entity in charge of keeping the accounting records corresponding to the 

shares represented by book entries. 

2. Issuer information  

2.1. Corporate details of the issuer 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI, S.A., with Spanish tax identification number (número de 

identificación fiscal) (“Spanish TIN”) A67684340 is a Spanish company running under the special tax 

regime applicable to Spanish listed real estate property investment companies (sociedades cotizadas 

de inversión en el mercado inmobiliario ‒“SOCIMI”), the Spanish equivalent to other real estate 

investment trusts (“REIT”) existing in other jurisdictions.  

ALMOND CORE CENTRE has its registered office at Paseo de Recoletos, number 37-41 3rd floor, 28004, 

Madrid, Spain. 

The Issuer is registered with the Commercial Registry of Madrid, Volume 42625, sheet 84, page M-

753919. 

The Company was incorporated under the corporate name of  AUXILINA INVESTMENTS, SOCIEDAD 

ANÓNIMA, with a share capital of 60,000 euros, on 25 October 2021 by means of public deed of 

incorporation granted by the Notary Pubic of Madrid Mr. Javier Navarro-Rubio Serres, with reference 

2,902 of his official records.  

On 22 May 2023, the Company has changed its corporate name from Auxilina Investments, S.A. several 

times. Finally, on 26 February 2024, the Issuer changed its corporate name to its current corporate 

name: Almond Core Centre SOCIMI, S.A. 

Its registered office has been moved several times, the last one on 14 December 2023 to its current 

location. 

On 22 June 2023 Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l., URSAE POLARIS, S.L. and ELIX SERVICIOS 

INMOBILIARIOS, S.L. became the shareholders of ALMOND CORE CENTRE through the acquisition of 

all the Company’s shares by means of public deed granted by the Notary Pubic of Madrid Ms. Rocío 

Rodríguez Martín, with reference 1,606 of her official records. 

On 11 November 2023 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved a capital increase of 4,940,000 

euros and the issuance of 4,940,000 shares of 1 euro of nominal value, and it was notarised by the 
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Notary Public of Madrid Mr. Antonio Morenes Giles by means of public deed, with reference 3,037 of 

his official records.  

On 29 June 2023 the General Meeting of Shareholders approved the resolution to opt for the SOCIMI 

special tax regime.  

On 19 July 2023 the Company communicated the option to apply the SOCIMI special tax regime to the 

Agencia Tributaria (Spanish Tax Authority).  

2.2. Identification of the Issuer’s corporate purpose 

The Issuer's main activity, in compliance with the requirements established by Law 11/2009, of 26 

October, of Listed Companies investing in the Real Estate Sector ("Spanish SOCIMI Act"), consists in 

the acquisition of real estate urban properties for lease. 

The Company's corporate purpose is set out in Article 2 of the Articles of Association, which states as 

follows: 

Article 2 – Company’s purpose 

The Company's corporate purpose is to carry out the following activities: 

a) The acquisition and development (including refurbishment) of urban real estate for lease.  

b) The holding of shares in the capital of other public limited companies investing in the real estate 

market (‘SOCIMIs’) or in the capital of other entities not resident in Spain whose bylaws provide for the 

same corporate purpose as the Company, and which are subject to a similar regime in terms of 

mandatory, legal or statutory policy on the distribution of profits.  

c) The holding of shares in the capital of other entities, whether or not resident in Spanish territory, 

whose main corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate for leasing and which are subject 

to the same regime established for SOCIMIs in terms of mandatory, legal or statutory policy on the 

distribution of profits and which meet the investment requirements for these companies; and  

d) The holding of shares or units of Collective Real Estate Investment Undertakings regulated by Law 

35/2003, of 4 November, on Collective Investment Undertakings, or such regulation as may replace it 

in the future. 

The Company may sell its assets under the terms and conditions provided for in Law 11/2009 of 26 

October 2009 on listed real estate investment companies or any regulation replacing it.  

In addition, the Company may carry out other ancillary activities, which are understood to be those 

whose income represents in aggregate less than 20% of the Company's income in each tax period or 

those that may be considered ancillary in accordance with the law applicable at any given time. 

The activities included in the company object may be carried on by the Company, in whole or in part, 

indirectly, through the ownership of shares or equity interests in companies with an identical or similar 

object. 
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The direct exercise, and indirect exercise where appropriate, of all those activities reserved by special 

legislation and those for which the law establishes requirements that cannot be met by the Company, 

are excluded. 

2.3. Identification of the persons responsible for the drafting of the information contained in the 

Offering Memorandum 

Pursuant to Article 71 of Law 6/2023 of 17 March on Securities Markets and Investment Services,  the 

responsibility for the preparation of public information relating to issuers of instruments  traded on a 

multilateral trading facility shall lie at least with the issuing company and the members of its 

management body, who shall be liable for all damages caused to holders of  financial instruments, in 

accordance with the commercial law applicable to such Issuing Company, as a result of the fact that 

the information provided does not give a true and fair view of the Issuing Company. 

In relation to the foregoing, Mr. Emilio Velasco Sanz, Mr. José Luis Lahidalga Guereñu and Ms. Marie 

Bretagnolle EP Sardari, in their capacity as members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer, appointed 

by the decision adopted by the Extraordinary and Universal General Shareholders Meeting on 26 

February 2024, assume responsibility for the contents of this Offering Memorandum and declare that 

the information contained herein, to the best of their knowledge and belief, accurate describes the 

facts and does not include any material omissions to enable investors to make an informed investment 

decision. 

2.4. Issuer’s business description and competitive advantages 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE specialises, through its subsidiary, in the acquisition, refurbishment and 

leasing of residential real estate. Its focus is on the carefully selected purchase of granular residential 

properties (i.e. individual properties) located in urban core areas which, after a strategic 

refurbishment phase, are put up for rent with a differentiating focus on design and sustainability. This 

business model responds to the growing demand for quality rental housing in the real estate market, 

especially in urban centres with high demand for residential rental. 

The Company bases its acquisition model on an active and selective strategy, aimed at identifying, by 

combining the Asset Manager’s advanced technology with expert asset management, investment 

opportunities in the real estate market with significant appreciation potential after refurbishment. To 

this end, it has a specialised Asset Manager who is responsible for the entire process of searching for, 

analysing, purchasing and managing real estate assets in coordination and with the approval of the 

Board of Directors. 

The acquisition strategy is based on a highly technological and selective approach. The Asset Manager 

employs data analytics tools to comprehensively analyse the real estate market, identifying properties 

with significant appreciation potential. This automated process enables to evaluate a vast amount of 

options in real-time, freeing Asset Manager´s team of experts to focus on the most promising 

opportunities and make more accurate investment decisions. 

One of the key elements of the Issuer's value proposition is its focus on design and sustainability during 

the asset refurbishment phase. More information regarding the Company’s sustainability strategy is 

available in section 2.5 of this Offering Memorandum. The Asset Manager has provided the Company 
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with a style book that classifies properties according to different design and styles. This approach 

allows not only to modernise properties and increase their attractiveness to tenants, but also to 

optimise energy consumption and reduce the carbon footprint, which is an increasingly important 

factor in today's market. 

Once acquired, each property undergoes a meticulous refurbishment process aligned with the 

Company’s style book. The goal is to enhance the property's unique qualities and create a modern, 

functional space that appeals to today's market. Refurbishments focus on space utilization 

enhancements, aesthetic upgrades, and energy efficiency enhancements, including the installation of 

energy-efficient systems, thermal insulation, and the use of more sustainable materials. 

Once the refurbishment is completed, the assets are placed on the rental market through several real 

estate agencies. The Asset Manager is also responsible for the comprehensive management of these 

assets, including the marketing of the properties, the selection of tenants, the management of rent 

collection, the maintenance of the properties and tenant care. 

The Issuer's objective is to build a high-quality portfolio of leased properties that provide recurring, 

stable cash flows over the long term. By focusing on refurbished homes that incorporate innovative 

and sustainable design, the Company seeks to strike a balance between profitability and excellence, 

delivering a distinctive product in high demand. This approach is aimed at attracting tenants who value 

quality, energy efficiency, and comfort and are looking for a rental experience that is largely 

unavailable elsewhere in the market. 

The Company's revenue is generated through rental income from its portfolio of refurbished 

properties, creating a stable and predictable cash flow base. Over the long term, these properties are 

also expected to be revalued, allowing the Company to capture the benefits of potential capital gains, 

thereby potentially enhancing overall portfolio value. 

In conclusion, the business model of ALMOND CORE CENTRE combines an active strategy of acquiring 

undervalued assets, significant added value through repositioning including design and sustainability, 

and efficient management of property leasing, all managed by its Asset Manager and with the aim of 

maximising profitability and generating long-term value for shareholders. The focus on cities´s urban 

cores locations, as well as design quality and sustainability is a differentiating factor that positions the 

company in a premium segment of the residential rental market, attracting a demanding tenant profile 

and generating stable and sustainable rents over time. 

Competitive advantages 

The Company presents a range of competitive advantages that enable it to differentiate itself in the 

real estate market and maximize value for its shareholders. These advantages encompass various 

aspects of its business model, from property acquisition and renovation to leasing management and 

sustainability. 

1. Specialized in investing in granular assets located in the core city centres. This unique strategy 

allows us to offer our investors access to a high-demand rental residential market where 

acquiring large volumes is complex due to the nature of the urban fabric. By investing in 

individual properties and carrying out personalized renovations, we contribute to the 
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revitalization of urban centres, making high-quality housing adapted to current needs 

available to the market. This strategy not only generates attractive returns for our investors 

but also has a positive impact on cities, improving their housing supply and revitalizing historic 

neighbourhoods 

2. Focus on Design and Sustainability. A key differentiating factor is the innovative and 

sustainable design applied to the renovation of each property. The implementation of a style 

guide by the Asset Manager that categorizes homes based on design criteria, combined with 

sustainable practices such as improving energy efficiency and using more sustainable 

materials, positions these properties in a premium segment. This attracts a tenant profile that 

values quality and is willing to pay for a modern, comfortable, and sustainable living 

environment, resulting in on average higher rents and lower vacancy rates. 

3. Ability to Identify Opportunities. The Asset Manager has developed proprietary technology 

that enables a uniquely efficient approach to studying and analysing this asset type, setting it 

apart in the market. Leveraging a sophisticated database with over 150 data fields, this 

advanced system allows for comprehensive evaluations that identify assets with strong 

revaluation potential even before market prices reflect these opportunities. Additionally, the 

multi-phase due diligence process, ensures that only assets with controlled risk profiles and 

high probability of return are acquired. 

4. Integrated Management of the Investment Process. The Issuer benefits from the fully 

integrated approach that encompasses everything from property acquisition to leasing 

management provided by the Asset Manager. This includes opportunity identification, 

purchase, renovation, and leasing management, providing complete control over all phases of 

the process. This level of integration enables the optimization of costs, risk minimization, and 

ensures that each asset is efficiently managed to maximize profitability. 

5. Strategic Renovations Based on Micro-Market Analysis. Before proceeding with renovations, 

the Company, through its Asset Manager, conducts a detailed analysis of the micro-market 

surrounding each property. This allows for tailoring the properties, within the guidelines of 

the style book, to meet the specific demands of each area, optimizing space distribution, and 

ensuring that the repositioning strategy maximizes the property’s appeal to local tenants. This 

ability to customize renovations according to market context significantly increases the rental 

value of the asset. 

6. Stability and Predictability of Cash Flows. The strategy of acquiring and renovating properties 

for long-term rental provides the Company with a source of recurring and stable income. This 

not only enhances cash flow predictability but also allows the Company to benefit from asset 

appreciation over time, creating additional opportunities for capital revaluation.  

7. Optimization Through Technology and Data. The Asset Manager’s integration of advanced 

technology across the entire value chain allows them to manage this asset type with 

exceptional efficiency. By using sophisticated tools for investment analysis and asset 

evaluation, the company can make highly informed, precise decisions. Leveraging a robust 
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database and automating the evaluation process provides a competitive advantage, enabling 

the rapid identification of high-potential properties with greater efficiency. 

8. Efficient Management of Rental Assets. The active management of properties post-renovation 

is another key competitive advantage. The Asset Manager oversees all aspects of leasing, from 

marketing the asset to tenant selection, and payment management to maintenance. This 

ensures that properties are maintained in optimal condition, extending their useful life and 

reducing long-term maintenance costs while guaranteeing high occupancy rates. 

These competitive advantages position ALMOND CORE CENTRE as a prominent player in the real 

estate market, capable of offering high-quality homes with a differentiated focus on design and 

sustainability while maximizing asset value through an integrated approach to management and 

renovation. The ability to generate recurring income and control each stage of the real estate process 

provides a solid foundation for long-term profitability with controlled risk. 

2.5. Sustainability Strategy 

The TIKEHAU REAL ESTATE OPPORTUNITY II S.C.A SICAV-RAIF fund (TREO II), parent company of the 

Issuer’s main shareholder, focuses on sustainable real estate investments through a structured impact 

strategy based on climate action, biodiversity, and social inclusion. It aims to align assets with Science 

Based Targets decarbonization pathways, ensuring compliance with the Paris Agreement. Key goals 

include achieving nearly zero-emissions standards, implementing biodiversity management plans, and 

promoting inclusive housing among others. The fund tracks ESG metrics, enforces action plans, and 

undergoes annual independent audits to ensure accountability. By leveraging methodologies like 

CRREM, TREO II integrates sustainability into its operations while addressing challenges such as data 

limitations and reliance on external expertise. In ALMOND CORE CENTRE our primary focus is aligning 

our portfolio with Science Based Targets (SBT) decarbonization pathways to meet the Paris Climate 

Goals. 

As part of ALMOND CORE CENTRE’s commitment to sustainability and in alignment with the United 

Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the Company has implemented a series of initiatives 

to ensure that its operations contribute positively to environmental and social sustainability.  

Energy Efficiency Enhancement.  

The Company has successfully achieved, on average, a reduction of over 50% in greenhouse emissions 

across its properties through targeted renovations. This substantial improvement measured through 

EPC´s, reflects the Company’s commitment to impactful, sustainable upgrades. These improvements, 

though often invisible, significantly lower the carbon footprint through measures such as:  

1. Installing highly efficient windows.  

2. Adding external wall insulation.  

3. Disconnecting from central heating systems.  

4. Implementing efficient electric heating and cooling systems, like heat pumps.   
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These measures align with SDG 7: Affordable and Clean Energy and SDG 13: Climate Action, enhancing 

energy efficiency and reducing carbon emissions. 

The Issuer is committed to creating a high-quality, sustainable real estate portfolio. In collaboration 

with a leading independent certification body, the Issuer has developed a pioneering Sustainable 

Renovation Certificate, which goes beyond traditional energy certifications to evaluate a broader 

range of sustainability factors. 

The goal is to certify the entire portfolio with this green seal, aligning with UN Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs) 9 and 11. Key sustainability features of the certified renovations include: 

1. Reduced Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Energy Consumption: Implementing energy-efficient 

technologies and reducing reliance on non-renewable energy sources to contribute to SDG 7 

and 13. 

2. Low-Carbon Construction: Prioritizing the use of environmentally certified materials and 

responsible waste management to align with SDG 12 and 15. 

3. Water Conservation: Designing projects to minimize water consumption, contributing to SDG 

6. 

4. Enhanced Indoor Environment: Ensuring high standards of indoor air quality, energy-efficient 

lighting, and overall comfort to support SDG 3. 

5. Climate Resilience: Incorporating climate-resilient design features to mitigate the risks of 

extreme weather events, aligning with SDG 13. 

6. Long-Term Sustainability: Reducing life-cycle costs and extending the lifespan of materials and 

systems, contributing to SDG 9. 

By prioritizing sustainability, the Issuer aims to create a portfolio of properties that not only generate 

strong financial returns but also positively impact the environment and the well-being of tenants. 

Post-Renovation Sustainability Efforts 

After the renovations are complete, the Company continues to ensure a positive environmental 

impact by distributing eco-guides to the tenants, encouraging energy-saving habits. Additionally, an 

energy monitoring program is being piloted to track the energy performance of the properties, 

providing tenants with real-time data and personalized advice on reducing consumption. 

These ongoing initiatives support SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production and SDG 13: 

Climate Action, fostering sustainable living and energy-saving behaviours among tenants. 

Through these actions, the Issuer reaffirms its dedication to sustainability and its active contribution 

to the global efforts outlined in the Sustainable Development Goals. By integrating these practices 

into its business model, it not only enhances the value of the properties but also ensure a positive 

environmental and social impact for the long term. 
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2.6. Investment Strategy 

The investment strategy of the Issuer is categorized as a “value -add” approach, focusing on acquiring 

underpriced residential properties in urban core areas that offer significant potential for capital 

appreciation through strategic refurbishment and leasing. The portfolio will be built progressively  

during an estimated investment period of 3 or 4 years, targeting real estate acquisitions adhering to 

specific investment criteria designed to maximize returns while maintaining strict control over risk and 

diversification. 

Geographical and Asset Focus 

The portfolio will consist of granular residential properties located in urban core areas including 

ancillary storage and parking spaces where applicable. The company will aim to invest across various 

districts of the cities, with a clear diversification strategy in place, ensuring concentration risk is 

minimized and the portfolio remains well-balanced. 

Acquisition Price Criteria 

The target acquisition price for each property ranges between 100,000 euros and 1,000,000 euros, 

allowing flexibility within the portfolio to adjust based on market conditions and opportunities.  

This price range provides access to a broad spectrum of assets, targeting undervalued properties with 

potential for uplift through refurbishment, while maintaining flexibility to invest in smaller and larger 

properties where compelling opportunities exist. 

Property Size and Configuration 

The properties targeted for acquisition will have a total cadastral area between 20 sqm and 140 sqm, 

with some flexibility. 

After refurbishment, the properties will typically have up to four bedrooms, ensuring they appeal to a 

wide range of tenant profiles, from individuals and couples to small families, maximizing rental 

demand and occupancy rates. 

Pricing Strategy 

One of the core objectives of the investment strategy is to acquire properties at prices significantly 

below the average price of the surrounding neighbourhood.  

To ensure adherence to this goal, the Company, through the Asset Manager’s advanced technology, 

will track market prices, ensuring that the strategy remains aligned with market dynamics and 

continues to focus on acquiring undervalued properties. However, during the acquisition approval 

process, each property will be evaluated individually to verify that it meets the target discount among 

other investment criteria, ensuring a disciplined investment process. 

Capital Expenditure and Yield on Cost (YOC) 
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The Issuer’s strategy involves not only acquiring properties at below-market prices but also enhancing 

their value through targeted capital expenditures (CapEx). The combination of acquisition price and 

refurbishment costs will result in a total investment per property that remains significantly below the 

market value of comparable fully refurbished assets, thus creating built-in equity. 

The Company places a strong emphasis on ensuring that each acquisition offers a Yield on Cost (YOC) 

that is significantly higher than the market average, ensuring that the properties generate attractive 

rental income relative to the investment made and associated to it. This approach is designed to 

provide both capital appreciation and stable rental income over the long term. 

Risk Management and Diversification 

In addition to geographic and price-based diversification, the Issuer ensures that its investment 

strategy includes rigorous risk management protocols. Each acquisition undergoes a thorough due 

diligence process, ensuring that properties are legally and structurally sound, and that the investment 

is justified both in terms of potential returns and alignment with the overall portfolio strategy. 

Moreover, the Company remains flexible to respond to evolving market conditions, with provisions 

allowing for deviations in price or size thresholds where significant opportunities arise, provided they 

are agreed upon. This strategic flexibility, combined with a disciplined investment process, positions 

the Issuer to capitalize on value-add opportunities in urban core residential real estate markets. 

Investment restrictions 

In general, the Company has the following investment restrictions: 

1. Restrictions derived from the application of the SOCIMI special tax regime – in line with the 

Company’s corporate purpose. In this sense, even though the Company would be allowed to 

carry out activities other than that of SOCIMI – up to a maximum of 20% of its total turnover 

and/or total value of its balance sheet assets as determined by SOCIMI Law - it will not engage 

in such activities, thus remaining focused to its current investment strategy. 

2. No investments will be made in: 

a) Loans in default (distressed loans), 

b) Loans, debt (neither individual or debt portfolios), with underlying real estate assets,  

c) Securitized mortgage assets (commercial mortgage-backed securities – CMBS), or securities 

representing real rights, leading to acquire an asset. 

2.7. Identification of the statutory auditor 

On 28 December 2023 the Extraordinary and Universal General Shareholders of the Issuer has 

appointed MAZARS AUDITORES, S.L.P. (“MAZARS”), a firm approved by Portfolio Stock Exchange, with 

registered address Calle Diputació, 260, 08007 Barcelona, Spain, with Tax ID Number B- 61622262, 

and registered under number S1189 in the official register of auditors, as auditor for the individual 
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annual accounts of the Issuer for the financial year ending on 31 December 2023 and the financial 

years 2024 and 2025. 

As long as the Company is listed on Portfolio, its annual accounts will be audited annually by an 

auditing firm approved by Portfolio, in accordance with its Rulebook. 

2.8. Identification and description of the real estate assets owned by the Issuer 

The Company’s real estate portfolio as of 30 September 2024 is comprised of 141 residential units, all 

located in the urban core of Madrid, a prime urban environment known for its strong rental demand 

and economic stability. These properties have been acquired individually in a granular manner, with 

each unit being strategically selected based on its potential for value enhancement through 

renovation. Once acquired, the company undertakes refurbishment efforts to modernize the units 

and optimize their market appeal. Upon completion of the renovations, the properties are placed on 

the rental market, providing the company with a steady stream of income. 

The assets are well distributed across several districts of Madrid: 

District Asset concentration (% of book value) Number of residential units 

Arganzuela 10.9% 19 

Retiro 9.7% 12 

Chamberí 8.2% 10 

Moncloa-Aravaca 2.3% 4 

Ciudad Lineal 2.2% 3 

Tetuán 29.2% 43 

Chamartín 11.3% 15 

Salamanca 10.9% 12 

Centro 15.3% 23 

TOTAL 100% 141 
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All the properties are acquired following the criteria of the investment strategy: 

Size 20 sqm -140 sqm 

Acquisition prize 100,000 euros – 1,000,000 euros 

A key feature of the company’s Asset Manager approach is its commitment to enhancing security and 

integrating advanced technology across the portfolio. Wherever possible, all residential units are 

equipped with high-security smart locks. The smart locks utilize customized digital keys for each 

tenant, offering a secure, user-friendly experience while ensuring optimal property control. Alarms 

are also installed from the time of acquisition, adding an additional layer of security to protect the 

Company’s assets. 

As of the date of drafting this Offering Memorandum, the assets are located within consolidated 

neighbourhoods of Madrid, benefiting from excellent connectivity to public services, transportation 

hubs, and commercial centres. These areas are well-served by public transport, including metro, bus, 

and train stations, allowing for easy access to key points across the city. Furthermore, the properties 

are situated in proximity to major shopping areas, restaurants, parks, and recreational facilities, 

making them highly desirable for renters. 

The company’s strategy to acquire, renovate, and lease residential units not only enhances the 

intrinsic value of the properties but also meets the growing demand for quality rental housing in 

Madrid centre and potentially in other urban core areas. By targeting well-established areas with 

strong rental potential, the company maximizes both the rental yield and the capital appreciation of 

its assets, positioning itself as a reliable and profitable player in the Spanish residential rental market. 

In total, the portfolio has an estimated market value of 57,047,000 euros, with each unit having 

undergone a thorough appraisal process by Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. as of 30 

september 2024, following international valuation standards (RICS). The properties, largely occupied, 

generate steady rental income and offer a high degree of liquidity, allowing the company to maintain 

financial flexibility and growth potential. This portfolio represents a solid foundation for the 

company’s continued expansion and commitment to providing high-quality rental housing solutions. 

As of 30 September 2024, 99 of the 141 dwellings (70%) have been refurbished, while the remaining 

30% is under refurbishment. The refurbishment process takes around 3-4 months. 

Out of the 99 assets that have been refurbished, 83% (82) are rented and the remaining 17% are 

ready to be rented. 

2.9. Legal proceedings 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum there are no ongoing litigation proceedings. 
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2.10. Financial and tax information  

MAZARS has audited the consolidated annual accounts corresponding to the fiscal year ended on 31 

December 2023. In accordance with the audit reports, the Issuer ́s annual accounts provide a true and 

fair view of its net worth and financial position. 

The audited consolidated balance sheet and profit and loss account of the Company for the financial 

year 2023 and the interim unaudited consolidated balance sheet and profit and loss account for the 

nine months ending September 30, 2024 are presented below.  

For further information, the 2023 consolidated audited annual accounts of the Company are attached 

to this Offering Memorandum in the Appendix 1 and available in the Issuer's information section on 

the Portfolio Stock Exchange website. 

ASSETS (€) 31/12/2023 30/09/2024 

Intangible assets - 2,780.58 

Investment Property 12,765,944.70 47,586,059.75 

Lands 9,273,215.30 32,419,757.17 

Constructions 2,742,503.84 12,085,903.72 

Technical facilities and other property, plant and equipment 53,893.04 629,707.59 

Constructions in progress and advances 696,332.52 2,450,691.27 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 12,796,944.70 47,588,840.33 

Inventories 63,889.85 971,995.92 

Advances to suppliers 63,889.85 971,995.92 

Commercial debtors and other account receivables 2,652.00 21,348.99 

Trade receivables - 20,003.99 

Other credits with Public Administrations 2,652.00 1,345.00 

Short-term financial investments 7,506,851.43 86,917.85 

Derivatives - 61,273.76 

Other Financial Assets 7,506,851.43 25,644.09 

Short-term accruals 2,941.68 122,357.40 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,254,887.10 3,450,865.84 

Cash 1,254,887.10 3,450,865.84 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 8,831,222.06 4,653,486.00 

TOTAL ASSETS 21,597,166.76 52,242,326.33 

Since both, the audited annual accounts for the financial year 2023 and the interim unaudited balance 

sheet and profit and loss account for the nine months ending 30 September 2024 are presented at 

consolidated level, in order to explain the financial statements, in this section, the Company and its 

subsidiary will be referred to as “the Group”. 

The Group's investment property corresponds to rented properties or properties intended to be 

rented out. 

From July 2023 until 31 December 2023, the Group has acquired 43 dwellings, all of which are located 

in Madrid urban core. The Group also recorded furniture and fixtures and fittings acquired for some 
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of the assets for a total amount of 53,893.04 euros in 2023 and 629,707.59 euros as of 30 September 

2024 under the heading “Technical facilities and other property, plant and equipment”. 

In addition, the Group recorded under Construction in progress and advances an amount of 

696,332.52 euros as of 31 December 2023 and 2,450,691.27 euros as of 30 September 2024 

corresponding to commitments to acquire real estate assets, either in the form of advances for binding 

offers or earnest money agreements. 

From the 7,506,851.43 euros recorded as at December 31, 2023 under “Other financial assets”, 

7,501,044.43 euros correspond to short-term receivables from related parties as a result of: a) a 

“Other shareholder contribution” of 5,250,000.00 euros agreed on 28 December 2023 and pending 

disbursement. This amount was paid by the Company's shareholders on 3 January 2024; and b) a 

drawdown of 2,250,000.00 euros made on 29 December 2023 in relation to the long-term loan 

agreement contracted with ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI’s shareholders on July 2023, for which 

further details are provided later in this section, and pending disbursement as of that date. This 

amount was paid by the Company's shareholders on 3 January 2024. 

As of September 30, 2024 the Group has recorded under Derivatives 61,276.73 euros, which 

correspond to the market value at this date of an interest rate swap to hedge the interest rate risk 

entered into with Macquarie Bank (the “Interest Rate Swap”). The notional amount grows monthly 

with the forecast of the outstanding debt. 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (€) 31/12/2023 30/09/2024 

Share capital 5,000,000.00 5,000,000 

Subscribed capital 5,000,000.00 5,000,000 

Reserves (4,378.39) (7,282.39) 

Other Reserves of the parent company (4,378.39) (7,282.39) 

Reserves in fully consolidated companies (596.54) (596.54) 

Results from previous years (908.07) (1,550,950.71) 

Other shareholder contributions 10,830,170.12 18,434,421.36 

Results of the year (1,550,042.64) (2,747,566.56) 

TOTAL EQUITY 14,274,244.48 19,128,025.16 

Long-term debts 369,920.89 25,189,857.25 

Long-term debts with credit institutions 369,920.89 25,189,857.25 

Long-term debts with group and associated companies 6,758,644.33 6,004,660.39 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,128,565.22 31,446,351.75 

Short-term debts 18,129.11 39,677.41 

Short-term debts with credit institutions 18,129.11 39,677.41 

Short-term debts with group and associated companies 99,047.24 109,013.51 

Creditors and other accounts payable  77,180.71 1,500,646.71 

Suppliers 3,086.71 1,170,281.09 

Sundry accounts 71,756.35 323,184.61 

Other debts with Public Administrations 2,337.65 7,181.01 

Current accruals - 18,611.79 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 194,357.06 1,667,949.42 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 21,597,166.76 52,242,326.33 
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As of 11 November 2023 a capital increase at par value (without share premium) was carried out in 

the amount of 4,940,000 euros.  

As of 31 December 2023, the share capital amounts to 5,000,000 euros and is represented by 

5,000,000 registered shares of 1 euro of nominal value each, numbered sequentially from 1 to 

5,000,000, both fully paid up. 

Regarding “Other shareholders contributions” (contributions from shareholders in the form of Equity 

under account 118 “Aportaciones de socios” of the Spanish General Accounting Plan), on 11 July, 26 

September and 25 October 2023 the General Shareholders' Meeting of the Issuer resolved to make 

“Other shareholders contributions” to the Issuer in the amounts of 2,680,170.12 euros, 1,540,000.00 

euros and 1,360,000.00 euros, respectively.  

Also, on 28 December 2023, ALMOND CORE CENTRE’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 

resolved to make a “Other shareholders contributions” to its equity of 5,250,000.00 euros, which 

remained receivable at 31 December 2023, recorded as a short-term financial assets, and it was paid 

by the shareholders on 3 January 2024. 

During 2024, additional “Other shareholders contributions” of 7,604,251.24 euros were made, 

reaching this Equity account a total amount of 18,434,421.36 euros. 

The 2023 short-term and long-term debts with credits institutions correspond to a loan agreement 

with mortgage guarantee on one of the assets in the amount of 390,000.00 euros, signed by the 

Issuer’s subsidiary with  Banca Pueyo, S.A. on 29 December 2023. The nominal value at amortised cost 

as of 31 December 2023 amounts to 388,050.00 euros. As of 31 December 2023, no interest has 

accrued on this financing. This loan agreement with mortgage has been cancelled during 2024.  

As of 8 August 2024 the Company’s subsidiary signed an uncommitted revolving credit facility with 

the Paris Branch of Macquirie Bank Europe Designated Activity to be utilised by way of loans in an 

aggregate amount of up to 115,000,000 euros, out of which, as of 30 September 2024 the Company 

has utilised  26,138,173.33 euros. On its first utilization the Group applied the amount to cancel the 

loan agreement with mortgage mentioned in the previous paragraph. The subsequent utilizations 

have been or can be used for the acquisition costs or the refurbishment costs of the properties. This 

uncommitted revolving credit facility is secured by a number of security interests: pledge on the 

Issuer's shares (further explained in section 3.4), pledge on the subsidiary's shares, pledge on intra-

group loans, pledge on bank accounts and pledge on mortgage, among others.  

In relation to long-term and short-term payables with related parties, for a total amount of 

6,857,691.57 euros, they correspond to the following items at 31 December 2023: a) loan agreement 

signed between the Group and one of the shareholders on 7 July 2023 for a total amount of up to 

70,000,000.00 euros, as of 31 December 2023 the Group has drawn down a total amount of this loan 

of 6,724,835.89 euros, maturing on 31 December 2026. This loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 8% 

and the interest accrued and payable at 31 December 2023 amounted to 98,558.80 euros. The interest 

is payable on maturity of the loan; b) loan agreement signed between the Group and one of its 

shareholders on 12 July 2023 for a total amount of 73,500.00 euros and maturing on 31 December 

2026. As of 31 December 2023, the Group has drawn down a total amount of this loan of 23,670.15 
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euros. This loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 8% and the interest accrued and payable at 31 

December 2023 amounted to 342.07 euros. 342.07. The interest is payable on maturity of the loan; 

and c) loan agreement signed between the Group and one of its shareholders on 12 July 2023 for a 

total amount of 31,500.00 euros and maturing on 31 December 2026. At 31 December 2023, the 

Group has drawn down a total amount of 10,138.29 euros on this loan. This loan bears interest at a 

fixed rate of 8% and the interest accrued and payable at 31 December 2023 amounted to 146.37 

euros. The interest is payable on maturity of the loan. 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 31/12/2023 30/09/2024 

Net turnover - 449,982.41 

Other operating income - 33,401.54 

Other operating expenses (1,450,995.40) (2,267,685.44) 

Depreciation and amortization - (93,200.52) 

Impairment and gain/loss on disposal of non-current assets - (555) 

OPERATING RESULT (1,450,995.40) (1,878,057.01) 

Financial income  144,776.51 

Financial expenses (99,047.24) (1,014,286.06) 

NET FINANCIAL RESULT (99,047.24) (869,509.55) 

RESULT BEFORE INCOME TAX (1,550,042.64) (2,747,566.56) 

RESULT FOR THE YEAR (1,550,042.64) (2,747,566.56) 

The balance of the ‘Other operating expenses’ account corresponds to external services (repairs and 

maintenance, independent professional services, banking and similar services, supplies, other services 

and other taxes). 

The financial income corresponds to the Interest Rate Swap already mentioned, whereas the financial 

interest related to the intercompany debt and the credit facility are recorded under financial expenses. 

2.11. Group of Companies 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE holds 100% of the shares of its subsidiary ALMOND CORE CENTRE PROPCO, 

S.L.U., which owns the Real Estate portfolio of the Group. 

The Issuer’s shareholders are Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l., Elix Servicios Inmobiliarios, S.L. 

and Ursae Polaris, S.L.  

2.12. Identification of critical suppliers for the Issuer 

The Company has a wide range of suppliers. Nonetheless, only one of them has been identified as a 

critical supplier: the Asset Manager 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE works with several constructors, architects, decorators and real estate 

agencies and the Asset Manager of the Issuer, being the latter the main supplier. 

As already mentioned on section 1.7 of this Offering Memorandum, the Asset Manager of the Issuer 

is AX Gestco, S.L. The services it provides cover several key areas, including: 
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1. Market Analysis and Tracking: Involves data gathering, identification of investment 

opportunities, and asset analysis. 

2. Acquisition and Negotiation Process: Includes price negotiation, coordination of property 

visits, preparation and execution of offers, and due diligence.  

3. Coordination of External Services: Management of architects, interior designers, 

construction companies, insurance providers, and other third parties for the renovation, 

appraisal, and maintenance of properties. 

4. Leased Property Management: Overseeing rental agencies and property management 

companies, lease negotiation, rent collection, and property maintenance.  

5. Financial and Accounting Management: Handling of analytical accounting, coordination with 

auditors, preparation of financial statements, and compliance with tax obligations.  

6. Sales Strategy and Execution: Advising and coordinating the possible disposal strategy of 

assets, including property sales and supervising the closing process, if applicable. 

7. Administrative and Legal Services: Assisting with tax planning, regulatory compliance, board 

meetings, and other legal and administrative services. 

The remuneration to be paid to the Asset Manager as consideration for the Services to be provided 

under his Agreement consists of fix fees and a variable fee. 

The fix fees consist of a sourcing fee, a Capex monitoring fee and an asset monitoring fee, which are 

in line with market rates. Additionally, the Asset Manager receives fees structured to ensure the 

healthy execution of the project and to align incentives with the Company's long-term goals. This fee 

structure includes a variable component that rewards the Asset Manager for achieving superior 

returns. 

2.13. Internal control bodies 

The Company has an internal information control system, which has been designed, implemented and 

put into operation following the approval of the Board of Directors on 16 January 2025, responsible 

for its existence and maintenance. The Board of directors is also directly involved with the internal 

communication procedures. 

In addition, the Company has the legal and accounting support of APEX Group, who prepares the 

General Shareholders meeting and Board of Directors deeds and provides legal advice on legal and 

accounting affairs. 

Given the need to inform the market of a particular event, news or circumstances that must be 

assessed as a Inside Information or Other Relevant Information of the Company in compliance with 

the applicable regulations, the precise procedures for communication to the market have been put in 

place by the Board of Directors, with the assistance of Abbaco Markets, who, by being in constant 

contact with the Company management, is in charge of carrying out such communications.  
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2.14. Description of the dividend’s distribution policy  

Given its status as a SOCIMI for tax purposes, the Company is obliged to distribute as dividends to its 

shareholders, once the corresponding mercantile obligations have been met, the profit obtained in 

the year as follows:  

a) 100 percent of the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by the entities 

referred to in section 1 of Article 2 of the SOCIMI Law. 

b) At least 50 percent of the profits derived from the transfer of real estate and shares or 

participations referred to in section 1 of article 2 of the SOCIMI Law, carried out after the 

periods referred to in section 3 of article 3 of the same Law have elapsed, assigned to the 

fulfilment of its main corporate purpose. The remainder of these profits must be reinvested 

in other properties or participations assigned to the fulfilment of said object, within three 

years after the date of transfer. Otherwise, such profits must be distributed in full together 

with the profits, if any, arising from the year in which the reinvestment period ends. If the 

reinvested assets are transferred before the maintenance period established in Article 3.3 of 

the SOCIMI Law, those profits must be distributed in full together with the profits, if any, 

arising from the year in which they were transferred. 

The distribution obligation does not include, where applicable, the portion of these profits 

attributable to years in which the Group companies were not taxed under the special tax 

regime established in the SOCIMI Law. 

c) At least 80 percent of the remainder of the benefits obtained. 

The dividend must be paid within one month from the date of the distribution agreement.  

When the distribution of dividends is charged to reserves from profits of a year in which the special 

tax regime has been applied, the distribution must be adopted with the resolution referred to in the 

preceding paragraph.  

The Company is obliged to allocate 10% of the profits for the year to the legal reserve until it reaches 

20% of the share capital. Pursuant to the restrictions set out in the SOCIMI Act, reserves may not 

exceed 20% of the share capital. 

 

2.15. Business and financial forecasts 

  Expected Expected Expected 

P&L (euros)   YE 2024 YE 2025 YE 2026 

REVENUES  948,359 4,295,445 7,032,199 

Cost of Goods Sold  (496,064) (1,139,421) (1,568,306) 

External Services  (1,845,773) (2,262,460) (2,164,625) 

Amortization and depreciation  (376,731) (922,277) (1,357,320) 

GROSS PROFIT  (1,770,209) (28,713) 1,941,949 

Financial Expenses  (1,648,953) (4,176,771) (6,052,008) 
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EARNING BEFORE TAXES  (3,419,163) (4,205,488) (4,110,059) 

Taxes  - - - 

NET INCOME  (3,419,163) (4,205,488) (4,110,059) 

The profit and loss forecast for the years 2024, 2025 and 2026 is shown below. The forecast has been 

prepared on the basis of criteria comparable to those used in the preparation of the Company's annual 

accounts. 

The profit and loss forecast for the period 2024-2026, considering the assumptions explained below, 

is as follows: 

General Assumptions 

Number of units bought: The pace of acquisition will be stable on a month-to-month basis until the 

end of 2026, when the investment period will end and the Company will start to generate profits.  

Leverage: 60-70% LTV (LTV is measured at consolidated level  and is calculated against the market 

value of the properties).The 60% LTV refers only to external debt, whereas the 70% LTV includes also 

intragroup loans. 

Revenues Assumption 

The main factor of growth is the number of assets available for rent in the portfolio and the 

occupation. 

Number of assets for rent: Once the assets are acquired, a refurbishment process takes place before 

they are put up for rent. This process takes between 3-6 months. 

Occupation is assumed to be >95% of the units available for rent.  The average rental contract duration 

is expected to be 24 months, with an estimated vacancy period of one month between leases.  This 

estimate is supported by market analysis, a limited market supply, and the high quality of the portfolio.  

Occupancy forecasts will remain in line with the current trend, given the high demand for this type of 

property in the targeted areas and the increasing population. In addition, the tightening of the retail 

lending (mortgage) policy of the banking sector, where individuals may find it difficult to save for a 

deposit (20-30% of the property price), makes renting more attractive. 

This has led to a significant increase in rental units (+52%) compared to owned units (+10%) and has 

slightly increased the rental/ownership ratio in Spain. 

External services.  

This section includes direct and structural costs, which comprise the following items: Asset and 

property management and other general expenses.  

It will grow in line with number of assets bought and under management.  

Amortisation and depreciation 
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The depreciation used is the straight-line method, and the assets will be depreciated (excluding the 

value of the land) over its expected useful life (50 years).  

Financial expenses 

The following interests are included: external loan interest and Intra-group loan interest. 

Income tax 

The income tax rate is 0% given the SOCIMI regime to which the Company is subject.  

The above Profit and Loss Statement has not been reviewed and has not been subject to any form of 

assurance by independent auditors. 

Net Income 

The projected losses for 2024, 2025, and 2026 reflect the fact that the company is in an investment 

phase, where revenues are insufficient to offset costs. During this period, significant expenditures on 

external services and financial expenses are required to build and stabilize the portfolio, reaching, 

nonetheless, a positive gross profit in 2026. From 2027 onwards, as the portfolio reaches maturity and 

stabilization, a shift to profitability is anticipated. This change will primarily result from an increase in 

revenues as all acquired assets will be rented, coupled with a decrease in external service costs.  

2.16. Financial and operational ratios 

The Issuer’s financial statements as of 30 September 2024, show the following financial and operating  

ratios: 

1. Solvency ratio (assets / liabilities): 1.58. 

2. Liquidity ratio (current assets / current liabilities): 2.79 

3. Acid test (liquid assets / current liabilities): 2.07 

4. Equity to assets ratio [(Total Equity / total assets)x100]: 36.61% 

2.17. Information on related parties transactions 

The only related-party transactions existing at the date of drafting this Offering Memorandum are the 

intragroup loans for a total amount of 6,857,691.57 euros, described in section 2.10 of this document 

and are the following: 

Transactions carried out with the Issuer’s Shareholders. 

- Loan agreement signed with Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l. on 7 July 2023 for a total 

amount of up to 70,000,000.00 euros, as of 31 December 2023 a total amount of this loan of 

6,724,835.89 euros has been drawn down, maturing on 31 December 2026. This loan bears 

interest at a fixed rate of 8% and the interest accrued and payable at 31 December 2023 

amounted to 98,558.80 euros. The interest is payable on maturity of the loan. 
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- Loan agreement signed with URSAE POLARIS, S.L. on 12 July 2023 for a total amount of 73,500.00 

euros and maturing on 31 December 2026. As of 31 December 2023, a total amount of this loan 

of 23,670.15 euros has been drawn down. This loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 8% and the 

interest accrued and payable at 31 December 2023 amounted to 342.07 euros. The interest is 

payable on maturity of the loan.  

- Loan agreement signed with ELIX SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.L on 12 July 2023 for a total 

amount of 31,500.00 euros and maturing on 31 December 2026. At 31 December 2023, a total 

amount of this loan of 10,138.29 euros has been drawn down. This loan bears interest at a fixed 

rate of 8% and the interest accrued and payable at 31 December 2023 amounted to 146.37 euros. 

The interest is payable on maturity of the loan. 

2.18. Issuer’s management body 

The Issuer's management body is a Board of Directors and is formed by 3 Directors and the following 

distribution of board positions: 

(a) Mr. Emilio Velasco Sanz, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Issuer. 

(b) Mr. José Luis Lahidalga Guereñu 

(c) Ms. Marie Bretagnolle EP Sardari 

There are 2 non-director secretaries: 

(a) Mrs.  Paloma Gloria González Hernández, Secretary non-director 

(b) Mrs. Sara Sáez Serrano, Deputy Secretary non-director 

There are no administrative, criminal or regulatory proceedings involving members of the Board of 

Directors. 

Mr. Emilio Velasco Sanz  

Emilio is Head of Real Estate Iberia & Global Co-Head of Real Estate Acquisitions at Tikehau Capital 

and has 17 years of experience in Real Estate and Investment, having completed Real Estate 

acquisitions for more than 2billion euros in various asset classes. 

Previously, he was investment executive at Kennedy Wilson, the European Bank for Reconstruction 

and Development (EBRD) and Credit Suisse. 

Emilio holds a BA Degree and a Law Degree from ICADE (Madrid) and an MBA from UCLA Anderson 

(Los Angeles).  

Mr. José Luis Lahidalga Guereñu 

Jose Luis Lahidalga Guereñu is the COO of Almond Real Estate, has extensive experience in managing 

real estate investments. Since co-founding Almond Real Estate, he has led the operational 

management of the firm, overseeing investment sourcing, property design, renovations, and sales. In 
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his most recent role, he has been leading the Company’s ESG strategy to achieve maximum impact in 

reducing emissions during property renovations and to obtain the first green certification from an 

independent body for the granular asset type.  

He holds an Economist Degree from UAM (Madrid) and MBA from IESE. 

Ms. Marie Bretagnolle EP Sardari 

Marie is Managing Director of Asset Management at Tikehau Capital and has 20 years of experience 

in Real Estate and Investment. 

She joined Tikehau Capital in 2015 as an Asset Manager within the Real Estate team. Previously, she 

worked as an Associate Director (Investment) at Cordea Savills (Savills IM) in London and started her 

career as a Senior Consultant at DTZ Eurexi. 

Marie Holds a Master’s Degree from Sciences Po Paris (2004) and a Master’s Degree from Ecole 

spéciale des Travaux publics, du Bâtiment et de l’Industrie (2003).  

Mrs. Paloma Gloria González Hernández  

Paloma has over 22 years of experience in the financial industry. Currently, she holds the position of 

Country Head at Apex Spain and since January 2023 she also holds the position of  Regional Head of 

Operations Corporate Solutions South/East Europe. She also worked at Citco Spain for 12 years, 

holding the positions of Head of the Finance Department (2 years) and Managing Director (10 years). 

Prior to that, she also worked with Deloitte in the Spanish office for 7 years, where  she assumed the 

role of Supervisor in their BPO business line. 

Paloma holds a Master´s in Law from Instituto de Empresa (IE), Madrid, and a bachelor’s in Law  and 

Business Administration from CEU Luis Vives (University of Alcalá de Henares), also in Madrid.  

Mrs. Sara Sáez Serrano 

Sara has over 14 years of experience in the financial industry and holds the position of Director of 

Corporate Solutions at Apex Spain since 2019. She has worked with Citco Spain for 4 years and with 

Auxadi Spain during 2 years as Accounting and Tax Compliance Manager. In addition, Sara has also 

worked with Deloitte during 5 years as an Auditor where she audited numerous annual accounts and 

financial statements for clients and receive training on Financial Audit methodologies.  

She holds a degree in Law and Business Administration and Management from Universidad Carlos  III 

de Madrid and a Master's Degree in Tax Consultancy from IE (Instituto de Empresa).  

2.19. Compensation scheme 

According to the Issuer's bylaws the position of the Director will not be remunerated.  

As of the date of issuance of this Offering Memorandum the members of the Board of Directors do 

not hold any type of shares in the Issuer's share capital. 
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2.20. Share capital structure 

The Issuer's share capital amounts to 5,000,000 euros, divided into 5,000,000 registered shares of 1 

euro nominal value, numbered from 1 to 5,000,000. As of the date of issuance of the present Offering 

Memorandum, the shareholders of the Issuer are:  

- Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l., with registered address at 15 boulevard F.W. Raffeisen, 

L2411 Luxembourg, registered in the Commercial Register (Registre de Commerce et des 

Sociétés) of Luxembourg with number B275999 and with Spanish Tax Identification Number 

N0266398G, holding 99.5% of the Issuer’s shares. 

- URSAE POLARIS, S.L., with registered address at calle Gustavo Fernández Balbuena, n11, 1st 

floor, 28002 Madrid, registered in the Commercial Register of Madrid Volume 35,805, sheet 

105, page M-630,955 and with Spanish Tax Identification Number B87629127, holding 0.35% 

of the Issuer’s shares. 

- ELIX SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.L., with registered address at calle Serrano, n51, 4th floor, 

28006 Madrid, registered in the Commercial Register of Madrid Volume 39,484, sheet 149, 

page M-701,017 and with Spanish Tax Identification Number B63205892, holding 0.15% of the 

Issuer’s shares. 

Therefore, the only shareholder that has a significant stake (a stake equal to or greater than 5%) in 

the share capital of the Issuer is Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.à.r.l. 

2.20. Shareholders’ General Meeting and Board of Directors 

According to the article 8 of the Company Bylaws, the governing bodies of the Company are the 

General Meeting of Shareholders and the Management Body, which is, from 26 February 2024, the 

Board of Directors. The latter is competent to do and carry out all actions within the scope of the 

corporate purpose, as well as to adopt resolutions on all kinds of matters not attributed by the 

applicable regulations or the Bylaws to the General Meeting of Shareholders.  

The Board of Directors, which has the broadest powers and authority to manage, direct, administer 

and represent the Company, may entrust the day-to-day management of the Company to delegated 

management bodies and shall concentrate its activity on the general function of supervision and on 

the consideration of those matters of particular importance to the Company.  

The power to represent the Company, in and out of court, is vested in the Board of Directors, which 

shall act collegially. 

The Secretary of the Board of Directors has the necessary representative powers to notarise and 

request the registration of the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and of the Board 

of Directors. 

The power of representation of the delegated bodies shall be governed by the provisions of the 

delegation agreement. In the absence of any indication to the contrary, it shall be understood that the 

power of representation is conferred individually to each member of the Board of Directors. 
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Within the first three months of the year, the Board of Directors shall draw up the annual accounts, 

the management report and the proposal for the allocation of profits and, where appropriate, the 

consolidated annual accounts and management report. 

2.21. Liquidity provider 

The Issuer has not engaged a liquidity provider. 

3. Information on the shares  

3.1. Issuer’s shares 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE’S share capital amounts to 5,000,000 euros, fully subscribed and paid up, 

divided into 5,000,000 registered shares of 1 euro nominal value, numbered from 1 to 5,000,000 both 

included. The Shares are of a single class and series and confer to the shareholders of the Issuer the 

same political and economic rights. 

The Issuer's Shares are represented by book entries, and Euroclear France, S.A., a company duly 

incorporated under French law, with registered address at Rue de la Victoire 66, 75009, Paris 

("Euroclear France"), is the entity in charge of keeping the accounting records corresponding to the 

Shares represented by book entries. 

The Shares and the economic rights attaching thereto, including pre-emptive subscription rights, are 

freely transferable by all legally admissible means. 

3.2. Free Float 

Taking into account the shareholding structure of the Issuer, the management body of the Issuer has 

not considered necessary to allocate a minimum free float. 

3.3. Shareholders’ agreements 

As of the date of this Offering Memorandum, there is a shareholders‘ agreement signed on 15 June 

2023 (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”). 

The Shareholders' Agreement, in all matters not transferred to the Articles of Association, is binding 

only on its signatories; therefore, on those shareholders who were signatories prior to its listing on  

Portfolio Stock Exchange, as well as on those others who, following a transaction, voluntarily adhere 

to it by agreement between the parties.  

3.4. Any other relevant circumstances affecting the shares or their free transferability or exercise of 

rights 

Pursuant to a pledge agreement dated on 8 August 2024 (the “Pledge Agreement”) entered into the 

Issuer, the Issuer’s shareholders as “Pledgors”, Macquirie Bank Europe DAC, Paris Branch as 

“Arranger” (or “Lender” as in uncommitted revolving credit facility agreement) and Oxane Partners 

Limited as “Agent” or “Security Agent”, the Pledgors,  in order to secure the full and timely satisfaction 

and repayment of the uncommitted revolving credit facility payment obligations (the .“Secured 
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Liabilities”), have granted in favour of the Agent and the Lender a first ranking Spanish law governed 

pledge over 100% of the Issuer shares.  

Pledge extension 

The pledge shall automatically extend to and comprise any instruments, goods or assets, rights, 

securities, titles, certificates, shares, quotas or cash that substitute , replace or correspond to the 

Shares in the event of a merger spin-off, dissolution or winding-up, share capital increase (including 

any amounts received for the sale or assignment of pre-emption rights or free allotment rights or 

share capital reductions (including contributions returned to shareholders, if applicable), exchange of 

Shares, conversion or any other similar event or circumstance so affecting the Company or the Shares. 

In addition, the Pledge shall automatically extend to and comprise all economic rights and amounts 

resulting from the returns, interests, dividends (whether in cash or in kind), distributions or liquidation 

distributions produced by the Shares or corresponding or attached to the Shares for any reason. 

Exercise of rights over the Shares 

Unless an Event of Default occurs to the Pledgors and the Company, the Pledgors shall be entitled to 

exercise any and all the rights and duties attached to the Shares (including voting and economic 

rights). 

Upon de declaration of an Event of Default, the Security Agent, acting in its own name and for the 

benefit of itself and the Lender, may decide, at its sole discretion, to assume and exercise, without 

limitation, any political and decision-making rights, including voting rights, attached to the Shares. 

Undertakings of the Pledgors 

During the term of the Pledge, the Pledgors (except if expressly authorised by the Security Agent or 

the Lender) shall: 

- Not to agree to enter into a single transaction or series of transactions to sell, lease, transfer, 

assign, swap, charge, convert or otherwise dispose of the Shares or any of the voting rights 

related thereto or alter any right attaching to any share capital of the Company, not create or 

allow the creation of any option or restriction on their free transferability, other than the 

Pledge. 

- Not to vote in favour of any resolution for the spin-off, merger, consolidation, conversion or 

other corporate reorganization of the Company. 

Enforcement of the Pledge 

The Pledge may be enforced in whole or in part by the Security Agent upon the declaration of an Event 

of Default. 

In the event of an Event of Default, the amount due and payable shall be for the Secured Liabilities. 

Discharge of the Pledge 
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Once the Secured Liabilities have been paid in full, the Pledge shall be terminated and the Security 

Agent shall promptly release the Shares from the Pledge along with all remaining earnings, interest, 

benefits and dividends forming part of the Pledge. 

4. Identif ication of  risk factors  

In addition to all the details provided in this Offering Memorandum and before making a decision to 

invest in acquiring shares of the Issuer, investors should consider, among other factors, the risks listed 

below, which could adversely affect the Issuer’s business, results, prospects, or financial, economic, 

or asset situation.  

However, there may be additional risks currently unknown or deemed not to be material that either 

on a standalone basis or in conjunction could cause a material adverse effect on its business  activity, 

financial position, or operating results. 

4.1. Risks associated with the real estate business 

4.1.1. Cyclical Sector 

The Real Estate sector is very sensitive to the existing political and economic-financial environment. 

The revenues derived from the property assets and their valuations depend, in large part, on the 

supply and demand for properties, inflation, interest rates, the economic growth rate, or legislation. 

If the Company’s asset portfolio, owned through its subsidiary, were to suffer a decline in value 

requiring a provision concerning the carrying value, this would have an impact on the profit, the 

financial situation, and the valuation of the Company. However, in order to mitigate the risk, the 

Company has a defensive strategy, by creating best-in-class assts in good locations. 

4.1.2. Risks derived from the possible fluctuation in the demand for properties and their consequent 
decrease in rental prices 

Should the Issuer fail to secure tenants for the asset portfolio or should future tenants of assets decide 

not to renew their leases, this would have a negative impact on the financial position, earnings and 

valuation of the Company. 

However, this risk is unlikely to affect the Company, given the high demand for this type of property 

in the area and the increasing population. In addition, the tightening of the retail lending (mortgage) 

policy of the banking sector makes renting more attractive, leading to a significant increase in rental 

units (+52%) compared to owned units. 

4.1.3. Degree of liquidity of investments 

Real estate investments are characterized as being more illiquid than investments in movable 

property. Therefore, in the event that the Issuer wants to divest, its ability to sell may be limited in 

the short term. 

However, the attractiveness of granular housing, driven by the demand for smaller living spaces, and 

interest from both domestic and international homeowners and investors, ensures a broad market for 
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buyers. This reduces the risk of illiquidity as properties can be sold faster, often without significant 

discounts. 

4.1.4. Risk of properties becoming vacant 

This risk is unlikely affecting the Company, since the number of households demanding housing to 

rent has soared by more than 260% between the first quarter of 2020 and the first quarter of 2024 

and the dwellings offered for rent in Madrid had decreased by 59%. Therefore, even if any of the 

assets owned by the Issuer becomes vacant, the rotation period should be very short and it should 

not have any impact on the Company’s financial situation. 

4.1.5. Risks related to the collection of rents from the assets and property recovery 

The Issuer considers that the probability this risk affects the Company is low given the profile of the 

property assets and the solvency analysis carried out to the potential tenants. In addition, the 

Company has taken out default insurance for approximately half of its portfolio. 

4.1.6. Competition 

The Issuer’s activity takes place in a fragmented and competitive sector in which other national and 

international SOCIMI, and minor property owners coexist. The Spanish real estate market does not 

have entry barriers – other than the availability of funding. 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE’s positioning when it comes to financing has provided a certain advantage. If 

firms with which the Company competes, or new firms, which the Company could begin to compete 

with, or small savers destined more of their savings towards real estate investments, a threat  would 

arise, and their business opportunities could consequently be reduced, hence affecting  its business, 

results, financial structure and/or equity valuation. 

To mitigate the risks of increased competition and changing investor behaviour, the Company will 

focus on proactively monitoring market trends, which involves conducting comprehensive  market 

research, competitor analysis, and staying updated on industry developments. This will allow the 

Company to identify emerging trends, anticipate shifts in investor behaviour, and adjust its strategies 

accordingly. 

4.2. Operating risks 

4.2.1. Management risk 

It is common for small to medium size real estate companies subject to the SOCIMI regime to 

externalize some or all their day-to-day management to a third party. This is precisely the case for the 

Issuer, as already stated in this Offering Memorandum. 

Errors concerning the identification of work improvements, negotiating with tenants, or of any other 

sort may have a significant negative impact on the Company’s business, profits or financial and equity 

situation. 

4.2.2. Risks associated with the valuation of assets 
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When valuing the real estate asset, SAVILLS made certain assumptions, among others, concerning the 

future occupancy rate of the assets, the future rents estimates, the estimated profitability, or the 

discount rate used, with which a potential investor may disagree. If said subjective  elements were to 

evolve negatively, the valuation of the Issuer’s asset would be lower and could consequently affect its 

financial situation, profit, or valuation. 

4.2.3. Risk of property damage 

The property owned by the Issuer’s subsidiary is exposed to damage from possible fires, floods, 

accidents, or other natural disasters. If any of this damage is not insured or represents an amount 

greater than the coverage taken out, the Issuer will have to cover the same as well as the loss related 

to the investment made and the income expected, with the consequent impact on the Company’s 

financial situation, profit, and valuation. 

The Company subsidiary has underwritten insurance policies for each of its assets to cover the risks of 

property damage: construction civil liability insurance that covers the possible subsidiary liability for 

possible incidents in the flats during the refurbishment works carried out by the construction 

contractor; all flats have a home insurance whereby the building and contents are covered and, in 

addition, the tenants have a civil liability insurance that covers their activity as a tenant. 

4.2.4. Transition risks 

Changing market expectations, policy and legal reform, and reputational impacts related to ESG 

represent increasing financial risk to investors. Market and legislative expectations of ESG factors are 

increasing, with a heightened focus on sustainability, health & well-being, and Net Zero Carbon. 

Occupiers’ requirements, Clients’ targets, and Investors demanding transparency  about energy 

efficiency, carbon emissions and climate impact will lead the market in the future.  

Nonetheless, the Company focus on the sustainability during renovation phase, which provides proof 

of the assurance on performance, quality and value of the asset.  

4.2.5. Degree of concentration – industry, geographic 

The Company is a SOCIMI. Therefore, its activities must abide by its corporate purpose  so far. The 

Issuer has invested in Madrid only, thus giving place to a large exposure to the city. If there were 

changes regarding the urban development in the corresponding municipality or the autonomous 

community or changes due to specific economic conditions in this region, the  Issuer’s financial 

position, results or valuation may be adversely affected. 

4.3. Financial risks 

4.3.1. Leverage level risk 

The Company estimates the possibility to leverage future investments with an LTV (including both, 
bank debt and intercompany loans) between 60% and 70%, The 60-70% leverage level is relatively 
high and can be considered a significant position in terms of indebtedness. While this LTV range may 
be common in the real estate sector, where assets tend to be relatively stable and income generating 
over the long term, it still entails considerable risks. 



 36 

Accordingly, the Company is exposed to risks typically associated with debt financing, including the 
risk that cash flows generated by rental income from the real estate portfolio will not be sufficient to 
cover the payment of financial expense and/or the principal repayment of existing financial debt, both 
with credit institutions and with its shareholders. 

The Company's failure to meet certain obligations under the financings may result in the early 
termination of the financings, the early maturity of the Company's payment obligations, and the 
execution of the security interests in place to secure the financing mentioned in section 2.10 and 
section 3.4 of this Offering Memorandum. Such circumstances could adversely affect the Company's 
business, results, prospects or financial, economic or property condition.  

4.3.2. Debt management and the associated interest rate 

At the time of issuing this Offering Memorandum, the Company asserts that it is currently meeting all 

the conditions stipulated by its lender and anticipates continued compliance throughout the duration 

of the facility agreement. However, failure to comply with these conditions could prompt the lender 

to demand full repayment of the loans, posing a risk to the Company's viability. 

In addition, to hedge the interest rate risk, the Company’s subsidiary has entered into an Interest Rate 

Swap, as described in section 2.10 of this Offering Memorandum. 

4.3.3. Lack of capacity to obtain financing intended for new investments 

The Company's ability to secure external funding might be hindered by external circumstances, 

potentially leading to challenges in attaining its objectives. These challenges could have repercussions 

on its business operations, financial performance, capital structure, and equity valuation. 

However, the Company’s subsidiary has already signed a financing agreement that covers its growth 

strategy. Therefore, the risk of obtaining additional financing should not have an impact on the Issuer, 

except if the lender does not provide additional funding under the same contract.  

4.3.4. Forward-looking statements 

This Offering Memorandum includes forward-looking statements, which are inherently subject to risks 

and uncertainties. Apart from historical facts, all statements within this document are forward-looking 

in nature. Actual results of the Company may vary significantly from the anticipated outcomes 

outlined in these forward-looking statements, due to a multitude of factors. Investors are strongly 

advised to thoroughly examine the entirety of this document before making any investment decisions. 

It should be noted that the forward-looking statements presented here are based on the beliefs, 

assumptions, and information available to the Directors solely as of the date of this Offering 

Memorandum. Consequently, the forward-looking events discussed may not materialize. Therefore, 

investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained 

herein. The Directors undertake no obligation to publicly update such forward-looking statements, 

except as required by applicable law or regulation, irrespective of  whether new information or future 

developments arise. 

4.4. Legal and regulatory risks 

4.4.1. Regulatory risks 



 37 

The Issuer’s activities are subject to legal and regulatory provisions of a technical, environmental, 

fiscal, and commercial nature, as well as planning, safety, technical, and consumer protection 

requirements. The local, autonomic, and national administrations may impose sanctions for non-

compliance with these standards and requirements. The sanctions may include, among other 

measures, restrictions that may limit the performance of certain operations by the Company. In 

addition, if the non-compliance is significant, the fines or sanctions may harm the Issuer’s profits and 

financial situation. 

A significant change to these legal and regulatory provisions or a change affecting how these legal and 

regulatory provisions are applied, interpreted, or met may force the Company to change its plans, 

projections or even properties and, therefore, assume additional costs, which could negatively impact 

the Company’s financial situation, profit or valuation. 

4.4.2. Risks related to the application of the SOCIMI regime, changes in tax legislation (including 
changes in the tax regime of SOCIMI) and loss of the SOCIMI regime. 

The Issuer notified the Spanish tax authorities on its option to apply the SOCIMI special tax regime on 

19 July 2023. The application of said special tax regime is subject to compliance with the requirements 

set out in Law 11/2009, modified by Law 16/2012. 

Following the application of the SOCIMI tax regime, the Company shall be subject to a special tax of 

19% on the full amount of the dividends or profit sharing distributed to the partners whose  

participation in the share capital of the entity is equal to or greater than 5% when the dividends  paid 

out to these shareholders are either tax exempt or taxed at a rate lower than 10%.  

The aforementioned shareholders will indemnify the Company by reimbursing an amount equivalent 

to 19% of the dividends received. The indemnity to be paid by the shareholders will be offset against 

the amount of the cash to be paid as dividends. In the event that the income  received by the Company 

as a result of the indemnity is taxed by corporate income tax at the  rate of the general tax, the amount 

of the indemnity shall be increased to the extent necessary to absorb this tax cost. 

Additionally, effective during the tax periods starting as of 1 January 2021 onward, Final Provision Two 

of Act 11/2021, on measures to prevent and combat tax fraud, transposing Directive (EU) 2016/1164, 

of 12 July 2016, laying down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning 

of the internal market, amending various tax rules and regulating gambling, has amended the SOCIMI 

Act by establishing a special levy of 15% on the amount of profit for the year that has not been 

distributed. The special levy will accrue on the date that the resolution is adopted by the General 

Shareholders’ Meeting to allocate the results of the financial year, and its amount must be the subject 

of self-assessment and payment within two months. This special levy, categorized as a Corporate Tax 

payment, exclusively applies to the portion of the SOCIMI’s income which: (i) has not been taxed at 

the general Corporate Tax rate but at the 0% rate of the special SOCIMI Regime; and (ii) does not fall 

under the three-year reinvestment period established in the case of income from the transfer of 

properties or shares in the entities referred to in article 2.1.c) of the SOCIMI Act, provided they have 

fulfilled the minimum maintenance period of three years, stipulated in article 6(1)(b) of the SOCIMI 

Act.  
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Any change (including changes of interpretation) in the SOCIMI Act or in relation to the tax legislation 

in general, in Spain or in any other country in which the Company may operate in the  future or in 

which the shareholders of the Company are residents, including but not limited to:  

(i) The implementation of new taxes, or 

(ii) The increase of the tax rates in Spain or any other country where the Company may operate  could 

adversely affect the activities of the Company, its financial conditions, its forecasts or results of 

operations. 

Inapplicability of the SOCIMI Regime  

The Company may lose eligibility for the special tax regime outlined in the SOCIMI Act and become 

subject to taxation under the standard Corporate tax regime during the tax period if any of the 

following circumstances occur: 

(i) Delisting from regulated markets or from a multilateral trading facility. 

(ii) A substantial breach of the information obligations outlined in article 11 of the SOCIMI Act, unless 

remedied in the subsequent year’s report. 

(iii) Failure to reach an agreement on the partial or full distribution or payment of dividends within the 

terms and deadlines specified in article 6 of the SOCIMI Act. In such cases, the general tax regime will 

apply for the tax period corresponding to the year in which the profits generating those dividends 

were generated. 

(iv) Waiver to apply the special tax regime envisaged in the SOCIMI Act. 

(v) Breach of any other requirements stipulated in the SOCIMI Act necessary for the Company to apply 

the special tax system, unless the breach is rectified within the following year. Notwithstanding, non-

compliance with the investment retention period for suitable investments (real estate or shares or 

stakes in certain companies) as specified in article 3.3 of the SOCIMI Act will not result in the loss of 

the special tax regime.  

The loss of the SOCIMI regime (i) would have a negative impact on the Company in terms of direct 

taxes, (ii) could affect the liquidity and financial position of the Company as long as it is required to 

regularize the direct taxation of the income obtained in previous tax periods going to tax in accordance 

with the general regime and the general corporate income tax, and (iii) would determine that the 

Company could not opt again for the application of the same regime until at least three years from 

the conclusion of the last tax period in which said regime would have been applicable. All this could 

affect the return that investors obtain from their investments in the Company. 

4.4.3. Litigation risk 

Although the Issuer is not currently party (as a claimant or a defendant) to either material or non -

material litigation, it may be subject to such litigation in the future. In addition, the Issuer may be 

subject to other disputes, claims, and complaints, including adversarial actions, by customers, 

suppliers, insurers, and others in the ordinary course of business. Significant claims or a substantial 
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number of small claims may be expensive to defend, may divert the time and focus of management 

away from the Issuer’s operations, and may result in the Issuer having to pay monetary damages, any 

of which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s  financial condition, business, prospects 

and results of operations. In addition, negative publicity or substantial litigation against the Issuer 

could negatively impact its reputation, even if the Issuer is not found liable, which could adversely 

affect the Issuer’s business and financial condition.  

4.4.4. Lack of liquidity for the payment of dividends 

All dividends and other distributions paid by the Company will depend on the existence of profits 

available for distribution. In addition, there is a risk that the Company generates profits but does not 

have sufficient cash to meet, monetarily, the dividend distribution requirements set out in the SOCIMI 

tax regime. If the Company does not have sufficient cash, it may be required to cover dividends in kind 

or to implement a system of reinvesting dividends in new shares.  

As an alternative, the Company may request additional funding, which would increase its financial 

costs, and reduce its capacity to ask for funding for making new investments and have an adverse 

material effect on the Company’s business, financial conditions, operating results, and forecasts. 

Shareholders would be obliged to assume the fiscal costs of paying the dividend. In addition, if the 

payment of dividends is made in kind (or the implementation of equivalent systems such as the 

reinvestment of the dividend right in new shares) , this may dilute the shareholding of some 

shareholders who receive the dividend monetarily. 

4.5. Market risks 

4.5.1. Share price volatility and liquidity and probability of making losses on investment 

Portfolio Stock Exchange is a multi-lateral trading facility designed principally for growth companies 

and as such, tends to experience lower levels of trading liquidity than larger companies quoted on the 

Regulated Market or some other stock exchanges. Following admission, there can be no assurance 

that an active or liquid trading market for the shares will develop or, if developed, that it will be 

maintained. The shares may therefore be subject to large price fluctuations in small volumes of shares 

traded. As a result, an investment in shares traded on Portfolio Stock Exchange carries a higher risk 

than those listed on the Regulated Market. 

Prospective investors should be aware that the value of an investment in the Issuer may go down  and 

as up, and that the market price of the shares may not reflect the underlying value of ALMOND CORE 

CENTRE. There can be no guarantee that the value of an investment in the Issuer will increase.  

Potential investors may therefore realise less than, or lose all, their original investment. The  share 

price of the Issuer is expected to be illiquid for the time being. The price at which the  shares are 

quoted, and the price potential investors may realise for their shares may be  influenced by many 

factors, some of which are general or market-specific, others which are sector-specific, and others 

which are specific to the Issuer and its operations. These factors include, without limitation, (i) the 

performance of the overall stock market; (ii) large purchases or sales of shares by other investors; (iii) 

financial and operational results of the Issuer; (iv)  changes in analysts’ recommendations and any 
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failure by the Issuer to meet the expectations of the research analysts; (v) changes in legislation or 

regulations and changes in general economic, political or regulatory conditions; and (vi) other factors 

which are outside the control of the Issuer. 

5. Advisors’  reports  

The only independent expert report has been issued by Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. on  

December 2024, the purpose of which is the valuation of the real estate assets of the Issuer, and is 

attached hereto as Appendix 3. 
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Appendix 

Appendix 1: Annual Audited Accounts for the year 2023 

Appendix 2: Translated Annual Audited Accounts for the year 2023 

Appendix 3: Valuation of the Real Estate Asset as of 30 September 2024 
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Appendix 1: Annual Audited Accounts for the year 2023  
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Appendix 2: Translated Annual Audited Accounts for the year 2023  

This auditor’s report has been translated by Abbaco Markets into English from the original Spanish 

version. In case of any discrepancies, and for legal purposes, the Spanish version shall prevail. 
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Audit Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements issued by an 
Independent Auditor 

 
To the shareholders of  ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A. (formerly GREEN CENTRE 
HOLDCO SOCIMI, S.A.) 

 
 

Opinion 

We have audite d the consolida ted financial statemen ts of ALMON D CORE CENTR E SOCIMI, S.A. 
(formerl y GREEN CENTR E HOLD C O SOCIMI, S.A.) (the Parent Compan y) and its Subsidiary 
Compan y (the Grou p), which comprise the consolida ted balan ce sheet as of Decemb er 31, 2023, 
the consolid ate d statem en t of income, the consolida ted statem ent of recognized income and 
expen se, the consolid ate d statemen t of changes in equity, the consolid ate d statem en t of cash flows 
and the consol idate d notes to the financial statem en ts for the year then ended . 

 

In our opinion , the accompan yin g consol idate d financial statem en ts presen t fairly, in all material 
respects , a true and fair view of the Grou p's net worth and financial positi on as of Decemb er 31, 
2023, and of its results and cash flows for the year then ended , in accord an ce with the applica ble 
financial reporti n g framew ork (identifi e d in note 2 to the consolid ate d financial statem ents) and, in 
particular , with the accou n tin g principles and criteria contain ed therein . 

 
Basis of the opinion 

We condu cted our audit in accord an ce with Spanish auditin g standa rds. Our responsibili ti es under 
those standard s are describ ed below in the Auditor 's Respon sibiliti es for the Audit of the 
Consolid ate d Financial Stateme nts section of our report. 

 
We are indepen d en t of the Grou p in accord an ce with the ethical requirem ents , including those of 
indepen d en ce, which are appli cable to our audit of the consolid ate d financial statemen ts in Spain as 
required by the regulation s governin g the auditin g of accoun ts . In this sense, we have not provided 
services other than those of the audit of accou n ts nor have there been any situation s or 
circumstan ces that, in accordan ce with the provision s of the aforemen tion e d regulatory stan dards, 
have affected the necessary indepen d en ce in such a way that it has been compromised . 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtain e d is sufficient and approp riate to provide a basis 
for our opinion . 

 
Audit highlights 

Significan t audit matters are those matters that, in our profession al judgmen t, we considered to be 
the most significant risks of material misstate men t in our audit of the consolid ate d financial 
statem en ts for the current period. These risks have been addresse d in the context of our audit of 
the consolid ate d financial statemen ts as a whole and in formin g our opinion thereon , and we 
express no separate opinion on these risks. 
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Valuation of Real Estate Investments 

The "Investm en t Property" caption in the accomp an yin g consolida ted balan ce sheet includes 
residential real estate assets held for rental purposes, which constitu te appro ximately 59% of total 
assets . The Compan y values its investme nt property at acquisi ti on cost less the related 
depre ciation and any impairme nt losses, as describe d in notes 4.2 and 6 to the consolid ate d 
financial stateme nts . 

When ever there are indication s of impairm ent, the Group performs an impai rmen t test to estimate 
the possible existen ce of impai rmen t losses that reduce the recovera ble amou n t of such assets to 
an amoun t lower than their carryin g amou nt. 

The Entity has not yet amorti zed any of the items comprisin g this item, since they have not yet been 
put into operation . 

 
Given that the aforem en tion ed headin g constitu tes the Grou p's curren t and only operation , we 
have considered it as a more relevan t aspect of the audit. 

Our audit appro ach has consiste d mainly of the followin g procedure s: 

 
Readin g and understan din g the purchase and sale contracts signed with third parti es for the 
acquisi ti on of the real estate assets indicated and the existin g complian ce mileston es 
therein. 

Review for a sample of the investmen ts made during the year. 

 
Finally, we have verified that the accomp an yin g consolida ted annual report includes the 
disclosu res required by the appli cable financial reportin g framew ork. 

 

Other information: Consolidated management report 

The other information comprises exclusively the consolid ate d man ag em en t report for fiscal year 
2023, the preparation of which is the responsibili ty of the Board of Directors of the paren t compan y 
and does not form an integral part of the consolid ate d financial stateme nts . 

 
Our audit opinion on the consolid ate d financial statem en ts does not cover the consolid ate d 
man ag eme nt report. Our respon sibili ty for the consolida ted man age men t report, as required by the 
regulation s governin g the audit of consolid ate d financial statem ents , is to assess and report on the 
consisten cy of the consolid ated man age men t report with the consolid ate d financial statem ents 
based on our knowledg e of the Grou p obtain e d from the audit of the consolid ate d financial 
statem en ts, and to assess and report on wheth er the conten t and presen tation of the consolid ated 
man ag eme nt report comply with the appli cable regulation s. If, based on the work we have 
performed , we conclu de that there are material misstatem en ts , we are required to report them . 

 
Based on the work performe d, as describ e d in the precedin g paragraph , the information contain ed 
in the consolid ate d man ag em en t report is consis ten t with that contain ed in the consolida ted 
financial stateme nts for 2023 and its conten t and presen tation are i n accord an ce with the applica ble 
regulation s. 
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Liability of the parent company's directors in relation to the consolidated 
financial statements 
 
The Parent Compan y 's directors are respon sible for the preparation of the accompa nyin g 
consolid ate d financial statem en ts so that they presen t fairly the consolida ted net worth, financial 
positi on and results of the Grou p, in accordan ce with the regulatory financial reportin g framew ork 
appli cable to the Grou p in Spain, and for such internal control as they determ in e is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolid ate d financial statem en ts that are free from material 
misstate men t, wheth er due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparin g the consolid ate d financial statem en ts , the Paren t Comp an y's directors are respon sible 
for assessin g the Group's ability to continu e as a going concern , disclosin g, as appropria te, matters 
related to goin g concern and using the going concern basis of accou n tin g unless the Parent 
Compan y 's directors intend to liquidate the Grou p or to cease opera tion s, or there is no other 
realisti c altern ati ve. 

 
 

Auditor's responsibilities in connection with the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements 

Our objecti ves are to obtain reason able assurance abou t whether the consolida ted financial 
statem en ts as a whole are free from material misstatem en t, wheth er due to fraud or error, and to 

issue an auditor 's report that includes our opinion . Reason a ble assu ran ce is a high degre e of 
assuran ce , but it does not guaran tee that an audit performe d in accordan ce with Spanish auditin g 
standard s will always detect a material misstatem en t when it exists . Misstatem en ts can arise from 

fraud or error and are considere d material if, individu ally or in the aggre ga te, they could reason a bly 
be expecte d to influence the econ omic decision s that users make on the basis of the consolid ate d 

financial stateme nts . 
 

As part of an audit in accordan ce with the regulation s governin g the auditin g of accoun ts in Spain, 
we apply our profess ion al judgmen t and maintain an attitu de of professio n al skepti ci sm throu gh ou t 
the audit. Also: 

 
• Identif y and assess the risks of mater ial misstate men t of the consolida ted financial statemen ts, 

wheth er due to fraud or error , design and perform audit procedu res respon sive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appro priate to provide a basis for our opinion . 
The risk of not detectin g a material misstate me nt due to fraud is higher than for a material 
misstate men t due to error , as fraud may involve collusion , forgery , intention al omission s, 
deliberate misstateme nts , intention al misrepresen tations, or the circumve ntion of intern al 
control . 

 
• We obtain an understan din g of intern al control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedu res that are appro priate in the circumstan ces, but not for the purpose of expressin g an 
opinion on the effectiven e ss of the Grou p's intern al control . 

 
• We assessed the appro priaten e ss of the accoun tin g policies applied and the reason a blen ess of 

accou n tin g estimate s and related disclosures made by the Paren t Compan y's man ag em ent.  
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• Conclu de on the appro priaten e ss of the Paren t Compan y 's man ag em en t's use of the goin g 

concern basis of accou ntin g and, based on the audit eviden ce obtain ed , conclu de on wheth er a 
material uncertain ty exists related to even ts or conditi ons that may cast significant doubt on the 
Grou p's ability to continu e as a goin g concern . If we conclu de that a material uncertain ty exists , 
we are required to draw atten tion in our auditor 's report to the related disclosure s in the 
consolid ate d financial statem en ts or, if such disclosu res are inadeq u ate, to express a modifi e d 
opinion . Our conclusion s are based on eviden ce obtain e d up to the date of our audit report. 
However, future events or condi ti on s may cause the Grou p to cease to be a going concern . 
 

• We assessed the overall presenta tion , structu re and conten t of the consolid ate d financial 
statem en ts, includin g the disclosu res, and wheth er the consolid ate d financial statem en ts 
represent the underl yin g transaction s and events in a mann er that achieve s a true and fair view. 
 

• We obtain sufficient appropria te eviden ce regardin g the financial information of the entities or 
business activiti e s within the group to express an opinion on the consolid ate d financial 
statem en ts. We are respon sible for the direction , supervi sion and perf orman ce of the Grou p's 
audit. We are solely respon sible for our audit opinion . 

 

We communicate with the Paren t Comp an y's man age men t regardin g, amon g other matte rs , the 

plann ed scope and timing of the audit and significan t audit findings, as well as any significan t 
deficien cies in intern al control that we identify during the course of the audit . 

 
Amon g the significan t risks that have been reported to the Paren t Comp an y's directors , we have 
identifi ed those that were most significan t in the audit of the consolid ated financial statemen ts for 

the current period and which are, consequ en tl y , the risks considere d to be the most significant. 
 

We describ e these risks in our audit report unless legal or regulatory provision s prohibi t public 
disclosu re. 
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ALMOND CORE CENTER SOCIMI, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
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CONS OLIDA TE D BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMB E R 31, 2023 

(Express ed in euros) 

 
ACTIVE Notes 31/12/2023 

 
A) NON-CURRE NT ASSETS 

  
12.765.944,70 

I. Real estate investments. 6 12.765.944,70 

Land.  9.273.215,30 

2. Constructio ns .  2.742.503,84 

3. Technic al installations and others.  53.893,04 

4. Constructio n in progress and advances.  696.332,52 

B) CURRE NT ASSETS 
 

8.831.222,06 

1. Stocks.  63.889,85 

Advances to suppliers.  63.889,85 

II. Trade and other receivables.  2.652,00 

1. Other receivabl es from public authoriti es. 12 2.652,00 

III. Sho rt -term f inancial investments. 7,8,14 7.506.851,43 

Other f inancial assets  7.506.851,43 

IV. Sho rt -term accruals.  2.941,68 
V. Cash and cash equivalents.  1.254.887,10 

Treas ury. 9 1.254.887,10 

TOTAL ASSETS (A+B)  21.597.166,76 

 

 
Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these 

consolidated f inancial statements. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



ALMOND CORE CENTER SOCIMI, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 

 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023 

(Expressed in euros) 

 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes 31/12/2023 

 
A) NET EQUITY 

  
14.274.244,48 

A-1) Shareholders' equity. 10 14.274.244,48 

Capital.  5.000.000,00 

1. Deeded capital.  5.000.000,00 

II. Reserves.  (4.378,39) 

1. Other reserves of  the Parent Company.  (4.378,39) 

III. Reserves in fully consolidated companies.  (596,54) 

IV. Results of  prior years.  (908,07) 

V. Other member contributions.  10.830.170,12 

VI. Results for the year.  (1.550.042,64) 

B) NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

7.128.565,22 

l. Long-term debt. 7,11 369.920,89 

Debts with credit institutions.  369.920,89 

II. Long-term debt with group and associated companies. 7,11,14 6.758.644,33 

C) CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

194.357,06 

I. Short-term debt. 7,11 18.129,11 

Debts with credit institutions.  18.129,11 

II. Long-term debt with group and associated companies. 7,11,14 99.047,24 

III. Trade and other accounts payable.  77.180,71 

Suppliers. 7,11 3.086,71 

2. Sundry creditors. 7,11 71.756,35 

3. Other debts with Public Administrations. 12 2.337,65 

TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (A + B + C)  21.597.166,76 

 
 

Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these 

consolidated f inancial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

FOR THE YEAR 

(Expressed in euros)  

PROFIT AND LOSS Notes 31/12/2023 

 
Other operating expenses. 

 
13.1 (1.450.995,40) 

A) OPERATING INCOME (1.450.995,40) 

Financial expenses. 13.2 (99.047,24) 

B) FINANCIAL RESULT (99.047,24) 

C) INCOME BEFORE TAXES (A+B) (1.550.042,64) 

D) INCOME FOR THE YEAR (C) (1,550.042,64) 

 

 

Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these 

consolidated f inancial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 
A) STATE ME NT OF RECOG NIZE D INCOME AND 

EXPENSES (Expressed in euros) 

 31/12/2023 

A) Result of  the consolidated income statement (1.550.042,64) 

Revenues and expenses recognized directly in consolidated sharehold ers' 
equity 

- 

Transfers to the consolidated statement of prof it and loss  - 
TOTA L RECOG NIZE D INCOME AND EXPENSE  (1.550.042,64) 

 

Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these 

consolidated f inancial statements. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 



 

 

ALMOND CORE CENTER SOCIMI, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 

 
CONS OLIDA TE D STATE ME NT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 
A) STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY 

(Expressed in euros) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 31, 

2022 (*) 

 
      Registered              Uncalled            Other  
         Capital                  Capital             reserves of 
                                                              The Parent 
                                                              Company  

60.000,00 (45.000,00)                                                  

Reserves in fully 
consolidated 
companies 

 
Negative 

results from 
previous 

years 

           (864,87) 

 
Other 

member 
contributions 

  

 

Profit for the year 

 

  

      - (43,20)                        14.091,93 

To tal recogn ized  revenues and  expenses    - 

Transactions with Partners: 

Cap ital increase (No te 10) 4.940.000,00  -
- 

- (1.550.042,64) (1.550.042,64) 

 

- 4.940.000,00 

Other transactions with  
partners (Note 10) 
Other changes in  shareho lders' 
equity 
Distribution  o f 
consolidated income 

BALANCE AS OF DECEMBER 
31, 2023 

 
 

(*) Unaudited data 

 45.000,00 - 

 

 

 

 
(596,54) 

- 10.830.170,12 

 

 
(43,20) 

 10.875.170,12 

 
(4.974,93) 

 
43,20 

 

Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these consolidated f inancial statements. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

   (908,07) 10.830.170,12 (1.550.042,64)  

TOTAL 
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CONS OLIDA TE D STATE ME NT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

(Express ed in euros) 

 
 

 
Income for the year before taxes 

Adjustments to income: 

  Notes31/12/2023  

    (1.550.042,64)   

- Financial expenses 13.2,14                        
99.047,24             

    99.047,24   

Changes in working capital:   

- Debtors and other accounts receivable  (66.364,74) 

- Other current assets  (8.748,68) 

- Accounts payable and other payables                    
70.255,78   

    (4.857,64)   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERA TING ACTIVITIES      (1.455.8 53,04)   

Payments for investments: 
  

- Real estate investments 6   (12.765.9 44,70)   

    (12.765.9 44,70)   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIE S    (12.765.944,70)   

Proceeds and payments for equity instruments: 

- Issuance o f  equity instruments 

 
10 

 
                      
10.565.170,12   

                        

10.565.170,12   
Receivables and payments for f inancial liability instruments:   

- Issue:   

- Debts with credit institutions 11 390.000,00 

- Payable to group companies 

 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 
NET INCREAS E / DECREAS E IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash or cash equivalents at beginning of year Cash 

or cash equivalents at end of year 

14   4.507.599,90    

  4.897.599,90   
 

  15.462.770,02   
 

1.240.972,28 
  

13.914,82 

1.254.887,10 

 

Notes 1 to 18 to the accompanying consolidated f inancial statements are an integral part of  these 

consolidated f inancial statements. 



ALMOND CORE CENTER SOCIMI, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 

CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

(Expressed in euros) 

 
General information about the Group 

 
Almond Core Centre Socimi, S.A. (hereinaf ter the Parent Company) was incorporated on October 15, 2021 

with Tax Identif ication Number A67643718 by deed executed before the Notary Public of Madrid Mr. José 

Carlos Sánchez González with protocol number 2,229, registered in the Mercantile Registry of  Madrid in 

Volume 42,608, Folio 20, Page M753651, Entry 1. Its registered office is located at Paseo de Recoletos, 37-

41, 3 f loor, 28004 Madrid. 

 

On February 23, 2023 the Parent Company changed its registered of f ice f rom Calle Maldonado 4, bajo D, 

28006 Madrid to Calle Goya, 6, 2a planta, 28001 Madrid. On June 29 

On December 14, 2023, the Parent Company again changed its registered of f ice f rom Calle Goya, 6, 2nd 

f loor, 28001 Madrid, to Calle Velázquez, 98, 6th f loor, 28006 Madrid. Finally, on December 14, 2023 the 

Parent Company changed its registered office from calle Velázquez, 98, 6a planta, 28006 Madrid, to the current 

one. 

 
On May 22, 2023, the Parent Company changed its corporate name f rom Auxilina Investments, S.A. to 

Green Centre Holdco, S.A. On June 22, 2023, the Parent Company changed its corporate name again from 

Green Centre Holdco, S.A. to Green Centre Holdco Socimi,  

S.A. Lastly, af ter year-end and prior to the preparation of  these consolidated f inancial statements, on 

February 26, 2024, the Parent Company changed its name f rom Green Centre Holdco Socimi, S.A. to the 

current name (Note 18). 

 
The Parent Company's corporate purpose is to engage in the following activities:  

 
Acquisition and development (including rehabilitation) of  urban real estate for lease.  

 
The holding of shares in the capital of listed real estate investment trusts ("SOCIMIs") or in the capital 

of  other entities not resident in Spanish territory that have the same corporate purpose as the former 

and which are subject to a regime similar to that established for such SOCIMIs in terms of  the 

mandatory legal or statutory prof it distribution policy.  

 
The holding of  shares in the capital of  other entities, whether resident or not in Spanish territory, 

whose main corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate for lease, which are subject to 

the same regime established for SOCIMIs in terms of  the mandatory policy, legal or statutory, of 

distribution of profits, and which meet the investment requirements demanded by these companies. 

 
The holding of shares or participations of Collective Real Estate Investment Institutions regulated in 

Law 35/2003, of  November 4, 2003, on Collective Investment Institutions, or the regulation that 

replaces it in the future. 
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The Parent Company may sell its assets under the terms and conditions set forth in Law 11/2009, of  October 

26, 2009, on listed real estate investment trusts (SOCIMI) or the regulation that replaces it.  

 
In addition, the Parent Company may carry out other ancillary activities, understood as those whose income 

represents, as a whole, less than 20% of  the Company's income in each tax period, or those that may be 

considered ancillary in accordance with the Law applicable f rom time to time.  

 
The activities included in the corporate purpose may be carried on by the Parent Company, in whole or in 

part, indirectly, through the ownership of shares or equity interests in companies with an identical or similar 

corporate purpose. 

The direct or indirect exercise of all those activities for the exercise of which the Law demands requirements 

that cannot be fulf illed by the Parent Company are excluded.  

 
The Parent Company has established in its bylaws the beginning and end of the fiscal year, which coincides 

with the calendar year, ending on December 31 of  each year.  

 
The Parent Company has no employees, and management is carried out directly by the members of  the 

Group's Board of  Directors. 

 
The currency of  the main economic environment in which the Group operates is the euro, which is therefore 

its functional currency. 

 
All amounts included in these notes to the consolidated f inancial statements are stated in Euros unless 

expressly stated otherwise. 

 
The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l., domiciled in Luxembourg, 

which holds 99.50% of  the Parent Company's shares. 

 
SOCIMI regime 

 
On July 19, 2023, the State Tax Administration Agency was notified of the Parent Company's inclusion in the 

special tax regime for Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (SOCIMI), regulated by Law 11/2009, of  

October 26, 2009, as amended by Law 16/2012, of December 27, 2012, and by Law 11/2021, of July 9, 21, 

which regulates Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (hereinaf ter SOCIMI Law). Articles 3 to 6 of  the 

aforementioned Law establish the main requirements and obligations that must be complied with by this type 

of  companies: 
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1. Investment requirements (Art.3) 

 
o SOCIMIs must have invested at least 80% of the asset value in urban real estate intended for lease, 

in land for the development of real estate to be used for such purpose provided that the development 

is started within 3 years af ter the acquisition, as well as in shares in the capital or equity of  other 

entities referred to in section 1 of  article 2 of  the aforementioned Law. 

 
This percentage will be calculated on the balance sheet in the event that the Company is the Parent 

of  a group in accordance with the criteria established in Article 42 of  the Commercial Code, 

regardless of residence and the obligation to prepare annual accounts. This group will be composed 

exclusively of SOCIMIs and the rest of the entities referred to in section 1 of article 2 of the Law that 

regulates it. 

 
o Likewise, at least 80 percent of  the income for the tax period corresponding to each f iscal year, 

excluding the income derived f rom the transfer of  the participations and of  the real estate assets 

assigned both to the fulfilment of its main corporate purpose, once the maintenance period referred 

to in the following paragraph has elapsed, must come f rom the lease of  real estate assets or from 

dividends or shares in prof its f rom such participations. 

 
This percentage will be calculated on the result in the event that the Company is the Parent of  a 

group according to the criteria established in Article 42 of  the Commercial Code, regardless of 

residence and the obligation to prepare annual accounts. This group will be composed exclusively 

of  SOCIMIs and the rest of  the entities referred to in section 1 of  article 2 of  the Law that regulates 

it. 

 
The Company is the parent company of  the Almond Core Centre Socimi, S.A. Group and, as such, the 

investment requirements established in this section will be calculated on the consolidated f igures.  

 
o The real estate comprising the Group's assets must remain leased for at least three years. For the 

purposes of the calculation, the time that the properties have been offered for lease will be added, 

with a maximum of  one year. In this sense, the period will be computed: 

 
O In the case of  real estate that appears in the Group's assets prior to the time of applying the 

regime, f rom the starting date of  the f irst tax period in which the special tax regime 

established in this Law is applied, provided that at that date the property was leased or 

of fered for lease. Otherwise, the provisions of  the following letter shall apply. 

 
O In the case of  real estate developed or acquired subsequently by the Group, from the date on 

which it was f irs t  leased or of fered for lease. 
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o In the case of  shares or holdings of entities referred to in Article 2.1 of this Law, they must be 

held in the assets of the Group for at least three years from their acquisition or, as the case 

may be, f rom the beginning of the f irst tax period in which the special tax regime established 

in this Law is applied. 

 
2. Obligation to trade on regulated market or multilateral trading system (Art. 4) 

 
The shares of  SOCIMIs must be admitted to trading o n  a Spanish regulated market or on a multilateral 

trading system in Spain or in any other member state of  the European Union or the European Economic 

Area, or on a regulated market of any other country or territory with which there is an ef fective exchange of 

tax information, uninterruptedly throughout the tax period. The shares must be nominative. 

 
3. Minimum capital requirement (Art. 5) 

 
The minimum capital stock is established at 5 million euros.  

 
4. Obligation to distribute prof its (Art.6) 

 
The Parent Company must distribute as dividends to its shareholders, once the mercantile requirements 

have been met: 

 
O 100% of  the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by the entities referred to in section 

1 of  article 2 of  this Law. 

 
O At least 50% of the profits derived from the transfer of real estate and shares or participations referred 

to in section 1 of article 2 of the aforementioned Law, carried out after the minimum holding periods 

have elapsed, assigned to the fulfilment of its main corporate purpose. The remainder of  these profits 

must be reinvested in other real estate or shares or participations assigned to the fulfilment of said 

corporate purpose, within three years af ter the date of  transfer.  

 

O At least 80% of  the rest of  the prof its obtained. When the distribution of dividends is charged to 

reserves f rom profits of a year in which the special tax regime has been applied, the distribution must 

be made in the manner described above. 

 
The agreement for the distribution of dividends must be agreed within six months after the end of each fiscal 

year and paid within one month af ter the date of  the distribution agreement.  

 
As established in the First Transitional Provision of Law 11/2009, of October 26, 2009, as amended by Law 

16/2012, of  December 27, 2012, which regulates Listed Real Estate Investment Companies, it is possible to 

opt for the application of the special tax regime under the terms established in Article 8 of said Law, even if  

the requirements established therein are not met, provided that such requirements are met within the two 

years following the date of  the option to apply said regime.  
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Failure to comply with any of the above conditions will result in the Parent Company being taxed under the 

general corporate income tax regime as from the tax period in which the non-compliance occurs, unless it is 

remedied in the following year. In addition, the Parent Company will be obliged to pay, together with the tax 

liability for that tax period, the difference between the tax liability resulting from applying the general regime 

and t h e  tax liability paid as a result of  applying the special tax regime in previous tax periods, without 

prejudice to any late payment interest, surcharges and penalties, if  any, that may be applicable.  

 
The corporate income tax rate for SOCIMIs is 0%. However, when the dividends distributed by the SOCIMI 

to its shareholders with an ownership interest of more than 5% are exempt or taxed at a rate of  less than 

10%, the SOCIMI will be subject to a special tax of  19%, which will be treated as a corporate income tax 

liability, on the amount of the dividend distributed to such shareholders. If  applicable, this special tax must 

be paid by the SOCIMI within two months f rom the date of  distribution of  the dividend.  

 
In addition, according to Law 11/2021, of  July 9, on measures to prevent and combat tax f raud, which 

a m e n d s  SOCIMI Law 11/2009, of  October 26, for tax periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, the 

entity will be subject to a special tax of 15% on the amount of  the profits obtained in the year that are not 

subject to distribution, in the part that comes from income that has not been taxed at the general corporate 

income tax rate or income subject to the reinvestment period regulated in the aforementioned law. This tax 

will be treated as a corporate income tax liability.  

 
As of December 31, 2023, the Parent Company does not meet the requirement of being listed on a regulated 

market, being within the f irst two years in which it is exempt f rom complying with the requirements of  the 

SOCIMI regime. 

 
2. Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are all entities, including special purpose entities, over which the Group has or may have, 

directly or indirectly, control, understood as the power t o  govern the f inancial and operating policies of a 

business so as to obtain economic benefits from its activities. When assessing whether the Group controls 

another entity, the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 

are considered. Subsidiaries are consolidated f rom the date on which control is transferred  to the Group, and 

are excluded f rom consolidation on the date on which control ceases.  

 
Consolidation has been carried out by applying the full consolidation method to all subsidiaries, which are 

those in which the Group exercises or may exercise, directly or indirectly, control, understood as the power 

to govern the f inancial and operating policies of  a company in order to obtain economic benefits f rom its 

activities. This circumstance is generally, but not exclusively, evidenced by the direct or indirect ownership 

of  50% or more of  the voting rights of  the subsidiary.  
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The cases in which these companies are consolidated correspond to the situations contemplated in Art. 2 of 

the Standards for the Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements ("NOFCAC"), which are indicated 

below: 

 
1. When the Parent Company is, in relation to another company (subsidiary) in any of  the following 

situations: 

 
a. The Parent Company holds the majority of  the voting rights.  

 
b. That the Parent Company has the power to appoint or dismiss the majority of the members 

of  the administrative body. 

 
c. That the Parent Company may dispose, by virtue of  agreements entered into with other 

shareholders, of  the majority of  the voting rights. 

 
d. That the Parent Company has designated with its votes the majority of the members of the 

administrative body, who hold office at the time the consolidated financial statements are to 

be prepared and during the two immediately preceding f iscal years. This c ircumstance is 

presumed when the majority of the members of the administrative body of the dominated 

company are members of  the administrative body or senior executives of  the Parent 

Company or of  another company dominated by the Parent Company. 

 
2. When a parent company owns half  or less of t h e  voting r i g h t s , even when it has little or no 

ownership interest in another company, or when it has no explicit power of  management (special 

purpose entities), but participates in the risks and rewards of the entity, or has the capacity to participate 

in the operating and f inancial decisions of  the entity. 

 
As of  December 31, 2023, the subsidiaries included in the scope of  consolidation are as follows:  

 
Almond Core Centre Propco, S.L. (Sociedad Unipersonal) (formerly known as Green Centre Propco, 

S.L.U.) is a Spanish company with tax identification number B10899102, incorporated for an indef inite 

duration by deed executed before the Madrid Notary Public Mr. Manuel Richi Alberti on July 6, 2022, 

protocol number 2.574, registered in the Mercantile Registry of Madrid in Volume 43,871, Folio 40, Page 

M774151, Entry 1. The Company has not registered its sole proprietorship independently in the 

Mercantile Registry, as this situation has been obtained since its incorporation. Its registered office is 

located at Paseo de Recoletos, 37-41, 3 planta, 28004 Madrid. 

 
The Company's corporate purpose, in accordance with its bylaws, consists of the acquisition and 

development (including rehabilitation) of urban real estate for lease; as well as the performance of all 

acts ancillary to the aforementioned activity, insofar as they are directly related thereto. The Company 

may sell its assets under the terms and conditions set forth in Law 11/2009, of  October 26, 2009, on 

listed real estate investment trusts (SOCIMI) or the regulation that replaces it.  
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In addition, the Company may carry out other ancillary activities, being understood as such those whose 

income represents, as a whole, less than 20% of  the Company's income in each tax period or those 

that may be considered ancillary in accordance with the Law applicable at any given time. 

 
On March 14, 2023, the Parent Company acquired 100% of the shares of Almond Core Centre Propco, 

S.L. (Sole-Shareholder Company), being that date the date of  its entry into the Group's consolidation 

perimeter. 

 

The main data related to the Group's subsidiaries are as follows:  
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    Shareholders' 
equity (*) 

  

Name/Address/Activity 
% of  direct 
participation Capital 

Other equity 
items Exploitation 

Income for the 
year 

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity 

Almond Core Centre Propco, 
S.L.U. (**) 

100% 3,000.00 20,741,220.73 (383,032.16) (383,032.16) 20,361,188.57 

Paseo de Recoletos 37-41, 3 
f loor 28004 Madrid 

      

Lease of  real estate       

(*) Data as they appear in the individual f inancial statements of  the subsidiaries.  
(**) Companies that meet the requirements set forth in Article 2, paragraph 1 of  Law 11/2009.  
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3. Basis of presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
3.1. Applicable f inancial reporting f ramework 

 
These consolidated f inancial statements have been prepared in accordance with current mercantile 

legislation, contained in the Commercial Code, with the rules established in the General Accounting Plan 

approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 and the amendments incorporated to it by Royal Decree 1159/2010, 

Royal Decree 602/2016 and Royal Decree 1/2021, and Royal Decree 1159/2010, of September 17, which 

approves the rules for the preparation of consolidated f inancial statements (NOFCAC) and its subsequent 

amendments with Royal Decree 1/2021, of  January 12. 

 
In addition, the provisions of Law 11/2009, of  October 26, 2009, as amended by Law 16/2012, of  December 

27, 2012, and Law 11/2021, of  July 9, 21, which regulates Listed Real Estate Investment Companies 

(SOCIMI) have been taken into account in relation to the information to be included in these consolidated 

f inancial statements. 

 
3.2. Imaqen faithful 

 
The accompanying consolidated f inancial statements have been obtained f rom the accounting records of 

the Parent Company and subsidiaries and are presented in accordance with the applicable regulatory 

f inancial reporting framework and, in particular, the accounting principles and criteria contained therein, so 

as to present fairly the Group's net worth, f inancial position and results, as well as the true and fair view of  

the cash f lows included in the consolidated statement of  cash f lows.  

 
3.3. Accounting principles 

 
No non-mandatory accounting principles have been applied. In addition, the Parent Company's Board of  

Directors has prepared these Consolidated Financial Statements taking into consideration all the 

mandatory accounting principles and standards that have a signif icant ef fec t on these Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 

 
There is no accounting principle that, being mandatory, has ceased to be applied.  

 
3.4. Line item grouping 

 
In order to facilitate the understanding of the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of 

income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash f lows, these 

statements are grouped together and the required analyses are included in the corresponding notes to the 

consolidated f inancial statements. 

 
3.5. Critical aspects of  uncertainty valuation and estimation 

 
At year-end, the Parent Company's directors are not aware of  any uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that may cast signif icant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern.  
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In the preparation of  these Consolidated Financial Statements, estimates have been made by the Parent 

Company's Board of Directors. All estimates have been made on the basis of the best information available 

at year-end; however, it is possible that events that may occur in the future may make it necessary to modify 

these estimates (upwards or downwards) in future years , which will be made prospectively, if  necessary. 

 
a) The Group analyzes annually whether there are indicators of impairment for f inancial assets by 

performing impairment tests when circumstances so indicate. For this purpose, the recoverable value 

of  the aforementioned assets is determined. 

 
The calculation of fair values may involve the determination of future cash flows and the assumption of 

assumptions related to the future values of those cash flows, as well as the discount rates applicable to 

them. The estimates and related assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

considered reasonable according to the circumstances surrounding the Group's business.  

 
The valuation of non-current assets, other than financial assets, requires estimates to be made in order 

to determine their fair value for the purpose of  a s s e s s i n g  possible impairment, especially 

investment property. 

 
b) Useful lives of  investment property. The Group determines the estimated useful lives and the 

corresponding depreciation charges for the Investment Property. The useful life of  the Investment 

Property is estimated in relation to the period in which the elements included under this caption will 

generate economic benefits and considering their residual value. The Group reviews the useful life of 

the Investment Property at each balance sheet date and if  the estimates differ f rom those previously 

made, the ef fect of the change is accounted for prospectively from the year in which the change is made. 

 
c) In addition, the Parent Company is subject to the regime established in Law 11/2009, of October 26, 

2009, which regulates Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (SOCIMI), which in practice means 

that, subject to compliance with certain requirements, the Parent Company is subject to a corporate 

income tax rate of  0%. The Parent Company's Board of  Directors monitors compliance with the 

requirements established in the legislation in order to safeguard the tax advantages established therein. 

In this sense, t h e  Management Body estimates that these requirements will be met within the terms 

and deadlines established, and does not proceed to record any type of result derived f rom Corporate 

Income Tax. 

 
3.6. Going concern 

 
As of  December 31, 2023, the Group has a positive working capital of  8,636,865.00 euros.  
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In this context, the Parent Company's directors have prepared these consolidated financial statements on a 

going concern basis, which assumes the recovery of assets and the settlement of liabilities for the amounts 

and according to the classif ication in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 

 
4. Recording and valuation standards 

 
The principal accounting and valuation standards used by the Group in the preparation of its consolidated 

f inancial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, in accordance with the applicable f inancial 

reporting f ramework described in Note 2 to these consolidated f inancial statements, are as follows.  

 
4.1. Principles of consolidation applied 

 
Control acquisition 

 
Acquisitions by the Parent Company (or another Group company) of control of a subsidiary constitute a 

business combination that is accounted for using the acquisition method. This method requires the acquiring 

company to account, at the acquisition date, for the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a 

business combination, as well as, if  applicable, the related goodwill or negative goodwill. Subsidiaries are 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group, and are excluded from consolidation 

on the date on which control ceases. 

 
The acquisition cost is determined as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets delivered, liabilities 

incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the acquirer and the fair value of  any contingent 

consideration that depends on future events or the fulfillment of certain conditions, which should be recorded 

as an asset, liability or equity according to their nature.  

 
Expenses related to the issuance of the equity instruments or f inancial liabilities delivered do not form part 

of  the cost of the business combination and are recorded in accordance with the rules applicable to financial 

instruments (Note 4.5). Fees paid to legal advisors or other professionals involved in the business 

c o m b i n a t i o n  are expensed as incurred. Neither are the expenses generated internally for these items, 

nor those incurred by the acquired entity, if  any, included in the cost of  the combination. 

 
The excess, at the acquisition date, of the cost of the business combination over the proportional part of the 

value of  the identif iable assets acquired less that of the liabilities assumed, representing the interest in the 

capital of the acquired company, is recognized as goodwill. In the exceptional case that this amount exceeds 

the cost of  the business combination, the excess is recognized in the income statement as income.  
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Acquisition in stages 

 
When control over a subsidiary is acquired through several transactions performed on dif ferent dates, 

goodwill (or the negative dif ference) is obtained by dif ferentiating between the cost of  the business 

combination, plus the fair value at the acquisition date of any previous investment of the acquiring company 

in the acquiree, and the value of the identifiable assets acquired less the value of  the liabilities assumed.  

 
Any gain or loss arising as a result of  the measurement at fair value on the date on which control of the 

acquirer's previous interest in the acquiree is obtained is recognized in the income statement.  

 
If  the investment had previously been valued at fair value, the valuation adjustments pending to be charged 

to income for the year are transferred to the consolidated income statement.  

 
Consolidation method 

 
The assets, liabilities, income, expenses, cash flows and other items in the Group's financial statements are 

included in the Group's consolidated f inancial statements using the full consolidation method. This method 

requires the following: 

 
a) Temporal homogenization. 

 
The consolidated f inancial statements are drawn up as of  the same date and for the same period as the 

f inancial statements of  the company required to be consolidated.  

 
The inclusion of companies whose year-end is different from that of the consolidated financial statements is 

made through interim financial statements as of the same date and for the same period as the consolidated 

f inancial statements. 

 
b) Valuation homogenization. 

 
The assets and liabilities, income and expenses and other items in the f inancial statements of  the Group 

companies have been valued using uniform methods. Those asset or liability items, or those items of income 

or expenses that have been valued according to non-uniform criteria with respect to those applied in 

consolidation have been revalued, making the necessary adjustments, for the sole purpose of consolidation. 

 
c) Aggregation. 

 
The dif ferent items of the individual financial statements previously homogenized are aggregated according 

to their nature. 
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d) Elimination of  net investment-equity. 

 
The book values representing the equity instruments of the subsidiary held, directly or indirectly, by the 

parent company are offset against the proportional part of the equity items of the aforementioned subsidiary 

attributable to those holdings, generally on the basis of the values resulting f rom applying the acquisition 

method described above. In consolidations subsequent to the year in which control was acquired, the excess 

or def icit of equity generated by the subsidiary since the acquisition date that is attributable to the parent 

company is presented in the consolidated balance sheet under reserves or adjustments for changes in value, 

depending on their nature. The portion attributable to minority interests is recorded under " Mino rity  

interests". 

 
e) Participation of  external partners. 

 
The valuation of minority interests is based on their ef fective interest in the net worth of the subsidiary after 

incorporating the above adjustments. Goodwill on consolidation is not attributed to minority interests. The 

excess between the losses attributable to minority interests in a subsidiary and their proportionate share of 

equity is attributed to them, even if  this results in a debit balance in this item. 

 
The Group has no external partners since the subsidiaries are wholly owned by the Parent Company.  

 
f ) Elimination of  intragroup items. 

 
Receivables and payables, income and expenses and cash flows between Group companies are eliminated 

in full. Likewise, all the results produced by internal operations are eliminated and deferred until they are 

realized against third parties outside the Group. 

 
Change in shareholding without loss of control 

 
Once control over a subsidiary has been obtained, subsequent transactions that give rise to a change in the 

parent company's interest in the subsidiary, without resulting in a loss of control over the latter, are considered 

in the consolidated f inancial statements a s  a transaction involving equity  securities, and the following 

rules are applied: 

 
- There is no change in the amount of  goodwill or negative difference recognized, nor in the amount 

of  other assets and liabilities recognized; 

 
- The prof it or loss that would have been recognized in the individual accounts is eliminated, in 

consolidation, with the corresponding adjustment to the reserves of the company whose shareholding 

is reduced; 

 
- The amounts of  "Adjustments for changes in value" and "Grants, donations and legacies" are 

adjusted to ref lect the participation in the subsidiary's capital held by Group companies;  
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- The share of  minority interests in the subsidiary's equity will be shown on the basis of the percentage 

of  ownership that third parties outside the Group hold in the subsidiary, af ter the transaction, which 

includes the percentage of ownership in the goodwill recorded in the consolidated financial statements 

associated with the change that has occurred; 

 
The necessary adjustment resulting f rom points a), b) and c) above will be recorded in 
reserves. 

 
Loss of control 

 
When control of  a subsidiary is lost, the following rules apply:  

 
- The prof it or loss recognized in the individual f inancial statements is adjusted for consolidation 

purposes; 

 
- If  the subsidiary is classified as a jointly controlled entity or associate, it is consolidated and the 

equity method is initially applied, considering for initial valuation purposes, the fair value of the retained 

interest at that date; 

 
- The equity interest in the subsidiary retained after the loss of control and which does not belong to 

the scope of  consolidation is valued in accordance with the criteria applicable to f inancial assets, 

considering the fair value at the date on which it ceases to belong to the scope of consolidation as the 

initial valuation; 

 
An adjustment is recognized in the consolidated income statement to show the share of minority interests in 

the income and expenses generated by the subsidiary in the year up to the date of loss of control, and in the 

transfer to the income statement of  the income and expenses recognized directly in equity.  

 
4.2. Real estate investments 

 
The "Investment Property" caption in the consolidated balance sheet includes the value of  land, buildings 

and other structures held either for rental purposes or for capital appreciation, or both.  

 
The items included in this caption are valued at cost, which corresponds to their acquisition price.  

 
The purchase price includes, in addition to the amount invoiced by the seller after deduction of any discounts 

or rebates on the price, all additional and directly related costs incurred until it is put into working condition.  

 
Subsequently, the aforementioned items of  investment property are valued at acquisition cost less 

accumulated depreciation and, if applicable, the accumulated amount of  recognized impairment losses.  
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The depreciation of these items is performed systematically and rationally based on the useful life of  the 

assets and their residual value, taking into account the depreciation that they normally suffer f rom their 

operation, use and enjoyment, without prejudice to the consideration of  any technical or commercial 

obsolescence that may affect them. In the case of  the Group's properties, depreciation does not begin until 

the refurbishment work has been completed and they are in working condition (capable of  producing 

expenses and income). 

 
Changes, if  any, in the residual value, useful life and depreciation method of an asset would be accounted 

for as changes in accounting estimates, except in the case of  an error.  

 
Maintenance or repair costs of investment property that do not improve the future cash f lows of the cash-

generating unit in which they are included, or its useful life, are charged to the expense accounts included in 

the consolidated income statement for the year in which they are incurred. 

 
Financial expenses directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of items of investment property that 

require more than one year to be ready for use are included in their cost until they are ready for use.  

 
At year-end the Group assesses whether there are indications that any investment property may be impaired, 

in which case it estimates the recoverable amounts by making the appropriate valuation adjustments.  

 
The recoverable amount is the higher of  fair value less costs to sell and value in use. When the carrying 

amount is greater than the recoverable amount, an impairment loss occurs. Value in use is the present value 

of  expected future cash flows, using risk-free market interest rates, adjusted for the specific risks associated 

with the asset. 

 
Impairment losses are reversed when the circumstances that gave rise to them cease to exist, except for 

goodwill. The reversal of  the impairment is limited to the book value of  the asset if  the corresponding 

impairment had not been previously recognized. 

 
4.3. Financial assets 

Classif ication 

Financial assets held by the Group are classif ied as f o l lows : 

 
1. Financial assets at amortized cost. Includes f inancial assets, including those admitted to trading on 

an organized market, for which the Group holds the investment with the objective of receiving the 

cash f lows derived f rom the execution of the contract, and the contractual conditions of the asset 

give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely collections of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding. In general, they are included in this category: 
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a) Trade receivables: arising from the sale of goods or the rendering of services in connection 

with trade transactions with deferred payment, and  

 
b) Non-trade receivables: arise from loan or credit transactions granted by the Group for which 

collections are of  a determined or determinable amount.  

 
Initial assessment 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost are initially measured at fair value, which, unless there is evidence to the 

contrary, is the transaction price, which is the fair value of  the consideration given, plus directly attributable 

transaction costs. 

 
However, trade receivables maturing in less than one year and which do not have an explicit contractual 

interest rate, as well as receivables f rom personnel, dividends receivable and disbursements required on 

equity instruments, the amount of  which is expected to be received in the short term, are valued at their 

nominal value to the extent that the effect of not discounting cash flows is not considered to be signif icant. 

 
Subsequent appraisal 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost are recorded by applying this valuation criterion, charging to the income 

statement the interest accrued by applying the ef fective interest rate method.  

 
However, loans maturing in less than one year which, in accordance with the provisions of the preceding 

paragraph, are initially valued at their nominal value, continue to be valued at that amount, unless they have 

been impaired. 

 
Impairment 

 
At least at year-end the Group performs an "impairment test" for financial assets that are not recorded at fair 

value through profit or loss. Objective evidence of impairment is considered t o  exist if  the recoverable 

amount of the financial asset is less than its carrying amount. In any case, for equity instruments at fair value 

with changes in equity, impairment is presumed to exist if  their market price has fallen by one and a half  

years or 40%, without the value having been recovered. Impairment i s  recorded in the income statement. 
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T h e  Group derecognizes f inancial assets when they expire or when the rights to the cash f lows of the 

related f inancial asset have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have 

been transferred, such as in f irm asset sales, factoring of trade receivables in which the company does not 

retain any credit or interest rate risk or securitizations of f inancial assets in which the transferor does not 

retain any subordinated f inancing or grant any type of  guarantee or assume any other type of  risk. 

 
On the other hand, the Group does not derecognize f inancial assets, and recognizes a f inancial liability for 

an amount equal to the consideration received, in transfers of financial assets in which it substantially retains 

the risks and rewards of  ownership, such as bill discounting, factoring with recourse, sales of f inancial assets 

with repurchase agreements at a fixed price or at the sale price plus interest, and securitizations of financial 

assets in which the transferor retains subordinated f inancing o r other types of guarantees that absorb 

substantially all the expected losses. 

 
4.4. Financial liabilities 

Classif ication 

Financial liabilities assumed or incurred by the Group are f inancial liabilities at amortized cost. These are 

debits and payables of the Group arising from the purchase of goods and services in the Group's ordinary 

course of business, or those which, without having a commercial origin and not being derivative instruments, 

arise f rom loan or credit transactions received by the Group.  

 
Assets and liabilities are presented separately in the balance sheet and are only presented at their net 

amount when the Group has the enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and, in addition, intends 

to settle the amounts on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

 
Initial assessment 

 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially measured at fair value, which, unless there is evidence to 

the contrary, is the transaction price, which is the fair value of the consideration received adjusted for directly 

attributable transaction costs. 

 
However, trade payables maturing in less t h a n  one year and which do not have a contractual interest 

rate, as well as disbursements required by third parties on participations, the amount of which is expected to 

be paid in the short term, are valued at their nominal value to the extent that the effect of not discounting the 

cash f lows is not considered to be signif icant. 
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Subsequent appraisal 

 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are valued by applying this valuation criterion, charging to the income 

statement the interest accrued by applying the ef fective interest rate method.  

 
However, debts maturing in less than one year which, in accordance with the provisions of the preceding 

paragraph, are initially valued at their nominal value, continue to be valued at that amount.  

 
The Group derecognizes f inancial liabilities when the obligations that generated them are extinguished.  

 
4.5. Cash and cash equivalents  

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits on demand and f inancial instruments that 

are convertible into cash, provided that there is no significant risk of changes in value and they are part of  

the Group's normal cash management policy. 

 
4.6. Net worth 

 
The Parent Company's capital stock is represented by common shares.  

 
The costs of issuing new shares or options are presented directly against shareholders ' equity, as a reduction 

of  reserves. 

 
In the case of acquisition of the Parent Company's own shares, the consideration paid, including any directly 

attributable incremental cost, is deducted f rom equity until cancellation, reissue or disposal.  

 
When these shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any amount received, net of any directly attributable 

incremental transaction costs, is included in equity.  

 
The Parent Company's shares are not admitted to trading on any regulated market and are within the f irst 

two years in which it is exempt f rom complying with the requirements of  the SOCIMI regime described in 

Note 1 to these consolidated f inancial statements. 

 
4.7. Prof it taxes General regime 

Income tax expense or income is the amount of  income tax expense or income accrued in the year, 

comprising both current and deferred tax expense or income. 

 
Both current and deferred tax expense or income is recorded in the income statement. However, the tax 

ef fect related to items that are recorded directly in equity  is recognized in equity. 
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Current tax is the amount payable by the Group as a result of  income tax assessments for a given year. 

Deductions and other tax benefits on the tax liability, excluding withholdings and payments on account, as 

well as tax loss carryforwards f rom previous years and ef fectively applied to the current year, result in a 

lower amount of  current tax. 

 
Deferred tax expense or income relates to the recognition and derecognition of deferred tax assets and 

liabilities. These include temporary differences, which are identif ied as those amounts expected to be 

payable or recoverable arising f rom differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and 

their tax value, as well as tax loss carryforwards and credits for tax deductions not applied for tax purposes. 

These amounts are recorded by applying to the corresponding temporary difference or credit the tax rate at 

which they are expected to be recovered and settled.  

 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except those arising f rom the 

initial recognition of goodwill or other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable profit 

nor accounting prof it and is not a business combination. 

 
Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is considered probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which they can be utilized. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from transactions charged or credited directly to equity accounts 

are also recorded with a balancing entry in equity.  

Deferred tax is determined by applying the approved tax rates and regulations and is expected to be applied 

when the related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.  

 
At each balance sheet date, the deferred tax assets recorded are reconsidered and the appropriate 

adjustments are made to the extent that there are doubts as to their future recoverability. Likewise, deferred 

tax assets not recorded in the balance sheet are assessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized 

to the extent that it becomes probable that they will be recovered with future tax benef its.  

 
SOCIMI Regime 

 
On July 19, 2023, and with retroactive ef fect as f rom January 1, 2023, the Parent Company and its 

subsidiaries notified the State Tax Administration Agency of their decision to avail themselves of the special 

SOCIMI tax regime regulated b y  Law 11/2009, as amended by Law 16/2012, of December 27, and by Law 

11/2021, of  July 9, which regulates Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (Sociedades Anónimas 

Cotizadas Cotizadas de Inversión en el Mercado Inmobiliario).  



ALMOND CORE CENTER SOCIMI, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

26 

 

 

 
 

Entities that meet the requirements def ined in the regulations and opt for the application of the special tax 

regime provided for in the Law will be taxed at a 0% corporate income tax rate. In the event of  generating 

tax loss carryforwards, the following article will not apply  

26 of  Law 27/2014, of  November 27, 2014, on Corporate Income Tax. Neither are the deductions and 

allowances established in Chapters II, III and IV of  the aforementioned law applicable. In all other matters 

not provided for in the SOCIMI Law, the provisions of the Corporate Income Tax Law will be applicable in 

addition. 

 
As established in Article 9 of  the SOCIMI Law, the Parent Company will be subject to a special tax rate of  

19% on the full amount of  dividends or shares in prof its distributed to shareholders whose interest in the 

capital stock of the entity is equal to or greater than 5%, provided that such dividends are exempt or taxed 

at a tax rate of  less than 10%. This tax will be treated as a corporate income tax liability.  

 
In addition, the Parent Company will be subject to a special tax of 15% on the amount of the profits obtained 

in the year that are not distributed, in the part that comes from income that has not been taxed at the general 

corporate income tax rate or income subject to the reinvestment period regulated in Article 6 of the SOCIMI 

Law. This tax will also be considered as a corporate income tax liability.  

 
The application of  the SOCIMI regime described above will be applied as f rom January 1, 2023, 

notwithstanding the fact that the Parent Company and its subsidiaries do not comply with all the requirements 

for its application, since, by virtue of the First Transitional Provision of Law 11/2009 of  the SOCIMI regime, 

the Parent Company has two years f rom the date of the option for the application of the regime to comply 

with all the requirements demanded by the regulation. 

 
4.8. Provisions and contingencies  

 
In preparing the consolidated f inancial statements, the Group distinguishes between: 

 
a) Provisions: credit balances covering current obligations arising from past events, the settlement of 

which is probable to result in an outf low of  resources, but which are uncertain as to their amount 

and/or timing. 

 
b) Contingent liabilities: possible obligations arising from past events, the future realization of which is 

conditional on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events beyond the Group's 

control. 

 
At year-end it has not been necessary to record any provision, nor has the existence of contingent liabilities 

been detected. 
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4.9. Revenues and 

expenses Revenue 

recognition 

The Group follows a process for recording revenue f rom contracts with customers, which consists of the 

following steps: 

 
a) Identify the contract with the customer, understood as an agreement between two or more parties 

that creates enforceable rights and obligations for them. 

 
b) Identify the obligation or obligations to be fulfilled in the contract, representative of the commitments 

to transfer goods or provide services to a customer.  

 
c) Determine the transaction price, or contract consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 

in exchange for the transfer of  goods or provision of  services committed to the customer.  

 
d) Assign the transaction price to the obligations to be fulfilled, which should be based on the individual 

sales prices of each different good or service committed to in the contract, or, if applicable, following 

an estimate of  the sales price when the same is not independently observable.  

 
e) To recognize revenue f rom ordinary activities when the Group fulfills a committed obligation through 

the transfer of a good or the rendering of  a service; fulfillment that takes place when the customer 

obtains control of that good or service, so that the amount of revenue recognized will be the amount 

assigned to the contractual obligation satisf ied. 

 
The Group recognizes revenue f rom a contract when control over the committed goods or services is 

transferred to the customer. 

For each obligation to be fulf illed that is identif ied, the Group determines at the beginning of  the contract 

whether the commitment undertaken is fulf illed over time or at a specif ic point in time.  

 
Revenue f rom commitments that are fulfilled over time is recognized on the basis of the degree of progress 

towards complete fulfillment of the contractual obligations, provided that the Group has reliable information 

to measure the degree of  progress. 

 
In the case of  contractual obligations that are fulf illed at a certain point in time, the revenues derived from 

their execution are recognized at that date. 

 
Fulf illment of  the obligation over time 

 
The Group transfers control of  an asset over time when one of  the following criteria is met:  
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a) The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's activity 

as the entity develops it. 

 
b) The Group produces or improves an asset that the customer controls as the activity develops.  

 
c) The Group develops a customer-specific asset with no alternative use and the Group has an 

enforceable right to payment for the activity that has been completed to date.  

 
Indicators of compliance with the obligation at a given point in time 

 
In order to identify the specific moment at which the customer obtains control of the asset, the Group 

considers the following indicators: 

 
a) The customer assumes the signif icant risks and rewards of  ownership of  the asset.  

b) The Group transfers physical possession of  the asset.  

c) The customer receives the asset in accordance with the contractual specif ications.  

d) The Group has a collection right for transferring the asset.  

e) The customer has ownership of  the asset. 

 
Valuation 

 
Revenue f rom the sale of goods and the rendering of services is measured at the monetary amount or, where 

appropriate, at the fair value of the consideration received or expected to be received. The consideration is 

the price agreed for the assets to be transferred to the customer, less: the amount of any discounts, price 

rebates or other similar items that the Group may grant, as well as interest incorporated in the face value of 

the receivables. 

 
In accordance with the accrual principle, revenues are recorded with the transfer of  control and expenses 

are recorded when they occur, regardless of  the date of  collection or payment. 

The Group applies the practical expedient for short-term advances received f rom customers. That is, the 

consideration is not adjusted for the ef fects of  a significant f inancial component if  the period between the 

transfer of  the promised good or service and payment is one year or less.  

 
The Group records other revenues that do not correspond to contracts with customers:  

 
a) Dividend income from investments: is recognized when the shareholders' rights to receive payment 

have been established. In application of the criteria stated by the Spanish Accounting and Auditing 

Institute, through BOICAC No. 79, on the accounting classif ication in individual accounts of  the 

income and expenses of a holding company applying the PGC approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007 

and on the determination of the net turnover o f  this entity, dividends and interest on loans granted 

to its investees are included as an integral part of  the net turnover (see Notes 10.1 and 11.1). 
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b) Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 

the ef fective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that equals the estimated future cash flows 

over the expected life of  the asset to its carrying amount. 

 
Recognition of  qastos 

 
Expenses are recognized in the income statement when there is a decrease in future economic benefits 

related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability that can be measured reliably. This implies that 

the recording of an expense occurs simultaneously with the recording of the increase in the liability or 

reduction of  the asset. 

 
An expense is recognized immediately when a disbursement does not generate future economic benefits or 

when it does not meet the requirements for recognition as an asset.  

 
Contract balances  

 
a) Contract assets 

 
When the Group has an unconditional right to the consideration, irrespective of the transfer of control of the 

assets, a collection right is recognized under "Trade and other receivables" of current or non-current assets, 

as appropriate for its maturity based on its normal operating cycle.  

 
When control of a contract asset is transferred without an unconditional right to turnover, the Group records 

a right to the consideration for the transfer of control. This right to the consideration for transfer of control is 

derecognized when an unconditional right to receive the consideration arises. However, it is tested for 

impairment at year-end in the same manner as unconditional rights. 

 
These balances are presented, as are unconditional receivables, under trade accounts receivable. They are 

classif ied as current or non-current depending on their maturity. 

 
b) Contract liabilities 

 
If  the customer pays the consideration, or has an unconditional right to receive it, before the good or service 

is transferred to the customer, the Group recognizes a contract liability when payment has been made or is 

due. 

 
These contract liabilities are presented in customer advances under trade and other payables or long-term 

accruals according to their maturity. 

 
4.10. Classif ication of  assets and liabilities between current and non-current 

 
The Group presents the balance sheet classifying assets and liabilities as current and non-current. For these 

purposes, current assets or liabilities are those that meet the following criteria:  
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Assets are classif ied as current when they are expected to be realized or are intended to be sold or 

consumed in the course of the Group's normal operating cycle, are held primarily for the purpose of trading, 

are expected to be realized within twelve months af ter the reporting date or are cash or cash equivalents, 

except when they cannot be exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months af ter the 

reporting date. 

 
Liabilities are classified as current when they are expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating 

cycle, are held primarily for trading, a r e  due to be settled within twelve months from the reporting date or 

the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liabilities during the twelve months 

following the reporting date. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as current when they are due to be settled within twelve months after the 

reporting date, even if  the original term is for a period longer t h a n  twelve months and there is a ref inancing 

or restructuring agreement for long-term payments that was concluded af ter the reporting date and before 

the abridged f inancial statements are prepared. 

 
4.11. Related party transactions 

 
In general, transactions between group companies are initially recorded at fair value. If  the agreed price 

dif fers f rom the fair value, t h e  dif ference is recorded based on the economic reality of  the transaction. 

Subsequent valuation is carried out in accordance with the provisions of  the corresponding standards.  

 
4.12. Environment 

 
An environmental activity is considered to be any operation whose main purpose is to prevent, reduce or 

repair the damage that may be caused to the environment as a result of  its activities.  

Given the nature of  its business, the Group does not have any environmental assets.  

 
4.13. Functional currency 

 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in euros as this is the functional currency of the main 

economic environment in which the Group operates. 

 
4.14. Statement of  cash f lows 

 
In the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the following expressions are used in the following senses:  

 
- Cash f lows: inf lows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, understood as current investments 

with high liquidity and low risk of  changes in value.  
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- Operating activities: typical operating activities, as well as other activities that cannot be classif ied 

as investing or f inancing activities. 

 
- Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or disposal by other means of  non-current assets and 

other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.  

 
- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of  equity and 

liabilities that are not part of  operating activities.  

 
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated statement of cash f lows, "Cash and cash equivalents" has 

been considered to be cash and demand bank deposits, as well as highly liquid current investments, which 

are easily convertible into specific amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their 

value. 

 
5. Financial Risk Management 

 
5.1. Financial risk factors 

 
The Group's activities are exposed to various f inancial risks such as market risk, foreign exchange risk, 

interest rate risk and liquidity risk, in addition to risks associated with the real estate market. This note 

presents information on the Group's exposure to each of  these risks, the Group's objectives, policies and 

procedures for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's capital management.  

 
The Group's main f inancial instruments comprise loans, trade and other payables, trade and other 

receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The Group also uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 

its exposure to  f inancial risks, although there is no obligation to hedge them.  

 
In particular, Group companies that directly or indirectly hold investments in the real estate market do not 

actively hedge against risks associated with real estate through derivative f inancial instruments.  

 
In preparing this note, we have taken into a c c o u n t  current facts and circumstances, as well as what are 

considered normal market practices and acceptable levels of risk and exposure in the industry to which it 

belongs. 

 
5.2. Interest rate risk 

 
The Group's interest rate risk arises from financial debt. Loans issued at variable rates expose the Group to 

cash f low interest rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. Loans at f ixed interest rates 

expose the Group to interest rate risk on the fair value. 
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The Group analyzes its exposure to interest rate risk dynamically. Various scenarios are simulated, taking 

into account ref inancing, renewal of  current positions, alternative f inancing and hedging. Based on these 

scenarios, the Group calculates the ef fect on the result of a given change in the interest rate. For each 

simulation, the same interest rate variation is used for all currencies. The scenarios are only carried out for 

liabilities representing the most relevant positions subject to interest rates.  

 
5.3. Exchange rate risk 

 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk of  changes in the value of  the Group's assets caused by changes in 

exchange rates. The Group operates in Spain and has no operations in currencies other than the Euro, being 

the risk nil at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 
5.4. Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations when due. The Group's 

policy for managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as soon as possible, that there will always be sufficient liquidity 

to meet its obligations on the due date under normal and emergency conditions, so as not to incur 

unacceptable losses or risk damaging the Group's reputation.  

 
5.5. Real estate market risk 

 
The Group's real estate investment portfolio is subject to risks particular to real estate investments, including, 

but not limited to: 

 
Changes in macroeconomic conditions 

Changes in local or regional economic conditions Quality of  

property managers and managers Competition among 

potential buyers Availability of  debt and other f inancing  

Risks associated with development, including leases and construction delays Potential hidden 

liabilities and changes in environmental or land planning laws, as well as other impediments 

caused by changes in government regulation. Uninsured losses and 

Risk of  terrorism. 
 

5.6. Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is managed at Group level. The Group def ines the policy for managing and analyzing the credit 

risk of  its customers. The Group's risk control establishes the credit quality that the customer must possess, 

taking into account its f inancial position, past experience and other factors.  

 
The Group considers that it does not have significant concentrations of credit risk, this being understood as 

the impact that a default on accounts receivable may have on the income statement.  
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The realization of  any or all of the above risks could result in the Group's financial risks becoming material, 

which, overall, could af fect the Group's f inancial performance.  

 
6. Real estate investments 

 
The detail and movement of  this caption as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows:  

 

 

 

Land Buildings 

Euros 

Technical 
installations 
and other 

 

 
Construction in 

progress 

 

 

Total 

  

Net book value at 12/31/2022   -  
Additions 

Balance as of 12/31/2023 

Cost 
Net book value at 12/31/2023 

 

The Group's investment property corresponds to properties held for rental purposes.  

 
Since July 2023, the Group has carried out 43 sales and purchases of residential real estate assets, all of  

them in Madrid. The total acquisition cost of these assets amounted to 10,993,899.00 euros, with the Group 

having capitalized a total acquisition cost of 312,082.50 euros, and asset refurbishment work amounting to 

709,737.64 euros. In addition, the Group records under the heading Technical installations and others, the 

furniture and tools acquired for some of  the assets for a total amount of  53,893.04 euros. 

 
696,332.52 corresponding to commitments for the purchase and sale of real estate assets during the 2024 

f iscal year, either in the form of  advances for binding of fers or earnest money agreements.  

 
The Company holds its assets with the objective of  operating them under lease as f rom 2024.  

 
6.1. Fully depreciated assets 

 
As of  December 31, 2023, the Group has no fully depreciated investment property included in the 

consolidated balance sheet. 

 
6.2. Capitalization of  f inancial expenses  

 
The Group has not capitalized f inancial expenses as of  December 31, 2023.  

9.273.215,30 2.742.503,84 53.893,04 696.332,52 12.765.944,70 

9.273.215,30 2.742.503,84 53.893,04 696.332,52   12.765.944,70 

9 273.215,30 2.742.503,84 53.893,04 696.332.52   12.765.944,70 

9.273.215,30 2.742.003,84 53.893,04 696.332,52   12.765.944,70 
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6.3. Insurance 

 
The Group has taken out an insurance policy to cover the risks to which its property, plant and equipment 

are subject, and the directors consider that these policies are suf f icient.  

 
6.4. Impairment 

 
The Group has not carried out a valuation of its investment property since the purchase and sale of the same 

began in July, considering that the purchase and sale value is similar to the fair value of  the same, and 

therefore no impairment has been recorded as of  December 31, 2023. 

 
6.5. Guarantees and f inancing 

 
On December 29, 2023, the Group signed a loan agreement with mortgage guarantee on the asset located 

at 9, 4D, Lérida Street, Madrid, with Banca Pueyo, S.A. for the amount of 390,000.00 euros, which was made 

public on the same date (Note 10). 

 
7. Analysis of  f inancial instruments 

 
7.1. Category analysis 

Financial assets 

 
 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost (Note 8) 

Total 

 
Financial liabilities 

Short-term financial assets 
 

  Appropriations/Other  

2023 
 

  7.506.851,43  

  7.506.851,43  
 
 

 

Long-term financial liabilities 

Debts with credit 
institutions 

Derivatives/Other Total 

2023 2023 2023 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (Note 11) 369.920,89 6.758.644,33 7.128.565,22 

Total 369.920,89 6.758.644,33 7.128.565,22 

 

Short-term financial liabilities 
 

Debts with credit institutions Derivatives/Other Total 

   
        2023 2023 2023 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (Note 11) 18.129,11 173.890,30 192.019,41 

Total 18.129,11 173.890,30 192.019,41 

    

Total financial liabilities 388.050,00 6.932.534,63 7.320.584,63 
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7.2. Analysis by maturity (in euros) 

 
 

 
 

 
Other f inancial assets 
(note 8) 
Total 
 

 

 
Payable to credit 

institutions (Note 11) 
Payable to Group 
companies (Notes 11 
and 14) 
Other financial 

liabilities (Note 11) 
Total 

Financial assets   
 

 
8. Financial assets 

 
The detail of  the f inancial assets recorded as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows (in euros):  

 
 2023 

Sho rt -term f inancial assets at amortized cost:  

Current account with the Sole Shareholder (Note 14) 7.501.044,43 

Other f inancial assets   5.807,00  

Total   7.506.851,43  

Other f inancial assets 
 

The Group records in this caption at December 31 5,807.00 euros in 2023 in the amount of  

corresponding to various guarantees deposited with the Madrid City Council, mainly for waste management. 

 
9. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
The composition of  this caption as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows (in euros):  

 
 

 
Banks 

2023 
 

1.254.887,10 
 

1.254.887,10 
  

 

 

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028               Years 
 

Total 

7.506.851,43 -  -- 7.506.851,43 

7.506.851,43 -  -- 7.506.851,43 

    

 Financial liabilities   

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 
Years 

subsequent 
Total 

18.129,11 19.028,18 19.971,86 20.962,29 22.001,88 287.956,68 388.050,00 

       

99.047,24 - 6.758.644,33 - - - 6.857.691,57 

       

74.843,06 - - - - - 74.843,06 

192.019,41 19.028,18 6.778.616,19 20.962,29 22.001,88 287.956,68 7.320.584,63 
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10. Shareholders' equity 

 
10.1. Capital stock 

 
The share capital of  the Parent Company at December 31, 2023 amounts to 60,000.00 euros and is 

represented by 60,000 shares of 1 euro par value each, fully subscribed and paid up. On July 12, 2023, the 

shareholders of the Parent Company proceeded to pay an amount of  45,000.00 euros, outstanding as of  

December 31, 2022, af fecting the payment equally and proportionally to the 60,000 shares into which the 

capital stock of  the Company is divided. 

 
The companies that directly or indirectly participate in the capital stock of  the Parent Company in a 

percentage equal to or greater than 10% are the following: 

  

Number of  
shares 

Percentage 
of   
   participation

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l. 
                             
  4.975.000 99,50%   

 

At December 31, 2023 and 2022 the Parent Company does not comply with the requirement to be listed on 

a regulated market, being within the f irst two years in which it is exempt f rom complying with the requirements 

of  the SOCIMI regime. 

 
10.2. Reserves and negative results of  prior years 

 
 31/12/2023 

Reserves in the Parent Company: Other 

reserves of  the Parent Company 
 

(4.378,39) 

Negative results f rom previous years   (908,07)  

Total reserves of  the Parent Company   (5.286,46)  

Reserves in Consolidated Companies   (596,54)  

TOTAL (5.883,00) 

 
In accordance with the Spanish Corporations Law, the Parent Company must transfer 10% of its net income 

for the year to the legal reserve until the reserve reaches 20% of  capital stock. It may not exceed 20% of  

capital stock. The legal reserve may only be used to increase capital stock. Except for the aforementioned 

purpose, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of capital stock, it may only be used to offset losses, provided 

that suf f icient other reserves are not available for this purpose.  

 
As of  December 31, 2023, the legal reserve has not been established.  
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10.3. Other member contributions 

 
The balance of  this caption as of  December 31, 2023 amounts to 10,830,170.12 euros. 

The movements during the year 2023 have been as follows:  

o On July 11, September 26 and October 25, 2023, the Parent Company's General Shareholders' 

Meeting resolved to make cash contributions to the Parent Company's equity in the amounts of 

2,680,170.12 euros, 1,540,000.00 euros and 1,360,000.00 euros, respectively. 

 
o Also, on December 28, 2023, the Parent Company's General Shareholders' Meeting resolved to 

make a monetary contribution to the Parent Company's equity amounting to 5,250,000.00 euros, 

which was pending collection as of December 31, 2023, recorded as a short-term f inancial asset in 

the accompanying consolidated balance sheet (Notes 8 and 14). This amount was paid by the Parent 

Company's shareholders on January 3, 2024 (Note 18).  

 
10.4. Proposed distribution of  income 

 
At December 31, 2023, the Parent Company records losses amounting to 1,167,010.48 euros. The proposed 

distribution of the result by the members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors is to transfer this amount 

to the account of  negative results for the year. 

 
limitations on the distribution of dividends 

 
The Parent Company is obliged to transfer 10% of its net income for the year to the legal reserve until such 

reserve reaches at least 20% of  its capital stock. This reserve is not distributable to shareholders until it 

exceeds 20% of  capital stock. 

 
Given its status as a SOCIMI for tax purposes, the Parent Company is obliged to distribute as dividends to 

its shareholders, once the corresponding mercantile obligations have been met, the prof it obtained for the 

year as follows: 

 
a) 100% of  the profits from dividends or shares in profits distributed by the entities referred to in section 

1 of  article 2 of  the SOCIMI Law. 

 
b) At least 50% of  the profits derived from the transfer of real estate and shares or participations referred 

to in section 1 of article 2 of the aforementioned Law, carried out after the minimum holding periods 

have elapsed, and assigned to the fulfilment of its main corporate purpose. The remainder of  these 

prof its must be reinvested in other real estate or shares or participations assigned to the fulfilment of 

said corporate purpose, within three years af ter the date of  transfer.  
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c) At least 80% of  the rest of  the profits obtained. When the distribution of  dividends is charged to 

reserves f rom profits of a year in which the special tax regime has been applied, the distribution must 

be made in the manner described above. 

 
The agreement for the distribution of dividends must be agreed within six months after the end of each f iscal 

year and paid within one month af ter the date of  the distribution agreement.  

 
10.5. Contribution to consolidated income  

 
The contribution to consolidated results by company as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows (in euros):  

 

 

Individual 
results 

Eliminations 
and 

consolidation 
adjustments 

 

Results 
provided 

Almond Core Centre Socimi, S.A. (1,167,010.48) - (1,167,010.48) 

      Almond Core Centre Propco, S.L.U.     (383.032,16)         - (383.032,16)          

  (1.550.042,64)                         - (1.550.042,64)  

 

11. Financial liabilities 
 

The detail of  this caption as of  December 31,  2023 is as follows (in euros): 

 
 

Long -term f inancial liabilities at amortized cost: Due to 

credit institutions 

  2023  

 
369.920,89 

Payable to Group companies (Note 14)  6.758.644,33 

Total     7.128.565,22  

   2023  
Short -term f inancial liabilities at amortized cost:  

Debts with credit institutions 18.129,11 

Payable to Group companies (Note 14) 99.047,24 

Suppliers 3.086,71 

Creditors 71.756,35 

Total 192.019,41 

 
 

Total f inancial liabilities 
 

Debts with credit institutions 

7.320.584.63 

 

The Parent Company signed a loan agreement with mortgage guarantee on the asset located at calle Lérida 

9, 4D, Madrid, for the amount of  390,000.00 euros on December 29, 2023 with the f inancial entity Banca 

Pueyo, S.A. The nominal value at amortized cost as of December 31, 2023 amounts to 388,050.00 euros. 

The most relevant conditions are detailed below: 
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o The interest rate applicable during the f irst year is f ixed at 4.85%, and thereaf ter is the twelve-month 

EURIBOR plus 1.50%. 

 
o The loan must be repaid within the term of  the loan, in 180 constant monthly installments, comprising 

principal and interest, in arrears f rom the date of  formalization until December 29, 2038.  

 
As of  December 31, 2023, no interest has accrued on this f inancing. Sundry creditors 

The detail of payments for commercial transactions carried out during fiscal year 2023 and pending payment 

at the close of said fiscal year in relation to the maximum legal deadlines set forth in the Second Final 

Provision of Law 31/2014, of  December 3, which has been prepared by applying the Resolution of the 

Instituto de Contabilidad y Auditoría de Cuentas dated January 29, 2016; as well as the information required 

by Article 9 of  Law 18/2022, of  September 28, is as follows:  

 
 

 

 
Average payment period to suppliers 

Ratio of  paid transactions 

Ratio of  transactions pending payment 
 

 

 
Total payments made 

Total payments 

pending 

  31/12/2023  

  Days  

15,23 

15,23 

0,00 
 

Amount 
  (euros)  

2.454.792,73 

  0,00    

 
 

Number (units) 31/12/2023       

Invoices paid before the due date 
maximum legal deadline for payment to suppliers 

Percentage over total invoices to suppliers 

 
Volume (Euros) 

Invoices paid before compliance with the maximum 
legal deadline for payment to suppliers 

Percentage over total invoices to suppliers 

267 

98,89% 
 

31/12/2023 

 
2.452.309,18 

99,90% 

 

 

The "Average supplier payment period" shall be understood as the period elapsing f rom the date of  the 

invoice until the material payment of the transaction, according to the aforementioned Resolution of the 

Spanish Accounting and Auditing Institute (Instituto de Contabilidad y Auditoría de cuentas). 

 
This "Average supplier payment period" is calculated as the quotient formed in the numerator by the sum of 

the ratio of  transactions paid by the total amount of payments made plus the ratio of  transactions pending 

payment by the total amount of payments pending and, in the denominator, by the total amount of payments 

made and payments pending. 
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The ratio of  transactions paid is calculated as the quotient formed in the numerator by the sum of the products 

corresponding to the amounts paid, by the number of  days of payment (calendar days elapsed f rom the 

beginning of  the computation of  the term until the material payment of  the transaction) and, in the 

denominator, the total amount of  payments made. 

 
Also, the ratio of  transactions pending payment corresponding to the quotient formed in the numerator by 

the sum of  the products corresponding to the amounts pending payment by the number of  days pending 

payment (calendar days elapsed from the beginning of the computation of the period until the closing date 

of  the annual accounts) and, in the denominator, the total amount of  pending payments.  

 
12. Tax status 

12.1 .  Current balances with public administrations The 

detail of balances with public administrations is as follows 

 

 
 
 

as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows (in 

euros):  

 
Assets 

  2023  

H.P. withholding tax debtor   2.652,00  

Total assets 2.652,00 
  

   2023  
Liabilities  

H.P. creditor for withholding taxes 2.337,65 

Total liabilities 2.337,65 

 
12 .2 . Corporate income tax calculation  

 

The reconciliation between the income and expenses for the year and the taxable income for the year is as 

follows: 
 

Euros 

2023 

  Increases Decreases                 Net          

Aggregate balance of  revenues and expenses for the year 
corporate income tax 

(1.550.042,64) 

Aggregate income before taxes (1.550.042,64) 

 
Consolidation adjustments 

 

Consolidated taxable income (1.550.042,64) 
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The taxable income shown in the table above has been obtained by aggregating the calculations of the 

taxable income of the companies within the scope of consolidation, adjusted for consolidation adjustments. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it should be noted that the Group does not consolidate for tax purposes, and 

all the companies comprising it are taxed under the SOCIMI regime on an individual basis.  

 
The corporate income tax rate for SOCIMIs is 0%. However, when the dividends distributed by the SOCIMI 

to its shareholders with an ownership interest of  more than 5% are exempt or taxed at a rate of  less than 

10%, the SOCIMI will be subject to a special tax of  19%, which will be treated as a corporate income tax 

liability, on the amount of the dividend distributed to such shareholders. If  applicable, this special tax must be 

paid by the SOCIMI within two months f rom the date of  distribution of  the dividend.  

 
In addition, the entities will be subject to a special tax of 15% on the amount of  the profits obtained in the 

year that are not distributed, in the part that comes f rom income that has not been taxed at the general 

corporate income tax rate and is not income subject to the reinvestment period regulated in the 

aforementioned Law. This tax will be treated as a corporate income tax liability.  

 
For the tax loss carryforwards generated, Article 26 of  Law 27/2014, of  November 27, 2014, on Corporate 

Income Tax will not be applicable. Neither are the deductions and allowances established in Chapters II, III 

and IV of  the aforementioned law applicable. 

 
12 .3 . Fiscal years pending verif ication and inspection activities  

 
Under current legislation, taxes cannot be considered def initively settled until the returns f iled have been 

inspected by the tax authorities or the four-year statute of limitations period has elapsed. As a consequence, 

among others, of  the dif ferent possible interpretations of current tax legislation, additional liabilities could 

arise as a result of  an inspection. In any case, the members of  the Parent Company's Board of Directors 

consider that such liabilities, should they arise, would not significantly affect these consolidated f inancial 

statements. 

 
As of  December 31, 2023, the Group has the main taxes applicable to it since its incorporation open to 

inspection by the tax authorities. The members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors consider that the 

aforementioned taxes have been properly assessed and, therefore, even in the event that discrepancies 

arise in the interpretation of the current legislation due to the tax treatment granted to the transactions, any 

resulting liabilities, should they materialize, would not have a significant effect on these consolidated f inancial 

statements. 
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13. Revenues and expenses 

 
13.1. Other operating costs 

 
The balance of the "Other operating expenses" account in the accompanying consolidated income statement 

for the year 2023 is as follows (in euros): 

 

   2023  
External services:  

Repairs and maintenance 6.052,18 

Independent professional services 1.437.363,09 

Banking and similar services 3.995,84 

Supplies 2.286,06 

Other services 144,00 

Other taxes 1.154,23 

Total other operating expenses 1.450.995,40 
 

 
Under the heading "Independent professional services" the Group has recorded in 2023 an amount of  

17,000.00 euros in relation to the fees for the audit of the consolidated financial statements, corresponding 

to the audit of  the individual f inancial statements of  5,300.00 euros. There are no other types of s ervices 

provided by the auditor or by a f irm in its network. 

 
13.2.Financial result 

 
The balance of  the "Financial result" caption in the accompanying consolidated statement of income for the 

year 2023 is as follows (in euros): 

  2023  
Financial expenses: 

Intereses de deudas con empresas del Grupo (Nota 14) 
Total gastos f inancieros 

 

14. Balances and transactions with related parties 

 
14.1. Balances with related parties 

 

The breakdown of  balances with related parties as of  December 31, 2023 is as follows (in euros): 
 

   

 
Short-term related parties receivable 

  2023  

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l. 7.463.282,61 

Ursae Polaris, S.L. 26.380,91 

Elix Real Estate Services, S.L. 11.380,91 

TOTAL 7.501.044,43 
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 2023 

Long-term related party payables 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l. 
 

6.724.835,89 

Ursae Polaris, S.L. 23.670,15 

Elix Real Estate Services, S.L. 10.138,29 

TOTAL 6.758.644,33 

 
 2023 

Short-term accounts payable related parties 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l. 
 

98.558,80 

Ursae Polaris, S.L. 342,07 

Elix Real Estate Services, S.L. 146,37 

TOTAL 99.047,24 

 
 

TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE RELATED PARTIES   6.857.691,57  

 

7,501,044.43, correspond to the following items as of  December 31, 2023:  

 
1. 5,250,000.00 corresponds to the cash contribution made on December 28, 2023 by the Parent 

Company's shareholders and pending disbursement as of  December 28, 2023.  

18,375.00 to Ursae Polaris, S.L. and 7,875.00 to Elix Servicios Inmobiliarias, S.L. This amount was 

paid by the Parent Company's shareholders on January 3, 2024 (Note 18).  

 
2. An amount of  2,250,000.00 euros corresponds to the provision made on December 29, 2023 in 

relation to the long-term debts contracted with the Parent Company's shareholders detailed below, 

which remained o u t s t a n d i n g  as of  December 31, 2023, corresponding to an amount of  

2,238,750.00 euros to Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l., 7,785.00 euros to Ursae Polaris, S.L. 

and 3,375.00 euros to Elix Servicios Inmobiliarias, S.L. This amount was paid by the Parent 

Company's shareholders on January 3, 2024 (Note 18). 

 
3. An amount of  1,044.43 euros corresponding to payments of Parent Company invoices made by the 

Parent Company's shareholders on its behalf and pending reimbursement at December 31, 2023, 

corresponding to an amount of 782.61 euros to Tikehau Green Center Hold ing, S.á.r.l., 130.91 euros 

to Ursae Polaris, S.L. and 130.91 euros to Elix Servicios Inmobiliarias, S.L.  
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6,857,691.57 correspond to the following items as of  December 31, 2023:  

 
1. Loan agreement signed between the Group and the shareholder Tikehau Green Center Holding, 

S.á.r.l. on July 7, 2023 for a total amount of  70,000,000.00 euros and maturing on December 31, 

2026. 

 
On July 13, September 26, October 25 and December 28, 2023, the Group drew down loan amounts 

of  1,142,885.89 euros, 656,700.00 euros, 2,686,500.00 euros and 2,238,750.00 euros, respectively, 

with the latter amount pending disbursement by the shareholder as of  December 31, 2023, which 

was paid on January 3, 2024 (Note 18). Thus, at December 31,  2023, the Group has drawn down 

a total amount of  this loan of  6,724,835.89 euros. 

 
This loan is payable at a fixed interest rate of 8% and the interest accrued and payable at December 

31, 2023 amounted to 98,558.80 euros. Interest is payable at maturity of  the loan. 

 
2. Loan agreement signed between the Group and the shareholder Ursae Polaris, S.L. on July 12, 2023 

for a total amount of  73,500.00 euros and maturing on December 31, 2026.  

 
On July 13, September 26, October 25 and December 28, 2023, the -Group proceeded to draw down 

loan amounts of 4,035.15 euros, 2,310.00 euros, 9,450.00 euros and 7,875.00 euros, respectively, 

with the latter amount pending disbursement by the shareholder as of December 31, 2023 and which 

was paid on January 3, 2024 (Note 18). Thus, at December 31, 2023, the Group has drawn down a 

total amount of  this loan of  23,670.15 euros. 

 
This loan is payable at a f ixed interest rate of 8% and accrued and unpaid interest at December 31, 

2023 amounted to 342.07 euros. Interest is payable at maturity of  the loan. 

 
3. Loan agreement signed between the Group and the shareholder Elix Servicios Inmobiliarias, S.L. on 

July 12, 2023 for a total amount of  31,500.00 euros and maturing on December 31, 2026.  

 
On July 13, September 26, October 25 and December 28, 2023, the Group proceeded to draw down 

loan amounts of  1,723.29 euros, 990.00 euros, 4,050.00 euros and 3,375.00 euros, respectively, 

with the latter amount pending disbursement by the shareholder as of  December 31, 2023, which 

was paid on January 3, 2024 (Note 18). Thus, as of December 31, 2023, the Group has drawn down 

a total amount of  this loan of  10,138.29 euros. 

 
This loan is payable at a f ixed interest rate of 8% and accrued and unpaid interest at December 31, 

2023 amounted to 146.37 euros. Interest is payable at maturity of  the loan. 
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14.2. Related party transactions 

 
The breakdown of  related party transactions occurring during 2023 is as follows (in euros):  

 

 

Financial expenses 

Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l. 

Ursae Polaris, S.L. 

Elix Real Estate Services, S.L. 

  

  2023  

 
98.558,80 

342,07 

  146,37    

..................9...9.....0..4....7.. . .,. .2. .. .4.  . 
 

15. Remuneration of the Board of Directors and senior management 

 
During the year 2023, the members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors have not received any 

remuneration, nor have they been granted any advances or credits, and no obligations have been assumed 

on their behalf  as a guarantee. Likewise, the Parent Company has no pension or life insurance obligations 

with respect to the members of  the Board of  Directors.  

 
The Group has no personnel. 

 
Finally, during the 2023 f iscal year, the members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors have not 

carried out any transactions with the Parent Company or with Group companies outside the ordinary course 

of  business under conditions other than market conditions.  

 
Additionally, in compliance w i t h  the provisions o f  Organic Law 3/2007, the distribution by gender of the 

members of  the Parent Company's Board of  Directors as of  December 31, 2023 is shown below:  

  

 
Members of the Board of Directors Total 

   MenWomen  

  21   

  21    
 

Situations of  conf lict of  interest of  the members of  the Administrative Body  

 
The members of  the Board of Directors of the Parent Company and the persons related to them have not 

incurred in any situation of conflict of interest that has had to be reported in accordance with the provisions 

of  Articles 228, 229 and 231 of  the Capital Companies Act. 

 
16. Environmental information 

 
No investments of an environmental nature have been made during 2023. Neither have expenses been 

incurred for environmental protection and improvement purposes, nor have provisions been made for risks 

and expenses related to environmental actions. 
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The Group is not aware of  the existence of any contingencies related to the protection and improvement of 

the environment; therefore, it has not been considered necessary to record any provision for environmental 

risks and expenses. 

 
17. Information requirements deriving from the condition of SOCIMI, Law 11/2009, as amended by the 

Law 16/2012 and Law 11/2021. 

 
a) Reserves f rom years prior to the application of  the tax regime established in the SOCIMI Law. 

 
None. 

 
b) Reserves for each year in which the special regime established in the SOCIMI Law has been applicable: 

1. Income f rom income taxed at 0% tax rate 

2. Prof its f rom income subject to 19% tax rate 

3. Prof its f rom income subject to the 15% tax rate 

4. Prof its f rom income subject to the general tax rate None.  

c) Dividends distributed against prof its for each year in which the tax regime established in the SOCIMI 

Law has been applicable: 

1. Dividends f rom income subject to the 0% tax rate 

2. Dividends f rom income subject to the 19% tax rate 

3. Dividends f rom income subject to tax at the rate of  15%. 

4. Dividends f rom income subject to the general tax rate None.  

d) Dividends distributed with a charge to reserves: 

1. Subject to the 0% tax rate 

2. Subject to the 19% tax rate 

3. Subject to tax at the rate of  15%. 

4. Subject to the general tax rate 

None. 

e) Date of  agreement to distribute the dividends referred to in paragraphs c) and d) above.  

 
Not applicable. 

 
f ) Date of  acquisition of the properties intended for lease that produce income under this special regime of  

the SOCIMI Law. 

 
See detail in section h, where the assets and date of  acquisition are identif ied.  
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g) Date of  acquisition of the equity interests in entities referred to in section 1 of  article 2 of  the SOCIMI 

Law. 

 
On March 14, 2023, the Parent Company acquired 100% of  the shares of  Almond Core Centre Propco, 

S.L. (Sole-Shareholder Company). 

 
h) Identif ication of assets that are included in the 80% referred to in section 1 of  article 3 of  the SOCIMI 

Law. 

 
These are residential real estate assets, all of  which are located in Madrid:  

 
Active Net book value Date of acquisition 

Of the povedilla 4, 1a 429.562,17 30/11/2023 
Doctor esquerdo 122, 1b 479.207,50 28/11/2023 

Of huesca 29, 8izq 489.501,19 02/11/2023 

Tutor 48, 2 - lzquierda 394.934,00 28/11/2023 

Nunez de arce 14, 4e 488.270,58 15/11/2023 

De pedro heredia 32, 3unico 476.146,06 11/09/2023 

Whey of  chiñones 10, 2b 438.170,92 28/09/2023 

Lérida 9, 4d 482.935,42 25/07/2023 

Luis cabrera 48, 1d 367.861,76 15/11/2023 

Pelayo 20, 1-D 352.408,30 19/12/2023 

General Pardiñas 46, 3d 330.946,34 07/09/2023 

Alonso castrillo 2, 1der 364.963,46 08/11/2023 

Eugenio salazar 11, 1a 313.884,31 08/09/2023 

Jaen 28, 1st lef t 294.025,84 08/11/2023 

From segovia 17, 1e 305.441,61 08/11/2023 

Martin Machfo 40, 1 292.532,40 28/11/2023 

Dulcinea 67, 2i 283.929,37 30/10/2023 

Santa Maria de la Cabeza 72, 3-D 319.700,50 12/12/2023 

Don Quixote 17, 1 288.51T,84 11/10/2023 

Arriaza 14, 1-C 246.147,10 15/11/2023 

Titian 6, 1-Izq 271.980,83 19/12/2023 

Embajadores 130, 4-CI 274.093,41 12/12/2023 

Tomás Bretón 3, 3-G 270.030,00 27/12/2023 

Anguiano 2, 4dr 247.449,21 07/09/2023 

Jose maria roquero 9, 1der 247.363,28 02/11/2023 

Thought 4, 1-Izq 185.555,00 13/11/2023 

De las Mercedes 10, 2d 242.255,38 05/10/2023 

Lucientes 10, 1der 183.096,38 02/11/2023 

Lopez de Hoyos 249, 1-Right 211.600,70 19/12/2023 

Paseo de las Delicias 152, 2-B 181.477,81 28/11/2023 

Alonso cano 35, 5d 186.724,60 30/11/2023 

Alonso cano 35, 4d 186.727,36 30/11/2023 

Juan de Juanes 19, 2 263.313,20 28/09/2023 

Divine valleys 4, 02 203.942,77 30/10/2023 

Eugenio 5, 2d 197.797,00 12/12/2023 
Oviedo 5, 1-3 178.529,44 05/12/2023 
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Boat 38, 24 159.182,67 08/11/2023 

Molina 16, 2-B 167.255,46 05/12/2023 

Ruf ino Blanco 16, 4-6 143.088,21 24/11/2023 

Ruf ino Blanco 16, 4-5 143.088,21 24/11/2023 

Juan de Olías 9, 3-A 156.069,82 19/12/2023 

Architecture 30, 3°3 163.783,11 19/12/2023 
De bravo murillo 342, 1c 166.121,66 28/09/2023 

Total 12.069.612,18  

 

i) Reserves f rom years in which the special tax regime established in the SOCIMI Law has been applicable, 

which have been disposed of in the tax period, other than for distribution or to offset losses, identifying the 

year f rom which such reserves originate. 

 
None 

 
18. Subsequent events 

 
On January 3, 2024, the Parent Company's shareholders paid to the Parent Company the outstanding 

amount of  5,250,000.00 euros of  the monetary contribution to the Parent Company's equity agreed on 

December 28, 2023, thus cancelling the current account held by the Parent Company with its shareholders 

as of  December 31,  2023 (Notes 8, 10.3 and 14). 

 
On the same date, the Parent Company's shareholders have paid to the Parent Company the amounts 

pending disbursement of the drawdowns made on December 29, 2023 of  the loans held with the Parent 

Company for a total amount of  2,250,000.00 euros, thus canceling the current account held with its 

shareholders as of  December 31,  2023 for this concept (Notes 8, 11 and 14). 

 
Also, on February 23, 2024, the Parent Company's General Shareholders' Meeting agreed to make a 

monetary contribution to the Parent Company's equity in the amount of  1,724,673.35 euros.  

 
At the same date, in relation to the loan agreements entered into by the Parent Company with its 

shareholders, and described in Note 13 of  these notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Company 

has drawn down the following amounts: 

 
1. An amount of 735,450.00 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Tikehau Green 

Center Holding, S.á.r.l. on July 7, 2023 for a total amount of  70,000,000.00 euros.  

 
2. 2,587.01 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Ursae Polaris,  

S.L. on July 12, 2023 for a total amount of  73,500.00 euros.  

 
3. An amount of  1,108.72 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Elix Servicios 

Inmobiliarias, S.L. on July 12, 2023 for a total amount of  31,500.00 euros. 
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Also, on February 26, 2024, the Parent Company changed its corporate name f rom Green Centre Holdco 

Socimi, S.A. to its current name, and the investee changed its corporate name f rom Green Centre Propco, 

S.L.U. to its current name. 

 

Lastly, subsequent to year-end, but prior to the preparation of these consolidated f inancial statements, the 

Group sold 26 residential real estate assets, all of them in the Madrid area, for a total amount of 7,841,500.00 

euros, most of  them in relation to assets committed at December 31, 2023 through earnest money 

agreements and binding of fers (Note 6). 
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

(Expressed in euros) 

 
1.  Group performance during the year 

 
Almond Core Centre Socimi, S.A. (hereinaf ter the Parent Company) was incorporated on October 15, 2021 

with Tax Identif ication Number A67643718 by deed executed before the Notary Public o f  Madrid Mr. Jose 

Carlos Sánchez González with protocol number 2,229, registered in the Mercantile Registry of Madrid in 

Volume 42,608, Folio 20, Page M753651, Entry 1. Its registered office is located at Paseo de Recoletos, 37-

41, 3 f loor, 28004 Madrid. 

 
The Parent Company's corporate purpose is to engage in the following activities:  

 
Acquisition and development (including rehabilitation) of  urban real estate for lease.  

 
The holding of shares in the capital of listed real estate investment companies ("SOCIMIls") or in the 

capital of  other entities not resident in Spanish territory that have the same corporate purpose as 

those companies and which are subject to a regime similar to that established for such SOCIMIls in 

terms of  the mandatory legal or statutory prof it distribution policy.  

 
The holding of  shares in the capital of  other entities, whether resident or not in Spanish territory, 

whose main corporate purpose is the acquisition of urban real estate for lease, which are subject to 

the same regime established for SOCIMIls in terms of  the mandatory policy, legal or statutory, of 

prof it distribution, and which meet the investment requirements of  these companies. 

 
The holding of  shares or participations of  Collective Investment Institutions regulated in Law 

35/2003, of  November 4, 2003, on Collective Investment Institutions, or the regulation that replaces 

it in the future. 

 
The Parent Company may sell its assets under the terms and conditions set forth in Law 11/2009, of October 

26, 2009, on listed real estate investment trusts (SOCIMI) or the regulation that replaces it.  

 
In addition, the Parent Company may carry out other ancillary activities, understood as those whose income 

represents, as a whole, less than 20% of  the Company's income in each tax period, or those that may be 

considered ancillary in accordance with the Law applicable f rom time to time.  

 
The Parent Company's object, therefore, is the management of the business group formed by the companies 

in which the Parent Company has an interest: 
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1. Almond Core Centre Propco, S.L. (Sociedad Unipersonal) (formerly known as Green Centre Propco, 

S.L.U.) is a Spanish company with tax identif ication number B10899102, incorporated for an 

indef inite duration by deed executed before the Notary Public of Madrid Mr. Manuel Richi Alberti on 

July 6, 2022, with protocol number 2. 574, registered in the Mercantile Registry of Madrid in Volume 

43,871, Folio 40, Page M774151, Entry 1.574, registered in the Mercantile Registry of  Madrid in 

Volume 43,871, Folio 40, Page M774151, Entry 1. The Company has not registered its sole 

proprietorship independently in the Mercantile Registry, as this situation has been obtained since its 

incorporation. Its registered office is located at Paseo de Recoletos, 37-41, 3 planta, 28004 Madrid. 

 
On March 14, 2023, the Parent Company acquired 100% of  the shares of  Almond Core Centre 

Propco, S.L. (Sole-Shareholder Company), being that date the date of its entry into the Group's 

consolidation perimeter. 

 
The Group's businesses are mainly concentrated in the real estate sector, specifically in the acquisition and 

development of urban real estate for leasing, the development activity includes the habilitation of buildings 

under the terms established in Law 37/1992, of  December 28, 1992, on Value Added Tax. The business of 

the Parent Company and its subsidiaries extends only to Spanish territory.  

 
The Group currently owns 43 residential real estate assets, all of which are located in Madrid. The Company 

holds its assets with the objective of  leasing them from 2024 onwards.  

 
On December 29, 2023, the Group signed a loan agreement with mortgage guarantee on the asset located 

at 9, 4D, Lérida Street, Madrid, with Banca Pueyo, S.A. for the amount of 390,000.00 euros, which was made 

public on the same date. 

 
The Group has no employees and is managed directly by the members of the Group's Board of  Directors. 

 
The currency of the main economic environment in which the Group operates is the euro, which is therefore 

its functional currency. 

 
The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Tikehau Green Center Holding, S.á.r.l., domiciled in Luxembourg, 

which holds 99.50% of  the Parent Company's shares. 

 
On July 19, 2023, the State Tax Administration Agency was notified of the inclusion of the Parent Company 

and its Group in the special tax regime for Listed Real Estate Investment Companies (SOCIMI), regulated by 

Law 11/2009, of  October 26, 2009, amended by Law 16/2012, of December 27, 2012, and by Law 11/2021, 

of  July 9, 2011, which regulates Listed Public Limited Companies for Investment in the Real Estate Market 

(hereinaf ter SOCIMI Law). 
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As of  December 31, 2023, the Parent Company does not comply with the requirement to be listed on a 

regulated market, being within the first two years in which it is exempt from complying with the requirements 

of  the SOCIMI regime. 

 
Evolution in the period 

 
The consolidated result for the year 2023 ref lects a loss of 1,550,042.64 euros. A loss before interest and 

taxes of  1,450,995.40 euros has been generated as a result of  the operating losses for the year, as the 

Company has not started to operate its assets, which will be carried out in 2024. 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group owned real estate investments with an aggregate value 

of  12,765,944.70 euros corresponding entirely to the residential housing segment.  

 
The Group's activities and the acquisition of  the investment properties were f inanced by a combination of 

f inancing from the Parent Company's shareholders (shareholders' equity of 14,274,244.48 euros and debts 

to shareholders in the amount of  6,857,691.57 euros) and external debt of  388,050.00 euros. 

 
II. Main business risks 

 
a) Financial risk factors 

 
The Group's activities are exposed to various f inancial risks such as market risk, foreign exchange risk, 

interest rate risk and liquidity risk, in addition to risks associated with the real estate market. This note 

presents information on the Group's exposure to each of  these risks, the Group's objectives, policies and 

procedures for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's capital management.  

 
The Group's main f inancial instruments comprise loans, trade and other payables, trade and other 

receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The Group also uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 

its exposure to f inancial risks, although there is no obligation to hedge them. 

 
In particular, Group companies that directly or indirectly hold investments in the real estate market do not 

actively hedge against risks associated with real estate through derivative f inancial instruments.  

 
In preparing this note, we have taken i n t o  account current facts and circumstances, as well as what are 

considered normal market practices and acceptable levels of risk and exposure in the industry to which it 

belongs. 
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b) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group's interest rate risk arises from financial debt. Loans issued at variable rates expose the Group to 

cash f low interest rate risk, which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. Loans at f ixed interest 

rates expose the Group to interest rate risk on the fair value.  

 
The Group analyzes its exposure to interest rate risk dynamically. Various scenarios are simulated, taking 

into account ref inancing, renewal of  current positions, alternative f inancing and hedging. Based on these 

scenarios, the Group calculates the ef fect on the result of  a given change in the interest rate. For each 

simulation, the same interest rate variation is used for all currencies. The scenarios are only carried out for 

liabilities representing the most relevant positions subject to interest rates.  

 
c) Exchange rate risk 

 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk of  changes in the value of  the Group's assets caused by changes in 

exchange rates. The Group operates in Spain and has no operations in currencies other than the Euro, being 

the risk nil at December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

 
d) Liquidity reserve 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due. The 

Group's policy for managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as soon as possible, that there will always be sufficient 

liquidity to meet its obligations on the due date under normal and emergency conditions, so as not to incur 

unacceptable losses or risk damaging the Group's reputation.  

 
e) Real estate market risk 

 
The Group's real estate investment portfolio is subject to the particular risks of  the investments 

real estate, including, but not limited to: 

 
Changes in macroeconomic conditions 

Changes in local or regional economic conditions Quality of  

property managers and managers Competition among 

potential buyers Availability of  debt and other f inancing  

Risks associated with development, including leases and construction delays Potential hidden 

liabilities and changes in environmental or land planning laws, as well as other impediments 

caused by changes in government regulation. Uninsured losses and 

Risk of  terrorism. 
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f ) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is managed at Group level. The Group defines the policy for managing and analyzing the credit 

risk of  its customers. The Group's risk control establishes the credit quality that the customer must possess, 

taking into account its f inancial posit ion, past experience and other factors. 

 
The Group considers that it does not have significant concentrations of credit risk, this being understood as 

the impact that a default on accounts receivable may have on the income statement.  

 
The realization of  any or all of the above risks could result in the Group's financial risks becoming material, 

which, in the aggregate, could af fect the Group's f inancial performance.  

 
III. Environmental information 

 
No investments of an environmental nature have been made during 2023. Neither have expenses been 

incurred for environmental protection and improvement purposes, nor have provisions been made for 

environmental risks and expenses. 

 
The Group is not aware of  the existence of any contingencies related to the protection and improvement of 

the environment; therefore, it has not considered it necessary to record any provision for environmental risks 

and expenses. 

 
IV. Research and development activities 

 
No research and development work has been carried out by the Group during f iscal year 2023.  

 
V. Transactions with treasury stock 

 
There are no treasury stock at year-end 2023, nor have there been any transactions with treasury stock 

during the year. 

 
VI. Group management structure 

 
During the year 2023, the members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors have not received any 

remuneration, nor have they been granted any advances or credits, and no obligations have been assumed 

on their behalf  as a guarantee. Likewise, the Parent Company has no pension or life insurance obligations 

with respect to the members of  the Board of  Directors.  

 
The Group has no personnel. 

 
Lastly, during f iscal year 2023, the members of the Parent Company's Board of Directors have not carried 

out any transactions with the Parent Company or with Group companies outside the ordinary course of 

business under conditions other than market conditions. 
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Additionally, in compliance with the provisions of Organic Law 3/2007, the distribution by gender of the 

members of  the Parent Company's Board of  Directors as of  December 31, 2023 is shown below:  

 
 

 
Members of the Board of Directors Total 

  Men Women  

 2                    1   

 2                  1    

 

VII. Average supplier payment period 

 
The detail of payments for commercial transactions carried out during fiscal year 2023 and pending payment 

at the close of said fiscal year in relation to the maximum legal deadlines set forth in the Second Final 

Provision of Law 31/2014, of  December 3, which has been prepared by applying the Resolution of the 

Instituto de Contabilidad y Auditoría de Cuentas dated January 29, 2016; as well as the information required 

by Article 9 of  Law 18/2022, of  September 28, is as follows:  

  

 

 
Average payment period to suppliers 

Ratio of  paid transactions 

Ratio of  transactions pending payment 
 

 

 
Total payments made 

Total payments 

pending 

  31/12/2023  

  Days  

15,23 

15,23 

0,00 
 

Amount 
  (euros)  

2.454.792,73 
  0,00  

 

Number(units) 31/12/2023 

Invoices paid before compliance with the maximum 
legal deadline for payment to suppliers 

 
267 

Percentage over total invoices to suppliers 98,89% 

 

Volume (Euros) 31/12/2023 

Invoices paid before compliance with the maximum 
legal deadline for payment to suppliers 

 
2.452.309,18 

Percentage over total invoices to suppliers 99,90% 

 

The "Average supplier payment period" shall be understood as the period elapsing f rom the date of  the 

invoice until the material payment of the transaction, according to the aforementioned Resolution of the 

Spanish Accounting and Auditing Institute (Instituto de Contabilidad y Auditoría de cuentas). 

 
This "Average payment period to suppliers" is calculated as the quotient formed in the numerator by the sum 

of  the ratio of transactions paid by the total amount of payments made plus the ratio of transactions pending 

payment by the total amount of payments pending and, in the denominator, by the total amount of payments 

made and payments pending. 
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The ratio of  transactions paid is calculated as the quotient formed in the numerator by the sum of the products 

corresponding to the amounts paid, by the number of days of payment (calendar days elapsed f rom the beginning 

of  the computation of the term until the material payment of  the transaction) and, in the denominator, the 

total amount of  payments made. 

 
Also, the ratio of  transactions pending payment corresponding to the quotient formed in the numerator by 

the sum of  the products corresponding to the amounts pending payment by the number of  days pending 

payment (calendar days elapsed from the beginning of the computation of the period until the closing date 

of  the annual accounts) and, in the denominator, the total amount of  pending payments.  

 
VIII. Subsequent events 

 
On January 3, 2024, the Parent Company's shareholders have paid to the Parent Company the outstanding 

amount of  5,250,000.00 euros of  the monetary contribution to the Parent Company's equity agreed on 

December 28, 2023, thus cancelling the current account held by the Parent Company with its shareholders 

as of  December 31, 2023. 

 
On the same date, the Parent Company's shareholders have paid to the Parent Company the amounts 

pending disbursement of the drawdowns made on December 29, 2023 of  the loans held with the Parent 

Company for a total amount of  2,250,000.00 euros, thus cancell ing the current account held with its 

shareholders as of  December 31, 2023 for this concept. 

 
Also, on February 23, 2024, the Parent Company's General Shareholders' Meeting agreed to make a 

monetary contribution to the Parent Company's equity in the amount of  1,724,673.35 euros.  

 
At the same date, in relation to the loan agreements entered into by the Parent Company with its 

shareholders, and described in Note 13 of  these notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Company 

has drawn down the following amounts: 

 
1. An amount of 735,450.00 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Tikehau Green 

Center Holding, S.á.r.l. on July 7, 2023 for a total amount of  70,000,000.00 euros.  

 
2. 2,587.01 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Ursae Polaris,  

S.L. on July 12, 2023 for a total amount of  73,500.00 euros.  

 
3. An amount of  1,108.72 euros in relation to the loan signed with the shareholder Elix Servicios 

Inmobiliarias, S.L. on July 12, 2023 for a total amount of  31,500.00 euros.  

 
Also, on February 26, 2024, the Parent Company changed its corporate name f rom Green Centre Holdco 

Socimi, S.A. to its current name, and the investee changed its corporate name f rom Green Centre Propco, 

S.L.U. to its current name. 
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Lastly, subsequent to year-end, but prior to the preparation of these consolidated f inancial statements, the 

Group sold 26 residential real estate assets, all of them in the Madrid area, for a total amount of 7,841,500.00 

euros, mostly in relation to assets committed to December 31, 2023 through earnest money agreements and 

binding of fers (Note 6). 
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Preparation of  the consolidated f inancial statements for the year 2023 

 

The members of the Board of Directors of Almond Core Centre Socimi, S.A. and Subsidiaries have prepared 

these consolidated f inancial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, consisting of  the 

consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated annual report, as well as the consolidated 

management report for the year ended December  2023, at their meeting held on March 27, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Emilio Velasco Sanz 

Chairman and member of  the Board of  Directors 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Mr. José Lahidálga uerenu 

Member of  the Board of  Directors 
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5th December 2024 

 

ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A. as 100% owner of  

ALMOND CORE CENTER PROPCO S.L.U. 

Gustavo Fernández Balbuena 11, 1 planta 

28002, Madrid 

 

 

 

 

CLIENT: ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A as 100% owner of ALMOND CORE CENTER PROPCO S.L.U (owner of the 

assets) 

PROPERTY: RESIDENTIAL PORTFOLIO VALUATION IN MADRID 

 

Dear Mr. Lahidalga, 

 

In accordance with the terms and conditions contained in our proposal letter dated 15th November 2024, we are pleased to provide 

you with a valuation report in relation to the above-named property. The Valuation is required to be included in the Memorandum 

to be listed in Portfolio Stock Exchange. It is important that the Report is not used out of context or for the purposes for which it 

was not intended. We shall have no responsibility or liability to any party in the event that the Report is used outside of the 

purposes for which it was intended, or outside of the restrictions on its use set out. 

 

The assets have been valued in different dates: 30/06/2024, 31/07/2024, 30/09/2024 and 31/10/2024. As the assets have been 

valued at those dates under a previous proposal, the Valuation will include those values. 

. 

We draw your attention to our accompanying Report together with the General Assumptions and Conditions upon which our 

Valuation has been prepared, details of which are provided at the rear of our report. 

 

We trust that our report meets your requirements, but should you have any queries, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

For and on behalf of Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Iván López, MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer 
Director Valoraciones  
Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U 

  

 
Macarena Bustamante, MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer 
Director Valoraciones  
Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U 

  

  

Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. 
Paseo de la Castellana, 81 - 2ª Planta   

28046 Madrid  
 

Tel: + 34 (91) 319.13.14 

Fax: + 34 (91) 310.10.24 
 

http://www.savills.es/ 

 

 

Ivan Lopez (Dec 9, 2024 09:02 GMT+1) Macarena Bustamante (Dec 9, 2024 09:47 GMT+1)

https://savillsglobal.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAkMt2OJT4AB5CNBZU1C3dv9NC2ZbfT79l
https://savillsglobal.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAkMt2OJT4AB5CNBZU1C3dv9NC2ZbfT79l
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1.0  Instructions & Terms of Reference 

In accordance with our Terms of Engagement signed 15th November 2024, the assets have been valued in different dates: 

30/06/2024, 31/07/2024, 30/09/2024 and 31/10/2024. As the assets have been valued at those dates under a previous proposal, 

the Valuation will include those values. 

 

1.1.1. Instructions  

You have instructed us to provide our opinions of value on the following bases: 

 

▪ We are not aware of any conflict of interest, either with the Property, the Assets, or with the client, preventing us from 

providing you with an independent valuation of the Property in accordance with the Red Book.  

 

▪ We will be acting as External Valuers, as defined in the Red Book.  

 

▪ We have no material connection either with the client or with the properties. 

 

▪ We confirm that we will not benefit (other than from the receipt of the valuation fee) from this valuation instruction. 

 

▪ We confirm that Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. carry sufficient Professional Indemnity Insurance for 

possible claims. According with the Terms of Engagement Letter, in case of responsibility for our advice, compensation 

is limited to the amount of the fees provided for carrying out the work.  

 

▪ We have a Complaints Handling Procedure. 

 

▪ That we have the knowledge, skills and ability to act on your behalf in respect of this instruction. 

 

▪ And, that all information provided in respect of this instruction will be kept confidential and will not be disclosed to any 

un-authorised third party. 

 

▪ You have also instructed us to comment on specific issues concerning the properties. 

 

Our valuations are prepared on an individual basis and the portfolio valuations reported are the aggregate of the individual Market 

Values, as appropriate. Our opinions of value are as at 30/06/2024, 31/07/2024, 30/09/2024 and 31/10/2024.  

 

The valuations have been carried out by qualified MRICS Registered Valuers, with the knowledge, skills and ability required to perform 

this valuation report competently. 

 

We confirm that our valuations will all be reported in Euros. 

 

 Basis of Valuation 

This report has been prepared in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ (“RICS”) Valuation – Professional 

Standards January 2022 (the “RICS Red Book”) published in November 2021 and effective from January 2022, in particular in 

accordance with the requirements of VPS 3 entitled Valuation reports and VPGA 2 Valuations secured lending, as appropriate.  
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Valuation Standard VPS 4 1.2 of the Red Book defines Market Value (MV) as: 

 

“The estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing 

seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 

without compulsion.” 

 

Our report and valuations in accordance with these requirements are set out below. 

 

1.2.1. General Assumptions and Conditions 

All our valuations have been carried out on the basis of the General Assumptions and Conditions set out in the relevant section 

towards the rear of this report. 

 

The Report will have to be dealt and interpreted in its own. Eventual conclusions reached by means of its partial use, interpretation 

or application could be erratic and removed from the accurate conclusion which only shall be able to be obtained of the global 

reading of the Report. In consequence, any authorized distribution of this Report will have to be realized in its integrity, without 

extracts or summaries. 

 

1.2.2. Date of Valuation 

The assets have been valued in different dates: 30/06/2024, 31/07/2024, 30/09/2024 and 31/10/2024. As the assets have been 

valued at those dates under a previous proposal, the Valuation will include those values. 

 

1.2.3. Purpose of Valuation 

The Valuation is required to be included in the Memorandum to be listed in Portfolio Stock Exchange. It is important that the 

Report is not used out of context or for the purposes for which it was not intended. We shall have no responsibility or liability to 

any party in the event that the Report is used outside of the purposes for which it was intended, or outside of the restrictions on 

its use set out. 

 

In this Report, we do not express an opinion on the suitability of our work for the requested purpose, as it is the client who must 

verify this aspect. 

 

1.2.4. Conflicts of Interest 

We confirm that Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. does not have an involvement with the Property or any other parties 

and there are no other factors that could limit our ability to provide an impartial and independent valuation. Therefore, the 

valuer/valuers will report an objective and unbiased valuation. 

 

1.2.5. Valuer Details and Inspection 

The due diligence enquiries referred to below was undertaken by Alfonso Aparicio from Savills Valuations department. The 

valuations have also been reviewed by Macarena Bustamante Zorrilla MRICS. 
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We have carried out desktop and drive by in Valuations: 

-Desktop valuations: we have not carried out an exterior or interior visit to the property. 

-Drive by in valuations: we have carried out an interior and exterior visit to the property. 

 

However, we have not carry out a structural survey or test the services and nor will we inspect the woodwork and other parts of the 

structures which are covered, unexposed or inaccessible. 

All those above with MRICS or FRICS qualifications are also RICS Registered Valuers.  Furthermore, in accordance with VS 

6.1(r), we confirm that the aforementioned individuals have the knowledge, skill and understanding to undertake the valuation 

competently. 

 

1.2.6. Liability Cap 

Our liability to any one or more or all of the Addressees or any other party who otherwise becomes entitled to rely upon the Report 

under or in connection with this Valuation, shall be limited to the amount specified at the Terms of Engagement Letter signed 

between Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U. and ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A. as 100% owner of ALMOND 

CORE CENTER PROPCO S.L.U. 

 

1.2.7. RICS Compliance 

This report has been prepared in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors´(“RICS”) Valuation – Global Standards 

2022 (the “RICS” Red Book) incorporating the IVSC International Valuation Standards issued November 2021 and effective from 

January 2022.  In particular in accordance with the requirement of VPS 3 entitled Valuations reports  

 

Our report in accordance with those requirements is set out below. 

 

1.2.8. Verification 

This report contains many assumptions, some of a general and some of a specific nature.  Our valuations are based upon certain 

information supplied to us by others.  Some information we consider material may not have been provided to us.  All of these 

matters are referred to in the relevant sections of this report. 

 

1.2.9. Confidentiality and Responsibility 

Finally, in accordance with the recommendations of the RICS, we would state that this report is provided solely for the purpose 

stated above.  It is confidential to and for the use only of the parties to whom it is addressed only, who can rely on it, and no 

responsibility is accepted to any third party for the whole or any part of its contents.  Any such third parties rely upon this report at 

their own risk.  

 

Neither the whole nor any part of this Report or any reference to it may be included now, or at any time in the future, in any 

published document, circular or statement, nor published, referred to or used in any way without our written approval of the form 

and context in which it may appear, unless expressly permitted. 

 

It is our recommendation that prior to entering into an financial transaction based on this report the validity of all information as 

well estimates should be checked. 
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VALUATION ADVICE 
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 Valuation 

Having carefully considered the matter, we are of the opinion that the Market Value, as at our valuation date, of the respective 

freehold interests of the properties portfolio owned by ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A. as 100% owner of ALMOND CORE 

CENTER PROPCO S.L.U is distributed as follows 

: 

 

8 DESKTOP VALUATION AT 30/06/2024 

€ 2,858,000.00 

(TWO MILLION EIGHT HUNDRED FIFTY-EIGHT THOUSAND EUROS) 

 

 

 

23 DESKTOP VALUATION AT 30/09/2024 

€ 7,725,000.00 

(SEVEN MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND) 

 

 

 

1 DESKTOP VALUATION AT 31/10/2024 

€ 233,000 

(TWO HUNDRED THIRTY-THREE THOUSAND EUROS) 

 

 

 

65 DRIVE BY IN VALUATION AT 31/07/2024 

€ 26,365,000.00 

(TWENTY-SIX MILLION THREE HUNDRED SIXTY-FIVE THOUSAND.EUROS) 

 

 

 

28 DRIVE BY IN VALUATION AT 30/09/2024 

€ 12,933,000.00 

(TWELVE MILLION NINE HUNDRED THIRTY-THREE THOUSAND EUROS) 

 

 

 

16 DRIVE BY IN VALUATION AT 31/10/2024 

€ 6,933,000.00 

(SIX MILLION NINE HUNDRED THIRTY-THREE THOUSAND EUROS) 
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Each property has been valued individually and no allowance has been made, either positive or negative, should it form part of a 

larger disposal.  The total stated is the aggregate of the individual Market Values.  

 

We confirm that we have valued the subject property on a 100% ownership basis. No account has been taken of any premium or 

discount to reflect any corporate structure or tax implications which may arise from the ownership structure of any of the 

Properties. 

 

DESKTOP VALUATION AT 30/06/2024 

 

VALUATION 
DATE 

ADRESS 
MULTIFAMILY 

(sq m) 
MARKET 

VALUE (€) 
(€/sq m) 

30/06/2023 Centro 50 226,000 4,520.00 

30/06/2024 Tetuán 51 199,000 3,901.96 

30/06/2024 Centro 156 807,000 5,173.08 

30/06/2024 Tetuán 178 393,000 2,207.87 

30/06/2024 Retiro 84 345,000 4,107.14 

30/06/2024 Centro 65 240,000 3,692.31 

30/06/2024 Tetuán 73 284,000 3,890.41 

30/06/2024 Salamanca 53 364,000 6,867.92 

 

23 DESKTOP VALUATION AT 30/09/2024 

 

VALUATION 
DATE 

ADRESS 
MULTIFAMILY 

(sq m) 
MARKET 

VALUE (€) 
(€/sq m) 

30/09/2024 Arganzuela 101 403,000 3,990.10 

30/09/2024 Retiro 120 668,000 5,566.67 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 126 278,000 2,206.35 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 91 371,000 4,076.92 

30/09/2024 Chamberí 121 505,000 4,173.55 

30/09/2024 Chamartín 76 397,000 5,223.68 

30/09/2024 Centro 37 208,000 5,621.62 

30/09/2024 Retiro 98 469,000 4,785.71 

30/09/2024 Retiro 128 534,000 4,171.88 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 45 204,000 4,533.33 

30/09/2024 Arganzuela 53 263,000 4,962.26 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 76 278,000 3,657.89 

30/09/2024 Retiro 85 360,000 4,235.29 

30/09/2024 Centro 55 241,000 4,381.82 

30/09/2024 Retiro 106 647,000 6,103.77 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 37 174,000 4,702.70 

30/09/2024 Moncloa-Aravaca 53 185,000 3,490.57 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 67 307,000 4,582.09 
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VALUATION 
DATE 

ADRESS 
MULTIFAMILY 

(sq m) 
MARKET 

VALUE (€) 
(€/sq m) 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 66 263,000 3,984.85 

30/09/2024 Centro 70 271,000 3,871.43 

30/09/2024 Tetuán 46 143,000 3,108.70 

30/09/2024 Arganzuela 76 333,000 4,381.58 

30/09/2024 Arganzuela 54 223,000 4,129.63 

 

1 DESKTOP VALUATION AT 31/10/2024 

 

VALUATION 
DATE 

ADRESS 
MULTIFAMILY 

(sq m) 
MARKET 

VALUE (€) 
(€/sq m) 

31/10/2024 Tetuán 51 233,000 4,568.63 

 

65 DRIVE BY IN AT 31/07/2024

 

ADDRESS MULTIFAMILY (sq m) MARKET VALUE (€) (€/sqm) 

Tetuán 130 687,000 5,284.62 

Salamanca 96 541,000 5,635.42 

Chamartín 98.53 598,000 6,069.22 

Tetuán 70 332,000 4,742.86 

Tetuán 37.02 252,000 6,807.13 

Chamartín 79 423,000 5,354.43 

Ciudad Lineal 64.86 351,000 5,411.66 

Salamanca 60 452,000 7,533.33 

Centro 88 435,000 4,943.18 

Centro 33 250,000 7,575.76 

Chamartín 106.34 544,000 5,115.67 

Tetuán 95.24 458,000 4,808.90 

Retiro 127.74 678,000 5,307.66 

Salamanca 28.35 217,000 7,654.32 

Salamanca 34.35 253,000 7,365.36 

Tetuán 47.23 330,000 6,987.08 

Arganzuela 56 288,000 5,142.86 

Tetuán 74.40 440,000 5,913.98 

Tetuán 61.50 266,000 4,325.20 

Chamartín 91.85 472,000 5,138.81 

Arganzuela 74 425,000 5,743.24 

Retiro 64 317,000 4,953.13 

Tetuán 80.56 410,000 5,089.37 

Tetuán 93.84 479,000 5,104.43 

Tetuán 65 354,000 5,446.15 
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ADDRESS MULTIFAMILY (sq m) MARKET VALUE (€) (€/sqm) 

Arganzuela 62.34 336,000 5,389.80 

Arganzuela 48 255,000 5,312.50 

Tetuán 131 664,000 5,068.70 

Moncloa-Aravaca 55.03 370,000 6,723.61 

Salamanca 93 577,000 6,204.30 

Centro 82.88 557,000 6,720.56 

Tetuán 45 249,000 5,533.33 

Chamberí 38 292,000 7,684.21 

Chamberí 37 284,000 7,675.68 

Tetuán 68 306,000 4,500.00 

Centro 110 738,000 6,709.09 

Ciudad Lineal 60.26 311,000 5,160.97 

Chamartín 107.99 517,000 4,787.48 

Chamartín 75 523,000 6,973.33 

Arganzuela 54.31 319,000 5,873.69 

Arganzuela 106 518,000 4,886.79 

Moncloa-Aravaca 80 571,000 7,137.50 

Arganzuela 75.90 430,000 5,665.35 

Arganzuela 72.69 372,000 5,117.62 

Arganzuela 45 249,000 5,533.33 

Tetuán 41 228,000 5,560.98 

Centro 33.29 246,000 7,389.61 

Centro 100 753,000 7,530.00 

Arganzuela 46.56 251,000 5,390.89 

Tetuán 75 318,000 4,240.00 

Salamanca 43.79 403,000 9,203.01 

Chamberí 48.94 385,000 7,866.78 

Chamberí 109.88 810,000 7,371.68 

Retiro 45 240,000 5,333.33 

Ciudad Lineal 81.49 407,000 4,994.48 

Moncloa-Aravaca 70.69 440,000 6,224.36 

Salamanca 130.06 676,000 5,197.60 

Tetuán 82.88 337,000 4,066.12 

Tetuán 65.08 314,000 4,824.83 

Tetuán 47.36 235,000 4,961.99 

Tetuán 38.14 207,000 5,427.37 

Centro 45.82 321,000 7,005.67 

Centro 52.66 409,000 7,766.81 

Tetuán 72.96 314,000 4,303.73 

Salamanca 41.59 381,000 9,160.86 
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28 DRIVE BY IN AT 30/09/2024 

 

ADDRESS MULTIFAMILY (sq m) MARKET VALUE (€) (€/sqm) 

Salamanca 68 438,000 6,441.18 

Tetuán 49 291,000 5,938.78 

Arganzuela 57 342,000 6,000.00 

Arganzuela 61 351,000 5,754.10 

Tetuán 90 493,000 5,477.78 

Salamanca 179 790,000 4,413.41 

Arganzuela 78 406,000 5,205.13 

Centro 120 765,000 6,375.00 

Chamberí 105 723,000 6,885.71 

Chamberí 110 732,000 6,654.55 

Chamartín 123 648,000 5,268.29 

Tetuán 66 399,000 6,045.45 

Arganzuela 55 329,000 5,981.82 

Centro 93 495,000 5,322.58 

Tetuán 49 254,000 5,183.67 

Chamartín 73 467,000 6,397.26 

Centro 42 236,000 5,619.05 

Centro 26 256,000 9,846.15 

Retiro 99 490,000 4,949.49 

Centro 96 518,000 5,395.83 

Tetuán 50 316,000 6,320.00 

Retiro 46 304,000 6,608.70 

Centro 78 504,000 6,461.54 

Chamberí 150 958,000 6,386.67 

Arganzuela 77 376,000 4,883.12 

Chamartín 86 533,000 6,197.67 

Centro 53 276,000 5,207.55 

Centro 34 243,000 7,147.06 

 

16 DRIVE BY IN AT 31/10/2024 

 

ADDRESS MULTIFAMILY (sq m) MARKET VALUE (€) (€/sqm) 

Centro 40 269,000 6,725.00 

Chamartín 102 738,000 7,235.29 

Chamartín 90 475,000 5,277.78 

Chamartín 105 475,000 4,523.81 

Chamartín 91 641,000 7,043.96 

Chamartín 81 572,000 7,061.73 
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ADDRESS MULTIFAMILY (sq m) MARKET VALUE (€) (€/sqm) 

Chamberí 64 428,000 6,687.50 

Chamberí 64 424,000 6,625.00 

Retiro 48 338,000 7,041.67 

Salamanca 84 485,000 5,773.81 

Tetuán 72 334,000 4,638.89 

Tetuán 110 476,000 4,327.27 

Tetuán 62 314,000 5,064.52 

Tetuán 63 309,000 4,904.76 

Tetuán 96 355,000 3,697.92 

Tetuán 55 300,000 5,454.55 
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neral Assumptions, Conditions to Valuation & Special Assumptions  

GENERAL ASSUMPTIONS, CONDITIONS TO 

VALUATIONS & SPECIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
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1.3.1. General Assumptions 

Our valuations have been carried out on the basis of the following General Assumptions. If any of them are subsequently found 

not to be valid, we may wish to review our valuation, as there may be an impact on it. We have assumed: 

 

1. That the Freehold interest is not subject to any unusual or especially onerous restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings 

that we are unaware of. We have not made any enquiries at the local Register Office, and, therefore, should future 

enquiries reveal that there are any mortgages or charges, we have assumed that the Asset would be sold free of them. 

We have not examined the Title Deeds or Land Registry Certificate. 

 

2. That we have been supplied with all information likely to have an effect on the value of the Asset, and that the 

information supplied to us is both complete and correct. We do not accept responsibility for any errors or omissions in 

information and documentation provided to us. 

 

3. That the buildings have been constructed and is used in accordance with all statutory and bye-law requirements, and 

that there are no breaches of planning control. Likewise, that any future construction or use will be lawful (other than 

those points referred to above). 

 

4. That the properties are not adversely affected, nor is likely to become adversely affected, by any highway, town 

planning or other schemes or proposals, and that there are no matters adversely affecting value that might be revealed 

by a local search or normal solicitors’ enquiries, or by any statutory notice (other than those points referred to above). 

 

5. That the buildings are structurally sound, and that there is no structural, latent or other material defects, including rot 

and inherently dangerous or unsuitable materials or construction techniques, whether in parts of the building we have 

inspected or not, that would cause us to make allowance by way of capital repair (other than those points referred to 

above). Our inspection of the property and this report do not constitute a building survey. 

 

6. That the properties are connected, or capable of being connected without undue expense, to the public services of 

gas, electricity, water, telephones and sewerage. 

 

7. That in the construction or alteration of the buildings, no use was made of any deleterious or hazardous materials or 

techniques, such as high alumina cement, calcium chloride additives, woodwool slabs used as permanent shuttering 

and the like (other than those points referred to above). We have not carried out any investigations into these matters. 

 

8. That the ownership and possible exploitation of mineral substances and/or gases present in the subsoil have not been 

considered.  
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9. That the properties have not suffered any land contamination in the past, nor is it likely to become so contaminated in 

the foreseeable future. We have not carried out any soil tests or made any other investigations in this respect, and we 

cannot assess the likelihood of any such contamination.  

 

10. That there are no adverse site or soil conditions, that the ground does not contain any archaeological remains, nor 

that there is any other matter that would cause us to make any allowance for exceptional delay or site or construction 

costs in our valuation. 

 

11. That all fixed plant and machinery and the installation thereof complies with the relevant legislation. No allowance has 

been made for rights, obligations or liabilities arising as a result of defective premises. 

 

12. That the tenants are capable of meeting their obligations, and that there are no undisclosed arrears of rent or breaches 

of covenant. For valuation purposes it is assumed that the tenants comply their obligations, and that there will be no 

delays in the payment of rent or undisclosed contractual breaches. 

 

13. That the occupational leases are drawn on terms acceptable to your solicitors including provisions for repair and 

indexation. 

 

14. In the event that ALMOND CORE CENTRE SOCIMI S.A. as 100% owner of ALMOND CORE CENTER PROPCO 

S.L.U have not approved the different assets analyzed, and in accordance with the assumptions applied in the 

description of the different valuations, the different phases of Planning, Management and Development Discipline to 

build the properties according to the planned promotion, it has been taken into account that the approval of different 

development phases will be obtained until the licenses of work has been acquired, according to regular times of 

approval in normal market situations, and with an active approach for the client to obtain the corresponding approvals. 

 

 

1.3.2. General Conditions 

Our valuation has been carried out on the basis of the following general conditions: 

 

1. Our valuation(s) are exclusive of VAT (if applicable). 

 

2. We have made no allowance for any Capital Gains Tax or other taxation liability that might arise upon a sale of the 

property(ies). 

 

3. No allowance has been made for any expenses of realisation. 

 

4. Excluded from our valuation(s) is any additional value attributable to goodwill, or to fixtures and fittings which are only 

of value in situ to the present occupier. 
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5. In all cases, our valuation report includes facilities that are normally transferred with the property, such as boilers, 

heating and air conditioning, lighting and ventilation, sprinklers, etc., while the equipment that is normally removed 

before the sale has been excluded from our opinion of value. 

 

6. It has been assumed that all fixed plant and machinery and the installation thereof complies with the relevant EEC 

legislation. 

 

7. Output prices of different products are those with whom will go on sale at the market uses different delivery date. To 

estimate the value a basis comparable are taken to the valuation date. 

 

8. Each property has been valued individually and no allowance has been made, either positive or negative, should it 

form part of a larger disposal.  The total stated is the aggregate of the individual Open Market Values. 

 

1.3.3. Special Assumptions 

According to RICS, only special cases can be established if they are reasonably achievable, relevant and valid in relation to the 

special circumstances of the valuation. Appendix 4 of Red Book defines and gives examples of Special Assumptions. 

 

In this report we have not been carried out any special assumption. 

 



 

 
savills.es 

 

 
 
Iván López, MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer 
Director Valoraciones  
Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U 

  
 
Macarena Bustamante, MRICS 
RICS Registered Valuer 
Director Valoraciones  
Savills Valoraciones y Tasaciones, S.A.U 
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